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 AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 

 April 21, 2022 – 7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 
Regular Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the April 7, 2022 Regular Meeting 
 
ITEM #1 PUBLIC HEARING – MCDONALD’S WALL SIGN ADDITION, 15920 HARLEM 

AVENUE – SPECIAL USE FOR PUD SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Darren Freihage, on behalf of 
McDonald’s USA, LLC a Substantial Deviation from the Planned Unit Development with an 
Exception from the Zoning Ordinance to permit an additional wall sign (for a total of two) on 
the south elevation at 15920 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD (General Business & Commercial, 
Park Center PUD). 
 

ITEM #2 PUBLIC HEARING – PRIMAL CUT FRONT PATIO ENCLOSURE, 17344 OAK 
PARK AVENUE – VARIATIONS AND SITE PLAN/ ARCHITECTURAL 
APPROVAL 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Paul Spass on behalf of Primal Cut 
(tenant) Variations from Section XII (Legacy Code) of the Zoning Code to allow for a one-
story building addition which does not comply with the requirements of minimum building 
height, building materials, and architectural guidelines located at 17344 Oak Park Avenue in 
the Legacy DC (Downtown Core) Zoning District.  Site Plan and Architectural Approval is 
also being requested. 

 

ITEM #3 PUBLIC HEARING – DRIP DROP SMOKES, 17133 HARLEM AVENUE – SPECIAL 
USE FOR TOBACCO STORE 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Ameer Ihmud on behalf of Drip Drop 
Smokes (tenant) a Special Use for a Tobacco Store at 17133 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 
(General Business and Commercial) zoning district.   

 

ITEM #4 WORKSHOP – BUILDING CODE TO ZONING CODE TRANSFER (DRIVEWAYS, 
ACCESSORY STRUCTURES. AND MISCELLANEOUS) - TEXT AMENDMENT 
Consider recommending that the Village Board amend certain sections of the Zoning 
Ordinance to carry over portions of the current building code into the zoning ordinance where 
they are better served. Regulations include driveway location, driveway width, storage shed 
size, accessory structure locations, and other miscellaneous regulations. 

 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Good of the Order 
Adjourn Meeting 
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MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 
 

 
April 7, 2022 

 
 
 

The meeting of the Plan Commission, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the Council Chambers located in 
the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, IL on April 7, 2022.  
 
CALL TO ORDER – CHAIRMAN GRAY called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission for April 7, 
2022 at 7:06 p.m. 
 
Lori Kosmatka called the roll.  
 
Present and responding to roll call were the following:   

Chairman Gray 
James Gaskill 
Angela Gatto 
Frank Loscuito 
Eduardo Mani 
Andrae Marak 
Kurt Truxal 

 
Absent Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw    

 
Village Officials and Staff:    Dan Ritter, Planning Manager 
     Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner 
     Jarell Blakey, Management Analyst 
 
Petitioners: Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering (Loyola)  
 Kent Davidson, HOIK (Architect, Loyola) 
 Lucas Hoefflicker, AW Holdings (Ascend) 
 Taofik Lasisi, Interform Design (Architect, Ascend) 

Josh Evans, Ascend, Area Sales Manager 
James Andrus, Ascend 
Wai Leo, Ascend 

  
Members of the Public:   None 
 
COMMUNICATIONS –  Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager, introduced Jarell Blakey, the new Management Analyst 
present at the meeting. You can introduce each other after the meeting but you’ll probably be getting some 
communications from him going forward. So, we’re glad to have him, he’ll help with some of the administrative side 
of things. With packets, postings, minutes, so he will have some involvement in this Commission. He’ll also hopefully 
be helping us do policy and analysis and text amendments and all the good stuff that helps us move forward into a 
better direction so glad to have Jarell here, welcome. He Interned for DeKalb, IL prior to this and he is getting his 
MPA at NIU. So, glad to have him. Second, it was noted that CHAIRMAN GRAY will recuse himself from the first 
item as his company has done work for Loyola on the site. We just don’t want any perception of anything so he’ll be 
recusing himself and COMMISSIONER GATTO has volunteered to be Acting Chair for that item. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES - Minutes of the March 3, 2022 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were 
presented for approval. A motion was made by COMMISSIONER GASKILL. The motion was seconded by 
COMMISSIONER GATTO to approve the March 3, 2022 minutes. CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for a voice vote; all 
were in favor.  He declared the motion carried. 
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CHAIRMAN GRAY: At this time, I will request that COMMISSIONER GATTO come up and act as chair for this 
first item as I recuse myself and remove.   
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TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE APRIL 7, 2022 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #1  PUBLIC MEETING – LOYOLA MEDICINE AMBULATORY CARE CENTER, 17901 

LAGRANGE ROAD – FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION APPROVAL 
 
 

Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Shawn Vincent on behalf of Loyola Medicine 
(Property Owner), a Final Plat of Subdivision at 17901 LaGrange Road in the ORI (Office and 
Restricted Industrial) zoning district. The Final Plat approval includes final lot division, right-of-
way dedications, and easements related to the previously approved Loyola Medicine project. 
 
 

Present Plan Commissioners:    Acting Chairperson Angela Gatto 
James Gaskill 
Frank Loscuito 
Eduardo Mani 
Andrae Marak 
Kurt Truxal 

 
Absent Plan Commissioners:  Garrett Gray (recused) 
     Ken Shaw 

 
Village Officials and Staff:    Dan Ritter, Planning Manager 
     Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner 
     Jarell Blakey, Management Analyst 
 
Petitioners: Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering (Loyola)  
 Kent Davidson, HOK (Architect, Loyola)  
   
Members of the Public:   None 
 
ACTING CHAIRPERSON GATTO introduced Item #1.  
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager, gave an overview of the staff report This is the Loyola project that was before you 
guys in, I believe, October. OCTOBER 21, 2022 it came before plan commission and went to Village Board on 
NOVEMBER 16, 2021. We won’t re-hash the entire project, but here is just the overview of the building they are 
going to be putting up on that site. It is an ambulatory care facility that will help replace some of Loyola’s staffing 
needs in the area. We are excited to have them in Tinley Park. As part of that approval we hoped; at the time we were 
trying to have this move forward as quick as we can since they had some timing issues. So, the hope was to do a plat 
of dedication and then maybe come back with the plat of subdivision with easements for the utilities to really solidify 
what was going on. Once we looked at that, there was some issues with the plat of dedication just because it wasn’t 
previously formally subdivided and we had some issues with the right of way dedication. So, this plat that is before 
you guys today is cleaning that up. This will be the plat of subdivision. It encompasses not only consolidating the lots 
formally but actually subdividing them; and subdividing a third triangle lot that was part of the overall lot on the west 
side of the 96th Ave right of way. Recording all the utility, drainage, detention, easements on the property and then 
dedicating some right of way on 179th Street that was not previously clear. A lot of clean up. The plat in your packet 
has been updated and we have updated the motion as well to have the new date of that plat. The only change of that 
was minor wording cleanup for 179th Street right of way. They put on the previous recording number and the correct 
width on there so its just a minor cleanup. Lastly, there are just a couple conditions on it that are typically on most 
plats and that is just because there can be some tweaks that are found after this approval and before Village Board 
adopts it. If Engineering or Legal have something that can be updated. Lastly, just to clarify that this plat of subdivision 
needs to be recorded with the county before we move forward with the development. This is a fairly simple plat of 
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subdivision request, there is no zoning so it is just recommending approval or denial of the plat to the Village Board. 
The Petitioner is here as well as their engineer and their architect if you have any questions. 
 
Kent Davidson, HOK (Architect) introduced himself. I am the project manager for the design team for the project. 
The representative of the client was not able to be here today, so he asked me to come here today and make what we 
feel is a reasonable plea for a minor modification in the motion. We are concerned that requiring the final plat be 
signed and recorded with the county is unduly pessimistic about the relationship that we have created on the project. 
One thing that the pandemic has made clear to members of the design community is, we have very little control over 
the entities that we need to get signatures from. Now, we will, we fully intend to do all of that its just requiring that 
the permit be dependent upon that when frankly the time really matters; April 1 of next year there will be 150 people 
that will have nowhere to report to work. The village has been holding drawings since September. We have been 
working with staff diligently to try and work through all of the issues that have been there. We will continue to do so, 
our hope is that you can recommend to the Village Board that on their approval of the project, the permit be issued. 
Obviously contingent on all those other requirements coming forward. You are going to have plenty of opportunities 
for redress if for whatever reason things go south on the project. We still have to get additional permits on the project, 
this is just to start the foundation. Your holding a substantial bond on the project so that, again, if anything happens, 
you have the ability to come in and use that bond if something happens. Frankly, we are going to be out there 6 days 
per week for the next 52 weeks trying to get this project done. You can come lock the gate any day you want if there 
is a problem, but our concern is that causing this to wait is of limited value to the village, but it is of great value to 
Loyola to go forward. Our hope is that you perhaps modify the motion slightly to allow us to move forward. I will say 
that staff has been very diligent on this they have been open with us, working with us they don’t have the ability to 
make that modification. I sat on the zoning board in my hometown too. I found out that the reasons for boards is that 
strict interpretation of the law is not always in the best interest of the village; that’s the reason the boards really exist, 
is to bring some judgement to bear. Our hope is that you can see clear to support the project in a bit more tangible way 
to make this minor modification. Thank you.  
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: To clarify, that condition is just a clarification of a code requirement; even if 
removed that need for recording is still requirement. So, you would have to request variations to build over a property 
lines and reduced setbacks if that is not recorded. So, we would have to go through a public hearing process and 
publish for that, it is not something that can be voted on today. That condition was just put on there to clarify so 
everyone is on the same page. It is not something this plan commission can grant today. What we do need is all the 
signatures on it and have it submitted to us. Let’s say the county is just in a process of recording that, we can absolutely 
move that forward with the permit then at that point. We know that the county can move a bit slower with the recording 
process so if its submitted and everything is signed and we are just waiting on them to record it, that’s not a problem 
we can issue the building permits at that time. If we are missing signatures we essentially don’t have a recordable plat.  
 
Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering: Would indication of a willingness to sign the plat, but not actually having the 
signatures on the plat, would that be sufficient?  
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: Why wouldn’t they just sign the plat then? 
 
Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering: It takes time to get an appointment to get the plat signed. 
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager suggested that if the petitioner got indication from the county that they are ready to 
sign the plat, reviews complete, and permits issued, then the village can assist petitioner in getting signatures needed 
at that time expedited. 
 
Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering: I have been reaching out to Michael Stir. If the village can do the same, as he has 
been unresponsive for the last week or so. Our communication has been generally pretty good, but I reached out to 
get indication as to if the county will approve the plat. Petitioner claims that per the last review letter received implied 
that approval was imminent. No comments on the plat only comments on the hydrology.  
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: Per the last letter staff has seen, Cook County DOT didn’t have comments yet but 
waiting on traffic group to complete their review before issuing any approvals. At the end of the day we do need the 
signature of the county on the plat to move forward. The Village Board could waive it, but then you will have to go 
through the public hearing process to allow this to be built over the property line, which would not be something that 
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is recommended. Without the recorded plat, there could be numerous issues and never get recorded if construction 
starts. 
 
ACTING CHAIRPERSON GATTO asked for if any commissioners had any questions, hearing none, ACTING 
CHAIRPERSON GATTO requested a motion be made to recommend approval to Village Board.  
 
COMMISSIONER GASKILL made a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, 
Shawn Vincent on behalf of Loyola Medicine, Approval of the Loyola Medicine Final Plat of Subdivision dated March 
25, 2022, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Final approval of plat is subject to final review of details by the Village Engineer, Village Attorney, and 
Cook County review prior to recording to ensure they are accurate and match with the proposed final plans. 

2. The Final Plat shall be recorded with the county prior to issuance of any site or building permits. 
 

Motion seconded by COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO.  ACTING CHAIRPERSON GATTO requested a voice vote 
asking if any were opposed to the motion; hearing none, she declared the motion carried. 
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager noted this goes to the village board on April 19, 2022. It will just be that one meeting.  
 
Rick Sinnott, Erickson Engineering asked if it would be on the consent agenda?  
 
Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager stated that no, it has its own motion but only has to go to one meeting due to the 
unanimous recommendation of approval.  
 

  



 

6 
 

 
TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 
FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE APRIL 7, 2022 REGULAR MEETING 
 
ITEM #2:   PUBLIC HEARING – ASCEND CANNBIS DISPENSERY, 16200 HARLEM AVENUE – 

SPECIAL USE FOR PUD DEVIATION, SPECIAL USE FOR AN ADULT-USE CANNABIS 
DISPENSARY, AND SITE PLAN/ARCHITECTURAL APPROVAL 

 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant Ascend Illinois, LLC (property owner) a 
Special Use Permit for an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization and a Special Use for a 
Substantial Deviation of the Park Place Planned Unit Development with Exceptions to the Village 
Zoning Ordinance at 16200 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park 
Place PUD) zoning district.  The granting of these requests will allow for a retail dispensary use for 
adult-use cannabis.  Site Plan and Architectural Approval is also being requested. 
 
 

Present Plan Commissioners:    Chairman Garrett Gray 
     Angela Gatto 

James Gaskill 
Frank Loscuito 
Eduardo Mani 
Andrae Marak 
Kurt Truxal 

 
Absent Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw 

 
Village Officials and Staff:    Dan Ritter, Planning Manager 
     Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner 
     Jarell Blakey, Management Analyst 
 
Petitioners: Lucas Hoefflicker, AW Holdings, Ascend 
 Taofik Lasisi, Interform Design, Architect, Ascend 

Josh Evans, Ascend, Area Sales Manager 
James Andrus, Ascend 
Wai Leo, Ascend 

    
Members of the Public:   None 
 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked for a motion to open the public hearing.  Motion made by COMMISSIONER 
LOSCUITO seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL. CHAIRPERSON GRAY requested a voice vote asking if 
any were opposed to the motion; hearing none, he declared the motion carried.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: I have received certification that the public hearing notice was published in a local 
newspaper. Anyone wishing to speak on this matter will be sworn in to speak but after staff’s presentation. So, at this 
time staff proceed with your presentation.  

Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner: Gave an overview of the staff report which is in the meeting packet and will be 
made part of the minutes. Provided background on the existing property.  It is  a 1.1-acre outlot,  a freestanding single 
tenant building,  previously home to Bandana’s BBQ and before that it was Applebee’s. Ascend purchased the property 
last December.  
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Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner gave background on the petitioners. The parent company is Ascend Wellness LLC 
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ascend Wellness Holdings, Inc. The company is well established with multiple 
locations in multiple states. Company’s focus is emerging markets. She explained zoning for proposed project. 
Location is an outlot that is part of the park place PUD that was established in 1989 with underlying B-3.  To the west, 
R-6 zoning is approximately 710 feet away. To the East, Tinley Park Plaza Retail Center with a medical office. To the 
South, is unincorporated land that Tinley Park, Park District uses for recreational purposes.  Staff noted the requests 
that petitioner is asking for, which are site plan/architectural approval and two special use approvals. The first is a 
substantial deviation of the Park Place PUD. The site is currently limited to restaurant use only. Approval of the 
substantial deviation would remove the use restriction for the subject outlot property and allow for any use permitted 
through B-3 zoning. The second is a special use permit for an adult use cannabis dispensing organization in the B-3 
zoning district. She explained the proposed use outlining that the business will be in operation 7 days per week M-Sat 
9a-9p, Sun 12p-6p. The organization will employ 54 people and will be equipped with high level security as required 
by the state. Petitioner will provide an array of ventilation and odor mitigation measures due to the nature of the 
business. There will be no changes to the building footprint and minimal changes to the site, which include new 
landscaping to match existing. The site will continue to be an outlot with 2 vehicle access points & sidewalk. Noted 
changes are to the outer façade includes Nichiha fiber cement, staining existing brick, additional storefront glazing, 
and a wrapped canopy. She noted exceptions include the percentage of alternate building material. Only open item is 
that final color will be subject to staff approval as staff wants to be sure that the stained brick gives the effect that was 
explained by petitioner. She explained signage for the building. The organization will have 75 parking spaces with no 
proposed changes; complies with minimum parking requirements. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY proceeded to ask if any representative from the petitioner’s team would like to approach the 
lectern to speak.  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: First of all, I would like to thank the board for taking the time to meet with 
us. I would like to answer any questions or concerns that the board may have for us. I also have with us our architectural 
design team as well as Josh who leads retail for us in the Chicagoland area to answer any additional questions that the 
board may have.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Okay, excellent. Lucas go ahead. Do you have anything else to add or were you just 
introducing the team?  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Yes, I was just introducing.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: With that, I won’t swear you in for just introducing yourself, with that I will open it up for 
comments from the board.  

COMMISSIONER GATTO: I just have a question. 600 people come through a facility like this in a day?  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: That is more of a question they can answer.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY swears in petitioner.   

COMMISSIONER GATTO: Ok, do approximately 600 people come to a facility like this on a daily basis? 

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Yes.  

COMMISSIONER GATTO: So, I have been to other dispensaries and they have security manning everyone that 
comes in. Do you guys have something set up for that also? Is there queuing lines on the inside? Do people line up on 
the outside of the building? How do you guys navigate all of that?  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER:  So, we try to avoid outside lines. They do tend to happen sometimes just 
when you open a store but we try to get everyone inside, queue inside. That is the point of the vestibule. The point of 
our layout of the dispensary was so that we could have everyone queue inside. The other thing we pushed for is 
encouraging customers and educating customers about the ability to pre-order. That’s a way that we can cut down on 
time. If you can pre-order you can usually get in and out, and Josh can probably quote it better than I can, but I think 
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in under 5 or 10 minutes you can get customers in and out when they pre-order. In other instances, as well, other 
townships have required parking attendants or outside security. In those instances, they help shuttle traffic and make 
sure that everybody does queue on the side of the building; if a line does tend to form you try to shuttle everyone into 
the building as quickly as possible.  

COMMISSIONER GATTO: Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Lucas, can I just ask a follow-up question to that? If you pre-order and that’s 5 to 10 minutes 
what happens when somebody doesn’t pre-order? What’s the time from someone walking in to walking out, 
approximately, average?  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: I would say it depends on how busy the dispensary is at that moment, 
typically I would say no more than ten minutes.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Ok, I was just trying to figure out the turnover time cause as COMMISSIONER GATTO 
said, if you’re getting 600 customers per day you’re open 12hrs, that’s about 50 customers every hour so you have to 
get them in and out.  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Yeah and a lot of our stores; I know our stores in southern Illinois and a lot 
of our Chicagoland stores do upwards of 1000 to 1500 transactions per day. So, we are very well versed and used to 
it. 600 customers per day should not be a problem at all for us to handle as well as the parking lot. A part of our 
strategy in picking out specific properties is parking. Parking is one of our biggest issues. So, anything over 50 parking 
stalls can satisfy our needs is what we’ve realized. We also look for areas where if there ends up being a down the 
road issue where can go to existing tenants in the neighboring spots and lease 15-20 stalls on a need be basis. That’s 
a last case scenario, but we do always do look into those situations.  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: There is cross parking here but let’s say they were permanently using them, they 
could always request to lease them. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: So over 50 is sufficient even when they are seeing over 1000 customers per day? 

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: About 75 if you’re going over 1000. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Any more questions COMMISSIONER GATTO?  

COMMISSIONER GATTO: No, the building looks great. I think it’s great that it is a free-standing building that is 
not connected to anything. I think it’s a perfect location for it and that area really needs to be revamped right now. I 
think the plan looks great.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: COMMISSIONER MANI?  

COMMISSIONER MANI: I concur with COMMISSIONER GATTO. I like the building, and thanks for choosing 
Tinley Park.  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Thanks for having us. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: COMMISSIONER GASKILL?  

COMMISSIONER GASKILL: I have nothing to say.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO?  

COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO: I agree with my other commissioners. Turning this over from a restaurant only use 
since all these restaurants were failing anyway. It will be nice to have a permanent tenant occupying the space. So you 
don’t have this vacant building just sitting there very visible on Harlem Ave. I think the building looks great and 
welcome to Tinley Park. 
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Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: I think they would have done better driving traffic to the location if Pete’s Fresh 
Market was open. However, this is a really good complementary use and Pete’s is aware of it and had no comments. 
Also, from a design perspective Pete’s building is going to be modern and this use will be complementary to that. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: COMMISSIONER TRUXAL? 

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: Yes, I have a couple of questions. The loading area, its currently a trash enclosure so I 
am assuming it is just a chain link fence with privacy panels on it? Is that going to be changed? What’s the materials 
on that? It should be a secure area. 

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: It actually works well as is now. It is actually a brick enclosure that matches the 
brick around it. 

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: So, its not open for dump trucks or garbage trucks to get in there?  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: No, it’s just a large trash enclosure. There are gates attached that can be moved back 
for deliveries. It’s a pretty big enclosure.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: So, your delivery trucks can back in completely and you can close the gates while you 
all are unloading and loading? 

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Yes. Also, all licensed operators in the state use dodge sprinter vans. There 
is nothing over the size of a sprinter van that any of the deliveries occur in. There will be plenty of room in that 
location.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: I am just thinking about security because you have some pretty valuable product there. 
I’m concerned that once people know what’s going on you guys are prepared. 

LUCAS HOEFFLICKER, PETITIONER: Yes, there are security measures and Josh can speak to that more. A lot of 
times the trucks tend to back straight in and open the doors leaving only one way to get product in and out of the 
dispensary. There is also a cage in the front of the van. 

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: I am just curious if there is something in place where you notify village police of when 
deliveries are coming?  

COMMISSIONER GRAY: Josh approach the lectern and sign the book and I will swear you in.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: I am just curious about the process. I know this is a public meeting, I don’t want to 
give everything away, but I do want to ensure everything is in order. 

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: Our police department did review this. The location makes it a preferred location 
because it is easily accessible for the police to react to anything that may happen.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY swears in Josh Evans, Ascend, Area Retail Manager. 

JOSH EVANS, ASCEND, AREA SALES MANAGER: One of the IDFPR regulations for every dispensary is that 
you have to have armed guards. As a part of the process of receiving product, there is an armed guard stationed at the 
door with the team as they are receiving the product. If there were someone attempting to infiltrate, we would have 
direct security there to deter that from happening. Additionally, the State Police do regular inspections of our space to 
ensure that safety is a top priority. State police also have 24hr access to our security cameras as well. 

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: The floorplan shows the employee locker room, but there is no entry door on it. I am 
just curious how that works.  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: These are not construction plans. Our building official will ensure this is addressed.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: Alright last question. The windows on the existing building, are those being covered 
with panels? Are you tearing the brick out? I assume you aren’t going to reconstruct the entire building for that.  
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COMMISSIONER GRAY swears in Taofik Lasisi, Interform, Architect for the petitioner. 

TAOFIK LASISI, INTERFORM, ARCHITECT: As far as the exterior construction is concerned, the North and East 
façade, we are going to remove 10ftx40ft length of the existing structure of pocket windows, doors, etc., and put in 
the storefront system shown in the picture. The other two sides we are just going to put in a privacy film that is required 
by the state with limited visibility inside.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: Ok. The replacement on the North and East side. You are removing sections of the 
wall and replacing it with what?  

TAOFIK LASISI, INTERFORM, ARCHITECT: It will be storefront system with film glass and aluminum.  

COMMISSIONER TRUXAL: Ok, those are my only questions. It looks great, glad to see you all coming in, and best 
of luck to you guys.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: COMMISSIONER MARAK, any comments?  

COMMISSIONER MARAK: No.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: I do have a few things. I agree with the statement that it is good that the location is 
freestanding. I think it’s a good location just in terms of any issues with odors. I agree that the building design looks 
very clean, professional, and overall well done. The open item in question on the Permatint. I think to Staff’s point, if 
you could provide a sample that would be great. How do you ensure that you get the desired color?  

TAOFIK LASISI, INTERFORM, ARCHITECT: We are working with Permatint, who is the stain manufacturer. We 
went for a clearcoat stain that won’t cover the natural effect of the brick. We did have the manufacturer send us a 
sample of red brick stained with the color we specified, it is an earth tone gray. It is more modern, takes away from 
the reddish color, and compliments design elements. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Has staff seen the samples?  

Lori Kosmatka, Associate Planner: No.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: If you guys could provide staff with examples that would be great. It doesn’t sound like that 
will be an issue since you have previously received an example.  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: We can work with the petitioner. Sometimes it is hard to get something if it is being 
done custom. If we can see it being done beforehand we can work with them.  

TAOFIK LASISI, INTERFORM, ARCHITECT: Part of the design process is making sure that when we do get a 
sample, we get a mockup to ensure the color is accurate.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: Perfect. So, they make any changes to get the desired color. Again, I do like the colors, it 
looks modern and I think the commission has mentioned their approval of that as well. I do have one more question. 
In your business proposal there is a section where your security is instructed to ask loiterers to leave the premises. 
However, effectively where does the property line begin and end since it is in a shared lot?  

LUCAS HOEFFLICKE, PETITIONER: Our property ends at our property line. However, if someone decided to loiter 
in Pete’s Fresh Market parking lot, we would notify the Village police department of an issue, but our authority does 
end at the property line. 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY: I like the fact the that you all have stated that you will call the police if the situation escalated 
and that you would also provide video footage.  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager: I believe that our police department will have some initial contact with them to give 
them resources in the event of a recurring issue. Our police department is aware and has also done research with other 
communities.  
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CHAIRPERSON GRAY: I think the very detailed business plan works. From the security to the detailing and whatnot. 
I think it looks great and I have no further comments.  

CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked if members of the public wanted to speak, seeing none, he proceeded to request a 
motion to close the public hearing. Motion made by COMMISSIONER GATTO. Seconded by COMMISSIONER 
GASKILL. The chair asked for a voice vote, hearing no opposition, the motion was declared as carried.  

Lori Kosmatka Associate Planner, proceeded to present the standards for special use, adult use cannabis, site plan, 
and site design.  

Motion 1 - Special Use Permit for substantial Deviation 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked for a motion to grant the special use.  

COMMISSIONER GATTO made the a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit for 
a Substantial Deviation from the Park Place Planned Unit Development with Exceptions to the Village Zoning 
Ordinance to the Petitioner Ascend Illinois, LLC, to permit an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 16200 
Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Place PUD) zoning district, where the 
requirement for a restaurant use will be removed, in accordance with the plans submitted and adopt Findings of Fact 
as proposed in the April 7, 2022 Staff Report.  

Motion seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL. Vote taken by Roll Call; all in favor. CHAIRMAN GRAY 
declared the motion as carried. 

Motion 2 - Special Use Permit for Cannabis Dispensary 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked for a motion granting the special use for the adult cannabis dispensary. 
COMMISSIONER TRUXAL made a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the 
Petitioner Ascend Illinois, LLC to permit an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 16200 Harlem Avenue 
in the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Place PUD) zoning district, in accordance with the plans 
submitted and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed in the April 7, 2022 Staff Report, subject to the following condition: 

1. The Petitioner must obtain a state license within one year of approval and stay within good standing with 
the State of Illinois’ cannabis licensing and taxing regulations. The Special Use shall be automatically 
repealed if the Petitioner ever loses state licensing approvals. 

Motion seconded by COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO. Vote taken by Roll Call; all in favor. CHAIRMAN GRAY 
declared the motion as carried. 

Motion 3 - Site Plan/Architecture Approval 

CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked for the final motion to grant site and architectural approval. COMMISSIONER 
LOSCUITO made a motion to grant the Petitioner Ascend Illinois, LLC, Site Plan and Architectural Approval for 
redevelopment of an outlot to have an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 16200 Harlem Avenue in the 
B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Place PUD) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted 
and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed in the April 7, 2022 Staff Report, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the requested PUD by the Village Board. 
2. Final color and materials shall be subject to review and approval by Village staff prior to issuance of a 

building permit. 

Motion seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO. Vote taken by Roll Call; all in favor. CHAIRMAN GRAY declared 
the motion as carried.  

Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager, noted this item is anticipated to go to Village Board on April 19, 2022. 
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COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC – CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked if there were comments from the public. 
Hearing none, he asked to for the Good of the Order. 

GOOD OF THE ORDER - Daniel Ritter, Planning Manager, informed the commission that COMMISSIONER 
LOSCUITO will be resigning from his place on the board. Staff also prefaced the board with the knowledge that the 
next commission meeting will be April 21, 2022. Also, that all meetings for the foreseeable future will be full 
schedules. Staff continued updates on active projects: Floor & Décor, Starbucks on LaGrange Rd, Starbucks on 
Harlem, Holiday Inn, Durbin’s Express, Popus Gourmet Popcorn, We’re Nuts About Mutts. 

COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO inquired about the potential restaurant space in The Boulevard. Staff advised that 
they are working with the owner and potential tenants and have a few interested. 

CLOSE MEETING - CHAIRPERSON GRAY asked for a motion to adjourn. Motion made by COMMISSIONER 
GASKILL, seconded by COMMISSIONER LOSCUITO. The chair asked for a voice vote, hearing no opposition, he 
declared the motion carried. Meeting adjourned at 8:19 P.M. 

 

 

 

 



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
April 21, 2022 – Public Hearing 
 
McDonald’s Wall Sign Addition 
15920 Harlem Avenue 

 
  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Petitioner, Darren Freihage, on behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC, is requesting a Special 
Use for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development with 
an Exception from the Zoning Ordinance to permit an additional wall sign on the existing 
McDonalds at 15920 Harlem Avenue. 
 
The site’s redevelopment was originally reviewed and approved by Plan Commission in 
2018 (January 18, 2018 Staff Report attached). The project was delayed by timing difficulties 
and then the COVID pandemic, but was completed in 2021. The project included substantial 
site, landscaping, and façade upgrades in addition to a full interior remodel. As part of the 
redevelopment proposal, a number of signs were reviewed and approved. The site was 
generally permitted six walls signs at a total of approximately 108.71 sq. ft. As part of the 
development, only five wall signs were proposed and installed. The additional wall signs 
approved were deemed reasonable as part of the redevelopment request because while 
the total number of signs was increased, the total signage size did not exceed the maximum 
total size. The smaller signs fit in with the overall site and standalone building design better 
than a larger, single wall sign on each façade. The additional signage also helped to 
advertise the PlayPlace as an amenity as well. 
 
Following the completion of the project, which made for a more modern exterior, it has 
become apparent to the Petitioner that some additional wall signage is needed. Some of 
the wall signage existing is for the advertisement of the PlayPlace but does not specifically 
indicate it is a McDonald’s. The Petitioner is proposing two additional “M” logo wall signs, 
one of which is already permitted under the past PUD approval. This request includes 
approval for an additional “M” logo wall sign on the west and south façades. The total 
number of wall signs will be seven  with a total size of around 123 sq. ft. The total size will 
remain below the maximum allowable total size (approximately 175 sq. ft.)  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 
Darren Freihage, on 
behalf of McDonald’s 
USA, LLC 
 
Property Location 
15920 Harlem Avenue 
 
PIN 
27-24-201-012-0000 
 
Zoning 
B-3 PD (General Business 
& Commercial, Park 
Center PUD)  
 
Approvals Sought 
Special Use for 
Substantial Deviation 
from PUD 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Daniel Ritter, AICP 
Planning Manager 
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SUBSTANTIAL DEVIATION / ZONING EXCEPTION 
 
The Zoning Ordinance permits for one wall sign per elevation at a maximum 
size of 1 sq. ft. per lineal foot of tenant building frontage. The previous PUD 
Deviation that was approved for the site’s redevelopment allowed for six wall 
signs as outlined below. Only five wall signs were installed, so a new request 
will only require the allowance for one additional wall sign. The total size of 
the proposed “M” logo is slightly larger than the currently approved signs at 
being 14 sq. ft. as opposed to 10.75 sq. ft. The total sq. footage of all wall signs 
will remain under the maximum size allowed. 
 
While the Petitioner is requesting more wall signage, the smaller signs blend 
in better with the new modern façade as opposed to fewer but larger signs. 
The signs allow the McDonald’s “M” logo to be visible from all sides that 
customers may be approaching the building. They also can still advertise the 
PlayPlace amenity as well since it is less visible with the new façade design. 
 
 

 Allowed by Code Approved - 2018 Proposed 
Number of Wall Signs 4 6 7 
Maximum Sign Face Area 
for Wall Signs (square feet 
= SF) 

N/S: About 90 SF 
E/W: About 85 SF 

 
Total= 175 SF 

N: 32.5 SF 
S: 32.5 SF 
E: 43.7 SF 

Total= 108.7 

N: 32.5 SF 
S: 35.5 SF 
E: 43.7 SF 
W: 14 SF 

Total = 125 
 
Since the Petitioner’s proposed wall signs will not meet the Sign Code in the Zoning Ordinance or previously approved 
sign deviation and is located within a PUD, it requires a Special Use for a Substantial Deviation with an Exception to 
be permitted. Deviations from Village’s Zoning Ordinance are considered Exceptions rather than Variations when 
located within a PUD and do not require the standard Findings of Fact, as required with a Variation. Alternatively, 
Exceptions are looked at in terms of their conformance to their overall PUD’s design and goals. 
 
Additional information on the existing site, signage allowances (before and after the remodel), and the overall 
redevelopment is located in the attached staff report from January 18, 2018. 
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STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 
draft Findings of Fact are provided below for the Commission’s review and approval.   

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
• The additional wall sign is visible only to commercial-related traffic and not to residential neighborhoods. 

The sign’s orientation helps better identify the restaurant business to people traveling from different 
locations within the larger shopping center. 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 
• The additional sign is smaller in size and visibility to surrounding properties. The sign is most proximate to 

the Park Center Shopping Center and total wall sign size remains below the maximum permitted. 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
• The property within this area is already developed for commercial purposes. 

 
d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 
• Additional wall signage does not require any additional utilities, drainage, or roadway access. 
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
• The wall sign will not impact or change the function of access to the site.   
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 
and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 
compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 
properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 
comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
• The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Planned Unit Development and the 

Village’s ordinances and codes. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 
community as a whole. 
• The additional wall sign will help identify the restaurant business to persons traveling to the site form 

multiple directions. The signage will help identify the specific business, which has a more modern exterior.  
The increased business identification will assist the business in continuing to contribute to the economic 
development of the community as a whole. 
 
 
 

MOTION TO CONSIDER 
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If the Plan Commission wishes to act on the Petitioner’s request, the appropriate wording of the motion is listed below. 
The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative recommendation 
correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific recommendation in support 
or against the plan. The Commission may choose to modify, add, or delete from the recommended motions and any 
recommended conditions. 
 

 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Darren Freihage, 
on behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC, a Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park 
Center PUD with an Exception from the Zoning Ordinance to permit a total of seven wall signs 
on the building façades at 15920 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD zoning district, in accordance with 
the plans submitted and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the April 21, 2022 
Staff Report.” 

 
 



January 18, 2018 
Updates from the January 4, 2018 staff report are noted in red. 
 
McDonald’s 
15920 Harlem Avenue 

 

 
 

 
The Petitioner, James E. Olguin of Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd. On 

behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC, seeks Site Plan Approval for drive-thru and parking lot 

modifications and related site improvements for the McDonald’s at 15920 Harlem 

Avenue. The Petitioner also requests approval for a Special Use Permit for a Substantial 

Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for 

modifications to the approved Site Plan and an increase in the size and number of signs 

allowed for McDonald’s at 15920 Harlem Avenue within the B-3 PD (General Business and 

Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. The proposed 

Substantial Deviation would allow a total of six (6) wall signs. Three (3) of the six (6) wall 

signs would be 36” tall, which exceeds the maximum allowable sign height by six inches 

(6”). The menu boards are eight inches (8”) taller than the allowable height of seven feet 

(7’). The Petitioner also requests an Exception for the required number of parking spaces 

at the site.

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

James E. Olguin of 

Goldstine, Skrodzki, 

Russian, Nemec, and 

Hoff, Ltd. on behalf of 

McDonald’s USA, LLC 

 

Property Location 

15920 Harlem Avenue 

 

PIN 

27-24-201-012-0000 

 

Zoning 

B-3 PD 

 

Approvals Sought 

Site Plan Approval, 

Special Use Permit for a 

Substantial Deviation 

from the Park Center 

Plaza Planned Unit 

Development, and  

Exceptions 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Paula J. Wallrich, AICP 

Interim Community 

Development Director 

 

Stephanie Malmborg, AICP 

Planner I 
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Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 

 

1. The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 

Development to modify the Site Plan to allow a second drive-thru lane. Discussed at Workshop; no 

objection noted. 

 

2. The Plan Commission may consider an Exception for the number of required parking spaces. Discussed at 

Workshop; no objection noted due to shared parking opportunities. 

 

 

3. The Petitioner should consider modifying the landscape bed to the east of the north row of parking to 

include the area adjacent to the angled parking space. Petitioner has agreed.  

 

4. Loose rock mulch is not an acceptable material for the outer landscape bed near the drive-thru. The 

Petitioner should revise plans to reflect landscaping and plant material. If landscaping is not practical in this 

location consider using granite cobbles or Belgium block set in mortar. Petitioner has agreed to use 

hardscape material. 

 

 

5. The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 

Development to allow one (1) additional wall sign. Plan Commission did not object to one additional wall 

sign and further recommended an additional “Playspace”  on the south façade. 

 

 

6. The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 

Development to allow the “M” Arch signs to be thirty-six inches (36”) tall. Commission did not express 

objection. 

 
 

7. The Petitioner should revise the height of the menu boards to meet the maximum height of seven feet (7’). 

Otherwise, the Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned 

Unit Development to allow the menu boards to be 7.66’ tall. The menu signs are approximately 8” taller 

than maximum height allowed, however are significantly lower than what is allowed (45 SF allowed 

and 27 SF is proposed.) 

 

 

 

 
The McDonald’s site is located in the 

southwest corner of 159th Street and 

Harlem Avenue and is just east of Park 

Center Drive. The site currently includes a 

6,565 square foot building with 140 seats 

and an indoor play place. The site has 59 

parking spaces and a single-lane drive-thru 

wraps around the east, north, and west 

side of the building. The main entrance to 

the restaurant is on the south side of the 



McDonald’s – 15920 Harlem Avenue 

 

Page 3 of 16 

building. 

 

This McDonald’s originally opened in December 1988. The site is part of the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit 

Development, which was approved in 1987 within Ordinance 87-O-062. The Village approved a Substantial Deviation 

from the Park Center Plaza PUD in 1995 as Ordinance 95-O-089, which allowed an addition for a two-story indoor 

play place to the east of the existing building. McDonald’s leased the site from the common property owner of the 

shopping center and had the option to buy the site. The Village approved another Substantial Deviation from the 

PUD in 2009 as Ordinance 2009-O-075, which allowed the site to be subdivided from the rest of the shopping center 

property.  

 

 
Existing South Elevation (Google Street View) 

 

 
Existing North Elevation (Google Street View) 

 

 
Existing East Elevation (Google Street View) 
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Existing West Elevation (Google Street View) 

 

The subject property (highlighted in yellow below) is zoned B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Center 

Plaza Planned Unit Development). Some other tenants within the Park Center Plaza shopping center include 

Portillo’s, Aldi, Charter Fitness, Chipotle, and Chuck E. Cheese. The nearby zoning includes R-4 to the west where is 

church is located, B-2 to the east where the Tinley Park Plaza shopping center is located, B-3 to the south, and a 

commercial center within the Village of Orland Park to the north. 

 

 

 
Site Plan Approval 

The Petitioner seeks Site Plan Approval for drive-thru and parking lot modifications and related site improvements 

for the McDonald’s at 15920 Harlem Avenue. Site Plan Approval is necessary since the parking lot and drive-thru 

area will be significantly modified to allow for a double drive-thru ordering lane. The proposed Site Plan is discussed 

in detail in the “Site Plan” section of this report. 

 

Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Planned Unit Development 

The Petitioner also requests approval for a Special Use Permit for a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza 

Planned Unit Development. The proposed Substantial Deviation would provide for a second drive-thru lane and 
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allow a total of six (6) wall signs on the building where the maximum allowed by code is four (4) signs. Three (3) of 

the six (6) wall signs would be 36” tall, which exceeds the maximum allowable sign height by six inches (6”). 

Additionally, the menu boards are roughly eight inches (8”) taller than the allowable height of seven feet (7’). The 

proposed signage is discussed in detail in the “Signage” section of this report. 

 

Exception 

The Petitioner also requests an Exception for the required number of parking spaces at the site. The proposed plans 

are short ten (10) parking spaces. Parking is discussed within the “Site Plan” section of this report. 

 
The proposed changes to the site include modifications to the drive-thru to add a second drive-thru lane near the 

menu boards, reconfiguring circulation to encourage one-way traffic flow counterclockwise around the building, 

creation of sidewalk along the west property line, addition of crosswalks, and improvements to landscaping. The 

dual drive-thru lanes for ordering food increase efficiency for the McDonald’s employees and allow the customer to 

receive their orders quickly. 

 

The proposed plans will increase safety at the site by angling the parking spaces along the west and north sides of 

the site, adding pavement markings to direct traffic around the site, and providing safe pedestrian walkways to/from 

the restaurant building. The additional drive-thru lane will reduce vehicle stacking, which will improve the circulation 

throughout the site. 

 

Open Item #1: The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned 

Unit Development to modify the Site Plan to allow a second drive-thru lane. 
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Parking 

The site currently has 59 parking spaces. The proposed plans provide 54 parking spaces at the site. The decrease in 

parking comes from angling the parking spaces to improve site circulation. Section VIII.A.10. of the Village’s Zoning 

Ordinance requires “one space for each three seats, plus one space for each employee (at peak time)” (140 / 3 = 47 + 

17 = 64). The parking requirement is 64 spaces, which means the proposed plans are short ten (10) parking spaces. 

 

Open Item #2: The Plan Commission may consider an Exception for the number of required parking spaces. 

 
The proposed Landscape Plan provides a variety of plant material throughout the site. One (1) tree will be removed 

to install sidewalk along the west property line. Two (2) trees will be removed to create the dual lane drive-thru 

where the menu boards are located. Trees being removed are denoted on the Landscape Plan by a thin black circle 

with a bold “X” through it. New plant material will be added around the northeast side of the building, within the 

parking lot, and within the north and west bufferyards.  
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Staff recommends two (2) improvements to the Landscape Plan: 

 

Open Item #3: The Petitioner should consider modifying the landscape bed to the east of the north row of parking 

to include the area adjacent to the angled parking space (see image below). 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       Revised 

 

Open Item #4: Loose rock mulch is not an acceptable material for the outer landscape bed near the drive-thru. 

The Petitioner should revise plans to reflect landscaping and plant material. If landscaping is not practical in this 

location consider using granite cobbles or Belgium block set in mortar (see image below). 
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Sample of Granite Cobbles in Mortar Sample of Belgium Block 

 
The façade of the building will be improved as part of this project. The Petitioner proposes new thin brick that will 

be painted gray, an accent tile with a wood-like appearance, and the use of metal for a modern look. The rooftop 

mechanical units will be screened from view with a corrugated metal roof screen, which is a major improvement to 

the aesthetics of the building since the current rooftop units are not screened at all. The existing trash enclosure will 

be painted to match the new color scheme. 
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As part of the project the Petitioner will also be removing the existing signage and replacing it with more modern 

McDonald’s signage. According to the Petitioner, the site currently includes about 190 total square feet of wall 

signage comprised of eleven (11) different sign elements. The Petitioner noted about 64 square feet of “other” 

signage, which includes directional signs and the menu board. In total the existing site has about 254 square feet of 

signage.  

 

 

Examples of Existing Wall Signage: 

 

 

 
 

42” x 48” = 14 SF 2 M Arches = 51”x 59.19” = 20.96 SF each   +   Play Place = 24” x 215.5” = 35.92 SF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Wall Signage: 

 

 

  
36” x 43.5” = 10.875 SF 22.25” x 140” = 21.63 SF 
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24” x 16’5” = 32.83 SF 

 

 

 

At the workshop the Plan Commission recommended an additional “Playspace” wall sign be added to the 

south façade.  The Petitioner has added this to their request and Staff has adjusted the calculations 

accordingly. 

 

 

 

The proposed signage includes six (6) wall signs and ten (10) “other” types of signage, which include directional 

signs, drive-thru canopies, window signs, and menu boards. The proposed wall signs amount to 108.72 SF of sign 

face area.  

 

 

Analysis of Wall Signs Allowed by Code vs. Proposed Wall Signs: 

 

 Allowed by Code Proposed Difference 

Number of Wall Signs 4 6 +2 

Maximum Sign Face Area for 

Wall Signs (square feet = SF) 

N/S: About 90 SF 

E/W: About 85 SF 

 

Total= 175 SF 

N: 32.505 SF 

S: 32.50 SF 

E: 43.705 SF 

Total= 108.71 

Meets code 

Maximum Letter Height for 

Wall Signs 

30” 36” (“M”) +6” 

 

 

The proposed wall signage is a decrease from the existing signage in total area (66 SF). The table below compares 

the existing and proposed number of wall signs, sign face area for the wall signs, and the maximum letter height for 

wall signs. It is important to note that while the Petitioner is requesting two (1) additional wall signs and “M” arches 

that exceed the allowable maximum letter height, the signage on the building will be considerably decreased from 

the signage that currently is on the building because there will be five (5) less signs on the building and the current 

“M” arches are about fifty-one inches (51”) tall. 

 

 

Comparison of Existing Signage to Proposed Signage: 

 

 Existing Proposed Difference 

Number of Wall Signs 11 6 -5 

Sign Face Area for Wall Signs 

(square feet = SF) 

189.84 SF 108.71 SF -81.13 SF 

Maximum Letter Height for 

Wall Signs 

51” 36” -15” 
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Open Item #5: The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned 

Unit Development to allow two(2) additional wall signs. 

 

Open Item #6: The Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned 

Unit Development to allow the “M” Arch signs to be thirty-six inches (36”) tall. 

 

Proposed Menu Board Signage: 

 

  
Sign Face 48” x 27” = 9 SF 

Overall Height 91.22” or 7.66’ 

Sign Face 48” x 54” = 18 SF 

Overall Height 91.22” or 7.66’ 

 

 

The new freestanding signage meets Village codes except the maximum height for menu boards cannot exceed 

seven feet (7’) in height according to Section IX.L.3.a. of the Zoning Ordinance. Staff notes that while the height 

slightly exceeds the maximum, the sign face area is significantly below the allowable maximum area of 45 SF/sign. 

The proposed menu boards are 9 SF and 18 SF. There will be one of each menu board at each drive-thru lane, so the 

total square footage of sign face area for menu boards at the site is 54 SF. 

 
Open Item #7: The Petitioner should revise the height of the menu boards to meet the maximum height of seven 

feet (7’). Otherwise, the Plan Commission may consider a Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza 

Planned Unit Development to allow the menu boards to be 7.66’ tall. 
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If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, the following motion is in the appropriate form: 

 

“… make a motion to grant the Petitioner, James E. Olguin of Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd. on 

behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC, Site Plan Approval, in accordance with plans as noted in the List of Submitted Plans 

within the Staff Report and attached to the Plan Commission Meeting Packet, for drive-thru and parking lot 

modifications and related site improvements for the McDonald’s at 15920 Harlem Avenue.  

 

The Plan Commission also moves to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner,  James E. Olguin of 

Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec, and Hoff, Ltd. on behalf of McDonald’s USA, LLC,  a Special Use Permit for a 

Substantial Deviation from the Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development to allow for modifications to the 

approved Site Plan and an increase in the size and number of signs allowed for McDonald’s at 15920 Harlem Avenue 

within the B-3 PD (General Business and Commercial, Park Center Plaza Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. 

The proposed Substantial Deviation would allow a total of six (6) wall signs. Three (3) of the six (6) wall signs would 

be 36” tall, which exceeds the maximum allowable sign height by six inches (6”). The menu boards are eight inches 

(8”) taller than the allowable height of seven feet (7’). The Petitioner also requests an Exception for the required 

number of parking spaces at the site. 

 

The project includes the following exceptions: 

 

1. An exception to the Village parking requirement of 64 parking spaces to allow 54 parking spaces. 

2. An exception to allow two (2) additional wall signs 

3. An exception to the height of a wall sign that is limited to 30” to allow three (3) signs of 36” in height. 

4. An exception to the maximum height for a free standing sign which is limited to 7’ to allow four(4) menu 

signs at 7’8” in height.  

 

…The Plan Commission recommends the following conditions: 

1. (any conditions that the Plan Commission wishes to recommend) 
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Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 

be met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 

 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 

• This is an existing use in an approved B-3 PUD; drive through restaurants are 

approved uses in the B-3 district. 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 

drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

• Existing use 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 

well. 

• The proposed site plan has been review by Village Staff (Fire, Engineering and 

Planning) and support the ingress/egress and circulation proposals. 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

• The proposed plans will increase safety at the site by angling the parking 

spaces along the west and north sides of the site, adding pavement markings 

to direct traffic around the site, and providing safe pedestrian walkways 

to/from the restaurant building. The additional drive-thru lane will reduce 

vehicle stacking, which will improve the circulation throughout the site. 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 

uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 

buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 

shrubs. 

• The proposed landscape has been reviewed and found to meet the intent of 

the  Landscape Ordinance.  There were two areas under discussion regarding  

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

• The trash enclosure will be revised to match the new architectural materials. 
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Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 

will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

• This is an existing use that is consistent with surrounding landuses; the area is 

fully developed. Drive through restaurants are a permitted use in the B-3 

District. 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

• The area is fully developed  

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

• The area is fully developed; proposed site plan changes have been reviewed by 

engineering to ensure safe turning radii  

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

• Existing use 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

 

• The addition of a sidewalk, pavement markings and angled parking enhance 

the pedestrian and vehicular traffic in the area. 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 

conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 

ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 

other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  

Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

• Exceptions are included in this report related to parking  and signage 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 

the community as a whole. 

• McDonald’s is a recognized leader in the fast food industry and with the 

proposed improvements will continue to be competitive in the marketplace. 
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PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
April 21, 2022 – Public Hearing 
 
Primal Cut – Front Patio Enclosure 
17344 Oak Park Avenue 
  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Petitioner, Primal Cut (tenant) is requesting Variations and Site Plan/Architectural 
Approval at 17344 Oak Park Avenue. The granting of these requests will allow for a raised 
one-story building addition, that allows for the existing front patio to be enclosed. The 
property is located in the Legacy DC (Downtown Core) Zoning District. The Petitioner is 
seeking variations from Section XII (Legacy Code) of the Zoning Ordinance for 
requirements of minimum building height, building materials, and architectural 
guidelines.  
 
The design proposal is on the front of the restaurant’s east elevation facing Oak Park 
Avenue.  The building addition will comprise of enclosing the existing front patio which 
spans the private lot and encroaches into the Village right-of-way. The brick base of the 
patio will remain.  The proposed exterior materials of the building addition include a 
standing seam metal roof, steel columns, a telescoping Nanawall window system, and a 
guardrail with a structural safety glass railing.  
 
The Petitioner’s goal is to provide dining on more days of the year in that space. The 
addition will provide a better dining experience for customers who have coverage from 
weather and bugs. However, on nice days the windows will be able to be opened. Due to 
the location of the patio partially in the Village’s right-of-way, the Property Owner is 
simultaneously pursuing a revised easement agreement with the Village Board that would 
allow for the enclosure  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 
Paul Spass, on behalf of 
Primal Cut 
 
Property Location 
17344 Oak Park Avenue 
 
PIN 
28-30-313-008-0000 
 
Zoning 
Legacy District - DC 
(Downtown Core)  
 
Approvals Sought 
Variations 
Site Plan & Architectural 
Approval 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Lori Kosmatka 
Associate Planner 
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EXISTING SITE, HISTORY, ZONING, & LAND USES 
 
The subject property at 17344 Oak Park Avenue is an existing 
tenant space operating as a steakhouse restaurant.  The business 
is highly visible in the center of the downtown core of the Village, 
located on the southeast corner of 173rd Place and Oak Park 
Avenue, near the Metra train station. The business is currently 
well-frequented dining destination within the area.  The second 
floor of the building includes two residential units and a storage 
space. 
 
The site is part of the “Andres Block” development and is one of 
the most historic and visible area in downtown Tinley Park. The 
subject building was constructed around 1868 and functioned a 
general store. Over the years the building has also housed a 
grocery store, Bettenhausen Hardware store, Bogarts Charhouse, 
and a bicycle shop, among other 
businesses. In 1998 the exterior façade 
underwent extensive renovations to the 
interior and exterior prior to the 
opening of Bogart’s. The exterior was 
restored close to the early 1900’s 
appearance with the guidance of the 
Village’s Historic Commission and help 
of a Village grant. 
 
The property is in the Legacy DC 
(Downtown Core) Zoning District.  The 
Legacy Code includes architectural 
requirements for the zoning district.  
The property has neighboring Legacy 
Downtown Core district to the north 
and south, and Legacy Civic district to 
the east (Train Station and Zabrocki 
Plaza) and west (Public Safety 
Building/Fire Station 46).  There is R-4 Zoning District on 68th Court, 
north of 173rd Place.  Nearby businesses include J.W. Hollstein’s 
Saloon (south), Ed & Joe’s Restaurant (north), Teehan’s (northeast). 
 
A portion of Primal Cut’s existing patio area is within the Village’s 
right-of-way. The history of the raised brick patios is unclear but 
have been permitted to be used by the adjacent businesses 
through the use of encroachment agreements with the property 
owners. Changes to the  encroachment agreement are being 
sought by the Petitioner and will be presented to the Village Board 
at the same times as the zoning request. 
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PROPOSED USE  AND APPROVALS NEEDED 
 
The Petitioner wishes to enclose the existing front patio in order 
to provide dining on more days of the year in that space, given 
the variable climate conditions. The Petitioner estimates that 
approximately 19 dining patrons will be able to accommodate 
the space. 
 
Variations and Site Plan/Architectural Approval are required for 
the proposed addition. 
 
Based on the proposed design, three Variations are required 
from the Legacy Code requirements, which regulate 
redevelopment and additions on existing structures:  

1. Building Materials per Section XII.3.B.7. (Legacy Code) of 
the Village Zoning Ordinance, where the minimum 75% 
of listed Primary Materials are not provided.   

2. Architectural Guidelines per Section XII.3.B.8. (Legacy 
Code) of the Village Zoning Ordinance, where the style of 
architectural composition is not consistent throughout the structure.   

3. Minimum Building Height per Section XII.2.A.9. (Legacy Code) of the Zoning Ordinance, where the minimum 
building height of three-stories is not provided. 

 
SITE PLAN 
 
The Petitioner proposes to enclose the existing raised east front 
patio facing Oak Park Avenue.  The 222 square foot patio 
footprint (32’-10” long x 6’-9” deep) and the slightly deeper brick 
base (approximately 37.5” high at the south end) would remain 
unchanged, but the proposed operable windows would extend 
overhead into the sidewalk area approximately 19” from the brick 
veneer. Based on staff field measurements, the width of the 
sidewalk would remain unchanged at approximately 7’-8” from 
the brick wall’s face to the back of the curb.  The plan exhibit per 
the encroachment agreement, dated 7/7/2020 shows the front 
patio area in relation to the lot line.   
 
The existing patio has a narrow planter box, mounted to the top 
of the wrought iron railing, which sits atop a low brick wall base.  
The planter box is shown in the proposed rendering, but not 
detailed in the architectural line drawings of the proposed 
elevation and section. It is staff’s understanding that the proposal 
will not include planter boxes as they would difficult to attach to 
the proposed structure. The Petitioner’s drawings do not indicate 
any proposed exterior lighting, signage, or parking. 
 
Open Item #1: Drawings of the proposal show a discrepancy on 
whether the planter box will remain.  Petitioner will need to 
clarify and update construction drawings accordingly with the 
building permit. 
 

Plan Exhibit per Encroachment Agreement, Dated 7/7/2020, 
Marked up to show area of improvement 

Existing Pedestrian Experience 

Existing Front Patio (Overall View) 
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ARCHITECTURE 
 
The Petitioner proposes to enclose the existing raised front patio, 
thereby creating a one-story building addition as the area of 
improvement.  The patio sits atop a brick wall base, 
approximately 3 ½ feet high from the sidewalk.  The architectural 
drawings show existing fill and a concrete grade beam behind the 
brick veneer. The Petitioner proposes to insert concrete piers for 
the new columns within the existing fill, but does not propose to 
change the brick veneer. The overall design of the structure is 
modern in appearance but the heavy use of glazing/windows 
helps to blend the addition in with the historic building’s 
architecture, while also being functional for Primal Cut’s 
restaurant use. 
 
Building Materials 
The proposed exterior materials include a black standing seam metal roof, steel columns, a 4’-6” high operable 
telescoping Nanawall window system, atop a 3’-6” high guardrail assembly with structural safety glass railings and 
balusters, and new storefront panels on the side walls.   The existing low brick veneer base wall will remain.   
 
Section XII.3.B.7. of the Legacy Downtown Core District code requires that a minimum of 75% of all facades and 
roofs exclusive of glazing shall be comprised of any of the following Primary Materials: a) brick, stone, & fiber 
cement siding, b) cedar, slate & asphalt shingles (roof only), or c) copper & stainless steel.  The code states a 
maximum of 25% of all facades and roofs exclusive of glazing may be comprised of a) concrete panels & decorative 
block, b) EIFS & stucco, c) wood, or d) standing seam roofs.  The proposal’s materials will require a Variation from 
this requirement. 
 
The drawings do not identify if the northern raised stairway landing north of the patio will be open to the sky or not.  
The existing awning covers this space as well as the length of the patio.  Staff recommends a condition stating that 
any awning or structure over the northern raised stairway landing be subject to review and approval by Village staff.   
 
Nanawall Windows 
A significant portion of the proposed materials include Nanawall 
windows.  The drawings do not indicate how far the proposed 
Nanawall operable windows will project outward into the sidewalk 
area.  The Petitioner has provided a Nanawall brochure for the 
SL60 model.  The brochure illustrates this in door form, showing 
the telescoping to pivot completely to the outdoors, exterior from 
the system’s track.  The brochure does not specify the window 
panel widths.  The drawings show six panes over a length of 15’-
11”, which staff calculates would be project 29 3/8” from the 
enclosure.   There is 10 ½” between the outside of the enclosure to 
the face of the brick veneer where the sidewalk begins. The 
windows appear to project 19” outwards from the face of the brick 
veneer when opened. The window projection would thus further encroach in the Village’s right-of-way than the 
current patio. The window projection encroachment could possibly be reduced by increasing the number of 
windows to produce a smaller unit width that have a smaller projection into the right-of-way.  The Village’s Building 
Official noted that the required minimum headroom from the bottom of the projecting edge of the window system 
to the finished grade of the paver pavement (sidewalk) is 7’-0” per the means of egress requirements in the 
International Building Code, based on estimates of the current wall height and plans, it appears the windows would 
be less than that required height. 

Proposed per Petitioner's Color Rendering 

Telescoping Operation of Nanawall SL60 Model (brochure) 
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Staff recommends a condition that the number of operable windows and extent of projection encroaching into the 
Village right-of-way are subject to review and approval by Village staff as part of the building permit because it is 
currently unclear how this would comply with the building code or Public Works maintenance of the right-of-way 
based on the current design. 
 
Open Item #2: Petitioner to clarify “paneling” materials on the north and south sides. Staff recommends a clear, 
dual glazed storefront system to closely match the east elevation and a condition on the material approval by 
staff be placed on any approvals. 
 
Open Item #3: Staff recommends a condition stating that the bottom of the projecting edge of the window system 
to the finished grade of the paver pavement must be at least 7’-0” (84”). 
 
Drawings were not provided for the north and south side elevations.  The section drawing notes a new storefront 
paneling beyond, but does not call out the proposed material, whether it is opaque (solid) or clear, and whether it is 
fixed or not.  In order to provide a more transparent, open experience for pedestrians, and consistent materials, 
Staff recommends the north and south side elevations are to be clear, dual glazed storefront system to match the 
east elevation, and a condition stating the final materials of the north and south side elevations are subject to 
review and approval by Village staff.   
 
Architectural Guidelines 
Section XII.3.B.8. of the Legacy Downtown Core District 
code details the Architectural Guidelines, stating that “a 
consistent style of architectural composition should be applied 
throughout a structure.  A mix of styles is discouraged”.  The 
code states that the architectural qualities and details shall 
be deemed desirous by the Village for projects in the 
Legacy Code area.  The proposal’s materials do not match 
the existing building since it functions as an enclosed front 
patio that is meant to be as open as possible, and not as a 
typical building addition. The structure does require a 
Variation from this requirement that requests consistency 
of building additions. 
 
The proposed glass (windows & guardrail wall), metal (roof), and steel (columns), are modern in design with minimal 
ornamentation, differing from the older, varied, traditional design of the existing streetscape.  However, the glass 
will provide a sense of transparency to the area. Also, glass and storefront systems are typical in downtown areas.  
The proposed black metal roof will have a slight slope with a prefinished aluminum fascia as part of the front 
elevation.  This color and material appear to complement Primal Cut’s existing first-story frontage immediately 
north of the existing patio.   The existing brick veneer base wall will remain.  The brick veneer is slightly over three 
feet high, and runs beyond to the north and south.  Comparatively, the existing patio has brick veneer with setback 
glazing that is shadowed under a black and white cloth awning.  Though the scale of the building addition is similar 
to the patio, the massing will extend beyond the other facades of enclosed structures.  There is another patio 
immediately south of the patio, but it is open in nature similar to Primal Cut’s existing patio. The building addition 
will maintain an open feel of transparency with the operable glass.  Heavy use of glass and storefront systems are 
typical in downtown areas along the main street frontages.  This building addition is less intrusive to the 
architectural integrity of the existing building frontages.   This building addition could more easily be removed than 
a typical building addition since it involves enclosing the patio on an existing footprint offset from the existing 
building frontages.   
 
Open Item #4: Any awning or structure over the northern raised stairway landing be subject to review and 
approval by Village staff.   

Existing streetscape. 
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Building Heights 
The drawings identify the height of the proposed one-story building addition as 10’-10” from the top of the brick 
base wall to the peak of the roof, with the roof sloping downward to the sidewalk.  The height of the existing patio 
with awning is not provided, but is similar in size and location to the proposed roof. The existing surrounding 
structures are two-stories.  A large second-story bay window is directly above the area of improvement.  However, 
the Legacy Downtown Core District code requires that buildings have a minimum height of three stories, which 
requires a Variation to Section XII.2.A.9. (Legacy Code) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Given the size, location, context, 
partial location in the public right-of-way and spatial constraints, a one-story addition at this location appears to be 
more appropriate than an addition of three-stories in height. 
 
Open Item #5: Discuss Variation requests for the building addition’s required materials, building height and 
consistent design with the principal structure.   
 
SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff identified the following open items for discussion: 
 

1. Drawings of the proposal show a discrepancy on whether the planter box will remain.  Petitioner will need to 
clarify and update construction drawings accordingly with the building permit. 

2. Petitioner to clarify “paneling” materials on the north and south sides. Staff recommends a clear, dual glazed 
storefront system to closely match the east elevation and a condition on the material approval by staff be 
placed on any approvals. 

3. Staff recommends a condition stating that the bottom of the projecting edge of the window system to the 
finished grade of the paver pavement must be at least 7’-0” (84”).  

4. Any awning or structure over the northern raised stairway landing be subject to review and approval by 
Village staff. 

5. Discuss Variation requests for the building addition’s required materials, building height and consistent 
design with the principal structure.  
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STANDARDS FOR A VARIATION 
 
Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the 
regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented 
for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three 
standards; the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Findings 
of Fact have been drafted by staff and outlined below for Plan Commission consideration. 
 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 
conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
• The new one-story building addition can yield a reasonable return. However, the addition is within 

the same footprint of the business’s existing patio and not being completed for property return 
purposes. 

 
2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

• The one-story building addition is located in a spatially constrained area among existing two-story 
buildings with varied, traditional design.  Given the size, location, context, and spatial constraints, 
a one-story addition at this location appears to be more appropriate than an addition of three-
stories in height. 
 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
• The new one-story building addition is within appropriate scale to the surrounding two-story 

buildings, and will maintain an open feel of transparency with the operable glass. Glass and 
storefront systems are typical in downtown areas. The color and materials of the proposed design 
elements appear to complement the existing streetscape. The existing brick veneer base wall will 
also remain.   

 
4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 
favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 
 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification; 
 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property; 
 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 
previous owner; 
 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 
 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 
property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of 
fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood. 
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ADDITIONAL LEGACY CODE STANDARDS 
 
In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 
variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of 
fact, based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 
 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: 
Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance; 
• The one-story building addition provides dining on more days of the year in the space. The addition 

will provide a better dining experience for customers and a more active streetscape that creates 
an inviting urban experience in the Downtown Core. 

 
b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 
• The glass in the one-story building addition will provide a sense of transparency to the area. Also, 

glass and storefront systems are typical in downtown areas. The color and material complement 
Primal Cut’s existing first-story frontage immediately north of the existing patio. The existing brick 
veneer base, which runs beyond the property to the north and south and visually links the 
streetscape, will remain. 

 
c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code; 

• The new one-story building addition is for a patio dining area and is less intrusive to the 
architectural integrity of the existing building frontages. This building addition could more easily 
be removed than a typical building addition since it involves enclosing the patio on an existing 
footprint offset from the existing building frontages. 

 
d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the 

Legacy Plan area. 
• The one-story building addition is expected this will help the success of an existing business now 

and in the future by providing a better customer experience and attractive frontage. 
 
STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN & ARCHITECTUAL APPROVAL 
 
Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that the conditions listed below must be met and reviewed for Site 
Plan approval. Specific findings are not required but all standards shall be considered to have been met upon review 
from the Plan Commission. 
 
Architectural  
 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials (Section V.C. 
Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry walls (with face or thin brick inlay) 
are allowed vertical articulation, features are encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must 
incorporate architectural finishes that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. Cast 
in place concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 15% per façade) 
provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the appearance if used on large, blank 
walls.  

b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide architectural interest 
on all sides of the structure. Whatever an architectural style is chosen, a consistent style of architectural 
composition and building materials are to be applied on all building facades.  

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or renovation of an 
existing structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, adjacent structures and streetscape. 
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Avoid architecture or building materials that significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the 
rhythm of the block in terms of scale, massing and setback. Where a development includes outlots they shall 
be designed with compatible consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site lighting, landscaping 
and architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement throughout the development.  

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be used for purposes 
of “attention getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices shall be harmonious with the 
surrounding buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors are to be avoided except to be used on a minor 
scale for accents.  

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current use without 
compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an architecture so unique that it 
limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times). 

f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from public right-of-way or parking fields. The entry can 
be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, overhang or some other type of weather 
protection, some form of roof element or enhanced landscaping. 

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 sf or less a pitched roof is required or a parapet that extends the full exterior of 
the building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 feet of more, a change of at least five feet in 
height must be made for every 75 feet.  

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material or texture variation are to be avoided.  
The use of material and color changes, articulation of details around doors, windows, plate lines, the 
provision of architectural  details such as “belly-bands” (decorative cladding that runs horizontally around 
the building), the use of recessed design elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or 
other methods of visual relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of large expanses 
of walls and  break down the overall scale of the building into intermediate scaled parts. On commercial 
buildings, facades greater than 100 feet must include some form of articulation of the façade through the 
use of recesses or projections of at least 6 inches for at least 20% of the length of the façade. For industrial 
buildings efforts to break up the long façade shall be accomplished through a change in building material, 
color or vertical breaks of three feet or more every 250 feet.  

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views.  
j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall consistent with the 

architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates must be kept closed at all times and 
constructed of a durable material such as wood or steel. They shall not be located in the front or corner side 
yard and shall be set behind the front building façade. 

 
Site Design 
 

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with parking located to the 
rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas shall be designed so as to provide 
continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear 
or side of the structure and not dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-
through areas shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure.  

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever possible and 
screened from view from public rights-of-way. 

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in accordance with Section 
III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or corner side yards and are not permitted to 
occupy areas designated for parking, driveways or walkways. 

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with adjacent properties of 
similar use. Where possible visitor/employee traffic shall be separate from truck or equipment traffic. 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage pedestrian traffic. Bicycle 
use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must 
cross vehicle pathways a cross walk shall be provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material 
or color. 
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MOTIONS TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to act on the Petitioner’s requests, the appropriate wording of the motions are listed 
below. The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative 
recommendation correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific 
recommendation in support or against the plan. The Commission may choose to modify, add, or subtract to staff’s 
recommended motions and recommended conditions as they choose prior to voting on the motion. 
 
Motion 1 – Variations 
 
“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Paul Spass on behalf of Primal Cut, at 
17344 Oak Park Avenue in the Legacy Downtown Core (DC) Zoning District, three (3) Variations from Section XII 
(Legacy Code) of the Village Zoning Ordinance for building materials, architectural design guidelines, and minimum 
building height as listed and according to the submitted plans, and adopt the Findings of Fact as listed in the April 
21, 2022 Staff Report, with the following condition: 

 
1. There must be executed and active right-of-way encroachment agreement in place with the Village.  If the right-

of-way encroachment agreement expires and becomes defaulted, the variation becomes void. 
2. All plans are subject to final staff review with the building permit for building code compliance and public 

safety review.” 
 
Motion 2 - Site Plan/Architecture Approval 

 
“…make a motion to grant the Petitioner Ascend Illinois, LLC, Site Plan and Architectural Approval for redevelopment 
of an outlot to have an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 16200 Harlem Avenue in the B-3 PD (General 
Business and Commercial, Park Place PUD) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and adopt 
Findings of Fact as proposed in the April 21, 2022 Staff Report, subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. Site Plan/Architectural Approval is subject to approval of the requested Variations and right-of-way 
encroachment agreement by the Village Board. 

2. All plans are subject to final staff review with the building permit for building code compliance and public 
safety review. The number of operable windows and extent of projection encroaching into the Village right-of-
way are subject to review and approval by Village staff. 

3. The bottom of the projecting edge of the window system to the finished grade of the paver pavement must be 
at least 7’-0” (84”). 

4. The final materials of the north and south side elevations are subject to review and approval by Village staff to 
match the proposed front/eats elevation. 

5. Any awning or structure over the northern raised stairway landing be subject to review and approval by Village 
staff.” 

 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On 
Sheet 

 Application Redacted & Response to Standards Applicant 3/29/22 
 Architectural Drawings Ideal Designs 12/31/19 
 Nanawall Brochure (SL60 Model) Nanawall n/a 
 Tinley Park Historic Guide Andres Development Tinley Park Historical Society n/a 
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17344 Oak Park Ave.,Tinley Park,Illinois 60477Address:

Nick Wnenk

9951 W. 190 th Street, Ste K   Mokena, 
Illinois    60446

(708) 385-4079

nick.wnenk@nanawall.comEmail:Location:

Email:12908 S. Mason

Palos Heights, IL 60463

(708) 372-7541

woodstonekb@yahoo.com

Phone:

Fax:

Address:

Paul Spass

Primal Cut - Tinley Park, IL

Customer:

Project Information

NanaWall Contact Information

Shipping Information

The NanaWall system allowed us to greatly enhance the living space by seamlessly integrating the indoors with the natural 
environment. ?Chris Craver, C2 Designs    "[NanaWall] help us to design big rather than having to build big." ?Michelle 
Kaufmann, Mic

To accept this quote and proceed with order, please check here and fax this form to (415) 383-0312 or contact your NanaWall 
sales representative. Order Agreement documents will then be sent to you.

423271
9/14/2020

Custom Quote #
Date:

800 873 5673
415 383 3148
Fax 415 383 0312

100 Meadowcreek  Drive #250 
Corte Madera , CA 94925
quotes@nanawall.com

Local Sales:

Representative:

Phone:

Current Estimated Delivery: 8-10 weeks from order to jobsite in Illinois

1 of 6

http://now.eloqua.com/e/f2.aspx?elqFormName=QuoteLink&elqSiteID=1745&Description=Testimonial&QuoteSFID=&e=woodstonekb@yahoo.com&url=http://media.nanawall.com/quote/gateway.aspx?PageID=31%26QuoteID=423271%26QuoteSalesForceID=
http://now.eloqua.com/e/f2.aspx?elqFormName=QuoteLink&elqSiteID=1745&Description=SlideShow&QuoteSFID=&e=woodstonekb@yahoo.com&url=http://www.nanawall.com


100 Meadowcreek  Drive #250 
Corte Madera, CA 94925
quotes@nanawall.com

800 873 5673
415 383 0312
Fax 415 383 0312

Date: 9/14/2020
Custom Quote # 423271
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$8,926Position 1 Subtotal:

Swing/Stacking Direction Inward
Mounting Floor Mounted with Stainless Steel Rollers
Type of Sill Higher Weather Performance Sill, Thermally Broken
Sill Finish Match to Profile Finish
Glazing Double Glazed Low E Insulated Tempered 70
Lites Standard One Lite
Glazing Designation No Capillary Tubes
Glass Spacer Bar Finish Dark Bronze
Aluminum Profile Finish (Recyclable aluminum with 
recycled content)

NanaWall Standard Powder Coated Color: Choose from 50 
Standard Colors 

Bottom Rail/Kickplate Standard Bottom Rail
Hardware on First Opening Panel(s) Two Point Locking with L Shaped Handle on the Inside and 

Flat Handle on the Outside.  Thumbturn on the Inside and 
Key Operation on the Outside.

Upcharge/unit: $351

Hardware Finish on First Opening Panel(s) Stainless Steel with Brushed Satin Finish.
Secondary Handle Type 2 point locking with flat handle
Finish on Secondary Handles Stainless Steel with Brushed Satin Finish
Hardware: Handle Height from Bottom of Panel Height in Inches: 18.0"

Notes: AT MINIMUM HANDLE HEIGHT
Corner Connector Finish Closest Powder Coated Match to Profile Finish

Performance Notes
U Value:  0.32

Configuration 6L0R

Keyed Alike Yes

Nbr of Units 1

Unit Width 16' 8"feet 200inches 5080millimeters
Unit Height 4' 6"feet 54inches 1372millimeters

Number of Panels 6

$8,575Base Price/unit

Total Price/unit
Number of units
Extended Subtotal $8,926

1
$8,926

Configuration Notes (Net panel height will be less than 6'8")

SelectionOptions

800 873 5673
415 383 0312
Fax 415 383 0312

100 Meadowcreek  Drive #250 
Corte Madera, CA 94925
quotes@nanawall.com SL60CL Product Details

9/14/2020
Quote # 423271  Position 1
Date

SHGC:  0.19

Total Weight: 450lbs    Total weight is approximate and does not include packaging material.
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$8,926Position 2 Subtotal:

Swing/Stacking Direction Inward
Mounting Floor Mounted with Stainless Steel Rollers
Type of Sill Higher Weather Performance Sill, Thermally Broken
Sill Finish Match to Profile Finish
Glazing Double Glazed Low E Insulated Tempered 70
Lites Standard One Lite
Glazing Designation No Capillary Tubes
Glass Spacer Bar Finish Dark Bronze
Aluminum Profile Finish (Recyclable aluminum with 
recycled content)

NanaWall Standard Powder Coated Color: Choose from 50 
Standard Colors 

Bottom Rail/Kickplate Standard Bottom Rail
Hardware on First Opening Panel(s) Two Point Locking with L Shaped Handle on the Inside and 

Flat Handle on the Outside.  Thumbturn on the Inside and 
Key Operation on the Outside.

Upcharge/unit: $351

Hardware Finish on First Opening Panel(s) Stainless Steel with Brushed Satin Finish.
Secondary Handle Type 2 point locking with flat handle
Finish on Secondary Handles Stainless Steel with Brushed Satin Finish
Hardware: Handle Height from Bottom of Panel Height in Inches: 18.0"

Notes: AT MINIMUM HANDLE HEIGHT
Corner Connector Finish Closest Powder Coated Match to Profile Finish

Performance Notes
U Value:  0.32

Configuration 0L6R

Keyed Alike Yes

Nbr of Units 1

Unit Width 16' 8"feet 200inches 5080millimeters
Unit Height 4' 6"feet 54inches 1372millimeters

Number of Panels 6

$8,575Base Price/unit

Total Price/unit
Number of units
Extended Subtotal $8,926

1
$8,926

Configuration Notes (Net panel height will be less than 6'8")

SelectionOptions

800 873 5673
415 383 0312
Fax 415 383 0312

100 Meadowcreek  Drive #250 
Corte Madera, CA 94925
quotes@nanawall.com SL60CL Product Details

9/14/2020
Quote # 423271  Position 2
Date

SHGC:  0.19

Total Weight: 450lbs    Total weight is approximate and does not include packaging material.
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Total, Supply Only: $18,902

Shipping and Crating $1,050

Subtotal: $17,852

This Quote contains NanaWall’s prices for products based on information, input and specifications provided by Buyer. The product 
details listed are based on NanaWall standard products and may not conform to project specifications in terms of requirements 
and/or product performance. NanaWall is not responsible for reviewing or confirming whether its product meets plans and 
specifications, applicable building codes, or regulations.  

Review this Quote carefully to ensure all product details are accurate and correct. It is Buyer’s responsibility to ensure all product 
details described in this Quote are as requested and appropriate for the project. For further information or assistance on product 
detail selection, please consult NanaWall’s literature, website, local sales representative or customer service.

Drawings. Standard Product Drawings depicting the product quoted are attached.  

Any changes in the dimensions, design or layout made after NanaWall’s preparation of any drawings may result in extra charges at 
the NanaWall’s discretion for preparation of revised drawings. Any additional charges must be paid before any drawings are 
revised.

Head Track & Sill Assembly. Head track and sill components may be shipped in segments that will need to be field joined. Contact 
NanaWall at (800) 873-5673 to request instructions for proper assembly. 

Altitude. NanaWall assumes that the products will be installed at altitudes less than 2,500 feet.  Notify NanaWall prior to placing 
your order if installing any products at a higher altitude so breather/capillary tubes can be installed in the glass. Argon is not 
available if breather or capillary tubes are installed.

PRICING & PAYMENT
The quoted price is valid only for the product details listed and only for 30 days from the date of the Quote. Prices are subject to 
change if any revisions are made, or if an order is not placed within 30 days from the date of the Quote. 

Sales tax is an estimate only and any difference in actual sales tax to be collected will be reflected in the amount of final payment 
due. NanaWall must have a project tax exemption certificate, or in the case of a reseller a resale certificate, on file for resellers to 
be exempt from tax collection by NanaWall.

Please call NanaWall customer service at (800) 873-5673 Questions

Important Information

US Dollars

Project Summary (in US Dollars)

100 Meadowcreek  Drive #250 
Corte Madera, CA 94925
quotes@nanawall.com

800 873 5673
415 383 0312
Fax 415 383 0312

Date: 9/14/2020
Custom Quote # 423271

Estimated delivery time from receipt of signed Order Agreement, initial payment and 
signed product drawings is 8-10 weeks to jobsite in Illinois. Please discuss with 
NanaWall or your sales rep if a more definitive delivery date is needed within this time 
frame. 

Estimated Illinois Sales Tax If 
Applicable 

 Plus Tax

$1,115.75

Estimated Delivery Time
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An initial payment of 50% is due on order and must be received before NanaWall will process an order for production.

The balance of payment for all products shipped Standard Delivery is (1) wire transfer to NanaWall’s bank account to be received 
by NanaWall before delivery or (2) personal, business or cashier’s check on delivery to be handed over to the common carrier 
driver.
As products are made to order, Buyer may not cancel or change an order once  the Order Agreement is signed by NanaWall and 
Buyer. In the event of Buyer’s repudiation of the Order Agreement, NanaWall remains entitled to the full purchase price as stated 
in the Order Agreement.

Installation is not included in the above price. NanaWall does not provide installation services; however, installation may be 
available through independent Certified Installers who have received training on proper methods for installation of NanaWall 
product. Contact NanaWall or your local sales representative for more information.

SHIPPING & DELIVERY
Standard Delivery. The quoted freight amount is based on shipping to Buyer via NanaWall’s standard shipping methods to 
tailgate/curbside only. Buyer is responsible for unloading the product from the delivery truck, and must plan to have sufficient 
manpower present for unloading. If the location is not easily accessible by common carrier, shipment will be made to the nearest 
freight terminal. Alternative shipping methods requested by Buyer may result in additional charges. Buyer can make its own 
transport arrangements from NanaWall production sites within the U.S., and in the case of international production sites Buyer can 
make its own transport arrangements from the domestic port of entry.

REVISIONS & SUBMISSION
Contact NanaWall to identify any changes or corrections to be made to the information contained in the Quote. NanaWall will 
review, make accepted changes, and submit a revised Quote.  

IF THE QUOTE IS ACCEPTABLE AND BUYER WOULD LIKE TO PROCEED, CHECK THE BOX ON THE FIRST PAGE, AND SUBMIT TO 
NANAWALL: fax to (415) 383-0312, email to quotes@nanawall.com or send to your local sales representative. NanaWall will then 
provide the Order Agreement, a sample of which is available for review upon request. Once provided, the Order Agreement and 
applicable drawings will govern the sale.

Copyright 2019 Nana Wall Systems, Inc

6 of 6



ANDRES BLOCK
17344-17348  Oak Park Avenue
(formerly Batchelors Grove Road)

Christian Andres (Sr.) had taken over the general merchandise business run by John Thorworth along
North Street in about 1865.  At the southwest corner of what is now Oak Park Avenue and 173rd
Place, Christian Andres built a new larger store in about 1868.  In a small one story addition to the
north of the store, Dan Rogers ran a barber shop.  This addition was built out into the road which was
later called Andres Avenue (now 173rd Place).  The Village Board requested that this barbershop
building be moved from the street in 1906.  Just to the south of the business, he also built a two story
frame home with elaborate Victorian embellishments popular at the time (see the Nielsen/Andres
house 6725 South Street which was built at the same time and retains many of the original
ornamentations).  His son, Henry C. Andres followed his father in the business.  Tinley Park's first
telephone was installed in his store in 1898.  In 1901, John C. Funk took over operation of the store. 
The local telephone switchboard was initially operated by John Funk and his family.  For many years
the operator switchboard was located in Mr. Funk's living quarters above the store to provide 24 hour
service.  The operator switchboard was located in this structure until 1936.  The Wilke girls, and
Mamie Moss, were early telephone switchboard operators.  The Funk's grocery store was operated
by the family until 1954 when it was sold to Max Rauscher.  The grocery store was continued by
John Wojochoski until the early 1960s.



In 1906 Christian Andres constructed the two story brick building to the south of the then John C.
Funk store calling it the "Andres Block".  The Andres home which had formerly occupied this site
was moved to what is now the northwest corner of173rd Place and 68th Court (17330 68th Court;
then Andres Avenue and Western Avenue).  The general store operated by John Funk expanded into
the north end of this building for dry goods.  In 1934, Henry J. Bettenhausen established his
hardware business in the north end of the Andres Block building.  The upper level served as
residential apartments and additional sales & storage space.

For many years the toy department of Bettenhausen Hardware was located upstairs.  At Christmas
time, children could also visit with Santa in the toy department.  Some locals remember the Santa
at Bettenhausen's as the "real" one.

The south end of the structure housed Boeyer Brothers Market in 1907.  It also housed Guido Dini's
ice cream parlor prior to opening the tavern. (Dini's Tavern was located on the southeast corner of
174th Street and Oak Park Avenue, now Citibank)  Tinley Park's first drug store, founded by Mr.
Gonea (Gonia?) was also located here.  The drug store was later acquired by Alan Cavett and
subsequently occupied by American General Finance Company through 1996.  This space is once
again occupied by an ice cream parlor known as Sam & Jake's.  The tin ceiling that can be seen today
dates to the early 1920s with Dini's ice cream parlor.

The single story structure that joins the Andres block to the original store building served at various
times as a public bath, barber shop, and post office (1920 - 1950).  Tinley Park's first Public Library
was located here in 1913-1914.  The Library was the result of local fundraising efforts of the Tinley
Park Dramatic Club lead by Mrs. Mary Goss Fulton (Mrs. Willard Fulton), a teacher (and later
principal) in the Tinley Park School with the assistance of Christian Andres, Sr., who provided the
building space to house the library.

Henry J. Bettenhausen later acquired the block of buildings in 1940 from the Andres family for his
expanding business.  The building was further expanded in the 1970s and 1980s with additions to
the rear (west) of the original structures.  His children and grandchildren continued to operate the
hardware business until 1996, closing the business after 62 years.

In 1998 the building was sold and remodeled for Bogart's Char House a popular local restaurant. 
The front facade of the building was restored close to its appearance in 1907.

An interesting footnote is that with the 1998 sale, it was the first time in 130 years the property had
not been owned by someone related to Christian Andres who owned and had built the original
buildings on the property.



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
April 21, 2022 – Public Hearing 
 
Drip Drop Smokes – Special Use Permit for a Tobacco Store 
17133 Harlem Avenue 

	 	
	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Petitioner, Ameer Ihmud, on behalf of Drip Drop Smokes is requesting a Special Use 
Permit for a Tobacco Store as a tenant occupying 17133 Harlem Avenue within the Tinley 
Park Commons, a multi-tenant commercial shopping plaza. The property is within the B-3 
(General Business & Commercial) zoning district.  
 
On January 4, 2022, the Village approved regulations (Ord. # 21-O-091) related to tobacco 
and nicotine related retail uses.  The approved ordinance included specific definitions to 
the Zoning Ordinance and included restricted the use of a Tobacco Store to require a Special 
Use Permit in the B-2 and B-3 Zoning Districts, where it was previously permitted. The Staff 
Report from the text amendment (November 18, 2021) is attached to the packet for review 
of the considerations and concerns related to Tobacco uses. 
 
The proposed location does not have any other immediately surrounding tobacco stores 
or uses previously mentioned as having concerns for public health such as schools, 
daycares, churches, or other businesses marketed towards children. 
 
The Drip Drop Smokes business will operate as retail for tobacco products including vapes, 
hookahs, glass accessories, and tobacco. The Petitioner does not propose any changes to 
the site, building’s architecture, landscaping, or lighting. The business will have employees 
verify identification of customers to ensure that all purchases are only made by those 21 
years of age and older, as required under state law. Smoking or vaping is not permitted 
indoors nor within 15 feet from the tenant space as regulated by Village and state law. 
Parking is not expected to be a concern as the petitioner only anticipates to have two 
employees and an average of one to two customers at a time.   

 
	
	 	

 
 
 
	
	
	
Petitioner 
Ameer Ihmud, on behalf 
of Drip Drop Smokes 
(tenant) 
 
Property Location 
17133 Harlem Avenue 
 
PIN 
28-30-300-024-0000 
 
Zoning 
B-3 (General Business & 
Commercial)  
 
Approvals Sought 
Special Use Permit 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Lori Kosmatka  
Associate Planner 
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EXISTING SITE, ZONING, AND NEARBY LAND USES 
	
The subject property at 17133 Harlem Avenue is an existing 1,166 
sq. ft. tenant space in a multi-tenant commercial shopping plaza 
known as Tinley Park Commons, located on the southeast corner 
of 171st Street and Harlem Avenue. 
 
The tenant space was previously occupied by Brow & Lash Studio, 
and is located within a row of several tenants that make up a large 
strip mall. The adjacent tenant spaces are currently DuPage 
Medical Group and Rob’s Aquatics.  The strip mall’s other tenants 
are currently Jewel-Osco, Goodyear Tire, Hair Cuttery, Stella’s 
(gaming café), Top Nails, Cosmo Prof (cosmetics store), Quick 
Wash (cleaners), Pooches N’ Purrs (pet grooming), and Family Pet 
(veterinary clinic).  Additionally, there are three other outlots on 
the corner: Shell (service station), McDonald’s, and Chase Bank. 
There are no existing Tobacco Stores in the shopping plaza but 
accessory sales do occur with at Jewel Osco and Shell gas station 
convivence store. 
 
The shopping plaza is within the B-3 (General Business & 
Commercial) Zoning District.  The northeast corner of the 
intersection is also in the B-3 Zoning District, while the west side 
of Harlem Avenue is a combination of B-1 (Neighborhood 
Shopping), B-4 (Office & Service Business), and R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) Zoning Districts.  The back of the shopping plaza is 
adjacent to residences in the R-6 (Medium-Density Residential) 
Zoning District.   The Zoning Ordinance states that the B-3 
Zoning District is “designed to accommodate a wide range of 
specialized commercial uses, including highway-oriented services 
and commercial types of establishments to serve the needs of 
motorists. . . intended to include those uses which would not be 
compatible in a neighborhood or community-type shopping center”. 
 
No schools, child care facilities, or other buildings used for 
educational or recreational programs for persons under the age 
of 18 years are located within 100 feet of the tenant space.  This 
complies with the Village’s Municipal Code Section 120.10 
“Proximity to Certain Institutions”. A wider radius and different 
existing uses that might be incompatible with a Tobacco Store can 
be considered as part of the special use process review of the use 
as well. 
 
Village Zoning Regulations 
On January 4, 2022, the Village approved Ordinance #21-O-091 amending the Village’s Zoning Ordinance for the 
purpose of regulating tobacco and nicotine related retail uses.  Staff prepared a report for the Plan Commission’s 
public hearing on November 18, 2021 and is attached to the Plan Commission packet for review.  The approved 
ordinance included specific definitions to the Zoning Ordinance and included restricted the use of a Tobacco Store to 
require a Special Use Permit in the B-2 and B-3 Zoning Districts, where it was previously permitted. Tobacco stores 
are prohibited in the other zoning districts. 
  

Front (West) Elevation of Tenant Space 

Location Map 

Zoning Map 
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SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
	
A Special Use Permit is required for the operation of the proposed use as a Tobacco Store in the B-3 (General Business 
& Commercial) Zoning District.  The Zoning Ordinance defines “Tobacco Store” as “A retail establishment that derives 65% 
or more of its gross revenue from the sale of Tobacco Products and Alternative Nicotine Products, and in which the sale of 
other products is merely incidental.”   
 
Special Use Permits are required for uses that may or may not be acceptable in the specific zoning district based on 
the unique nature of the use. In this situation, the primary concern is public health. In the adoption of the stricter 
regulations two main concerns arose that were noted as a desire to review the use under the standards of a special 
use: 

1. Relation to other Tobacco Stores to avoid one area having a high concentration of tobacco stores that are 
highly visible to the public and may limit other preferred or by-right uses from locating to the area. 
 

2. Relation to “Certain Institutions” that are geared toward children and people under 18 years of age. For 
example, schools, daycares, churches, pediatric offices, etc. 

 
PROPOSED USE 
	
The Petitioner proposes the business Drip Drop Smokes to operate as retail for tobacco products including vapes, 
hookahs, glass accessories, and tobacco.   The specific location is desired because it is a heavily traveled commercial 
corridor and there are no immediate tobacco stores near the area.   
 
Employees will be required 
verify identification of 
customers to ensure that all 
purchases are only made by 
those 21 years of age and 
older, as required under state 
law. The Petitioner will not 
allow smoking indoors nor 
within 15 feet from the tenant 
space, as it is prohibited under 
the state and local smoking 
regulations. 
 
The proposed hours of 
operation are daily from 9am 
to 10pm.  The operation will 
have two employees staffed, a 
manager and a cashier.  The 
Petitioner does not anticipate 
more than five people in the 
store at a given time.  The 
Petitioner has also stated that 
loitering will not be permitted, 
and the store will be kept 
clean and aesthetically 
pleasing.  	
No changes are proposed to 
the site, building’s 

Plat of Survey (Tenant Space Marked Up) 

Front 
Entrance 
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architecture, landscaping, lighting, or parking on the site.  Parking in the multi-tenant parking lot is not expected to 
be a concern as the center was designed for a variety of retail and commercial uses. The Petitioner has not proposed 
any signage yet but will need to comply with Zoning Ordinance. 
 
STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request.  Findings 
of Fact have been drafted by staff and outlined below for Plan Commission consideration. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
 Identification of customers will be verified to ensure all purchases are only made by those 21 years 

of age and older, as required by law.  Smoking and vaping will not be permitted indoors nor within 
15 feet of the establishment. No schools, child care facilities, churches, or other buildings used for 
educational or recreational programs for persons under the age of 18 years are adjacent to the 
proposed use. No tobacco stores exist on the subject property or adjacent sites currently. 

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 
 The operation will be professional in nature, and occur within the tenant space. The operation will 

not permit loitering, and the store will be kept clean and aesthetically pleasing. Smoking or vaping 
will not occur within the space and odors will not present to neighboring tenants. The hours of 
operation will occur from 9:00am to 10:00pm. 

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
 The building is existing and no changes are proposed to the exterior of the site. 
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided; 
 The building and utilities are existing and no changes are proposed to the exterior of the site.  
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
 The operation will have a single frontage for customer access, and is anticipated to only generate 

traffic that is similar to other commercial and retail uses. 
 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 
pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions 
and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure 
compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other 
properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to 
comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 
 The Petitioner has indicated they will meet all other Village regulations. 
 



Drip Drop Smokes Tobacco Store – 17133 Harlem Avenue 
 

Page 5 of 5 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 
community as a whole. 
 The operation as a retail business is expected to contribute revenue to the surrounding area and fill 

an existing commercial vacancy.  
 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 
to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 
conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 
MOTION TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to act on the Petitioner’s request, the appropriate wording of the motion is listed below. 
The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative recommendation 
correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific recommendation in support 
or against the plan. The Commission may choose to modify, add, or subtract to staff’s recommended motions and 
recommended conditions as they choose prior to voting on the motion.  
 

“… make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Ameer Ihmud on 
behalf of Drip Drop Smokes, a Special Use Permit to operate a Tobacco Store at 17133 Harlem 
Avenue in the B-3 (General Business & Commercial) Zoning District, according to the submitted 
plans and adopt the Findings of Fact as listed in the April 21, 2022 Staff Report.” 
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PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
November 18, 2021 – Public Hearing 
 
Zoning Code Text Amendment - Tobacco and Nicotine-Related Retail 
Uses 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Planning staff periodically reviews the appropriateness and adequacy of various Zoning 
Ordinance regulations for any potential issues or inconsistencies. A lack of specific 
regulations related to tobacco and nicotine related uses (vaping, e-cig, hookah, nicotine 
products, etc.) was noticed as a potential concern. 
 
Staff notes that tobacco and nicotine related uses are not specifically defined or regulated 
in the Zoning Ordinance. Since the adoption of the current Zoning Ordinance in 1978 
tobacco-related uses have been regulated under a generic “Retail Stores” definition. Generic 
“Retail Stores” are permitted in the B-2 (Community Shopping) and B-3 (General Business 
and Commercial) zoning districts and prohibited in all others. Tobacco-related retail 
establishments have grown in popularity and evolved significantly over the years. These 
uses may pose some unique concerns related to their locations and overall regulation, as 
compared to other types of “retail stores”. Additionally, in recent years, a clustering of 
tobacco-related stores has been observed in the Village.   
 
On September 7, 2021 at the Village Committee of the Whole meeting, Village staff sought 
direction on how to address tobacco-related uses.  The Committee’s recommendations 
included making a specific tobacco-related use definition and requiring them to be special 
uses in the primary business districts. The Special Use process would be used to analyze 
how they fit into the proposed area and existing concentration of similar uses. The 
Committee recommended researching and presenting the changes for the Plan 
Commission to provide them with a recommendation. 
 
Staff has researched and drafted potential amendment options for the Commission’s 
discussion.  Staff is proposing a text amendment to provide specific definitions for tobacco 
and nicotine-related uses and product types, and to regulate accordingly per zoning 
districts.   Retail sales of tobacco and nicotine-related products are generally differentiated 
by primary and secondary (accessory) business use levels of retail within an establishment.  
Staff recommends regulating the more intense primary business level as a Special Use in 
the B-2 and B-3 zoning districts with additional restrictions, while permitting the accessory 
use level (products are typically sold at retail/convenience stores, gas stations, etc.) in the 
B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5 zoning districts. Staff also recommends clarifying language in the 
Legacy District’s use table but maintaining it as a prohibited use. 
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BACKGROUND 
 
Since the adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1978, tobacco and nicotine-related (vaping, e-cig, hookah, nicotine 
products) uses have been regulated under a generic “Retail Stores” definition, which are permitted in the B-2 
(Community Shopping) and B-3 (General Business and Commercial) zoning districts and prohibited in all others.  There 
are no definitions in the Zoning Ordinance specific to tobacco-related uses.   
 
Tobacco-related uses are referred to elsewhere in the Village Code of Ordinances within Title XI: Business Regulations. 
The references include Chapter 120 “Comprehensive Regulation of Tobacco Products”, Chapter 124 “Other 
Businesses: Tobacco Dealers”, and within the fee schedules of Sec. 110.25.  Chapter 120 defines “Tobacco Shop” as “a 
retail establishment which derives at least 65% of its gross revenue from the sale of tobacco products”. The Village’s fee 
schedules break down “Tobacco dealer” into either “primary business” or “secondary business”, but no further distinction 
is provided.  These Village ordinances relate to the licensing and legal requirements for these establishments. They 
are not related to zoning requirements. However, when possible, the Village tries to keep consistency across different 
regulations to avoid confusion. 
 
According to Village records, there are currently 27 
Tobacco dealer locations who pay an annual fee to the 
Village (see attachment).  These locations include both 
tobacco as a primary and an accessory (secondary) 
use. The Clerk’s office does not inspect for 
completeness and accuracy of the locations listed, and 
there may be some additional or new locations not on 
the list. However, it provides a sense of the total 
number of locations operating in the village. In addition 
to these stores, two hookah/cigar lounges exist in the 
Village (Habano/Pink Hookah and Cigar at 7615 159th 
Street and Hollywood Smokes at 6857 159th St).  
Additionally, at least 2 other businesses have current 
change of use applications submitted for primary 
tobacco-related store uses. 
 
Existing conditions include a clustering of tobacco-
related uses within the Village.  The southwest corner 
of 183rd Street and 80th Avenue currently has several 
tobacco dealers.  These locations are within the M-1 
(General Manufacturing) zoning district but allows for business uses similar to the B-3 district at this intersection 
through the PUD regulations.  The outlot building at 8021 183rd Street is a six-tenant building, four of which have 
tobacco or nicotine related uses.  The multi-tenant building 185 feet to the south currently has six tenant units, 
including Will Tobacco and CD Liquors.  The Tutor Time child-care facility is approximately 175 feet west of CD Liquors. 
This area has attracted a high concentration of these uses because of the location in Will County and bordering Cook 
County, which has significantly higher tobacco taxes.  Additionally, there are a higher number of tobacco-related uses 
along the 159th Street corridor. 
 
Currently, the only zoning-related restriction the Village has for tobacco uses is a minimum distance to youth-oriented 
facilities.  This is regulated in Sec. 120.10 “Proximity to Certain Institutions” restricting sale or delivery of tobacco 
products within 100 feet of any school, child care facility or other building used for education or recreational programs 
for persons under the age of 18 years. 
 

Existing Clustering of Tobacco/Vaping (Nicotine) Uses at 183rd St. & 80th 
Ave. 

Child 
care 

Primary tobacco/vaping 
Secondary tobacco/vaping 
Child care facility 

LEGEND 
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In order to align with the other Village Code sections and address the varied intensity of use, Staff recommends the 
Village looks at addressing other Chapters of the Village Code as necessary.  This may include defining primary and 
secondary Tobacco dealers, and providing contemporary definitions of products.   

 
EVOLUTION OF USES AND DEFINITIONS 
 
Over the years, products relating to tobacco use have expanded while the retail nature of tobacco establishments 
have grown and evolved.  In addition to traditional tobacco products, e-cigarettes and alternative nicotine products 
are available to the consumer.  These uses and products may pose some unique concerns related to their locations 
and overall regulation, as compared to other types of “retail stores”. 
 
Definitions 
 
The State of Illinois state statutes Sec. 410 ILCS 82/1 and Sec. 720 ILCS 675 provide comprehensive definitions for 
these contemporary uses.  The state statues define tobacco product, e-cigarette, alternative nicotine products, and 
retail tobacco stores.  Local municipalities provide definitions with varying scope, and are regulated in varying 
manners.   
 
Some definitions are more or less quantitative and specific to allow additional flexibility as products continue to 
change, and some provide exclusions.  For example, the Village of Orland Park’s recent tobacco ordinance enacted 
earlier this year defines tobacco products in a similar manner to the state statutes, and excludes marijuana and any 
products specifically approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for use in reducing, treating, or eliminating 
nicotine or tobacco dependence or for other medical purposes.  Tobacco dealers are usually defined as primary and 
secondary (accessory) types for licensing and zoning regulation.  Some municipalities differentiate this by identifying 
those who derive a minimum percentage of product gross revenue and/or devoting a minimum percentage of gross 
floor area to the display, advertising, merchandising, or stock of products, while noting that the sale of other products 
is merely incidental.  The percentages vary substantially among municipalities anywhere from 10% to 80%.   In the 
licensing regulations of Chapter 120, the Village currently defines “Tobacco Shop” as “a retail establishment which derives 
at least 65% of its gross revenue from the sale of tobacco products”. 
 
Limitations on Location and Density 
 
Regulations can include limitations on locations relative to certain institutions, and density of tobacco stores.  
Minimum distances from youth-oriented facilities typically reflect the Village’s 100-foot current regulation, though 
some municipalities increase the distance and include more institutions such as playgrounds, parks, and libraries.  A 
community may choose to increase the minimum distance, and provide the option to apply for reduction of the 
distance requirement.  The City of Aurora requires a 250-foot minimum distance, but allows reduction based upon a 
submitting a plan of conduct and fee, and receiving approval via an administrative hearing officer’s findings. Beyond 
the minimum distance, effects on surrounding uses and properties are an aspect of the special use process that is 
reviewable. 
 
Minimum distances to other tobacco stores are sometimes established in order to limit the density of tobacco stores 
in a community, such as at the corner of a typical intersection.  Generally, this applies to primary uses and excludes 
secondary (accessory) uses.  In nearby communities, Village of Frankfort restrictively regulates that licensed tobacco 
stores not be located within 2,000 feet of each other, meanwhile Village of Orland Park regulates that licensed primary 
tobacco or alternative nicotine product retailers and distributors not be within 1,000 feet of each other.  Other 
Chicagoland communities are not as restrictive.  One concern of tobacco retailers concentrating in a particular 
geographic area may include a chance of market conditions potentially leading to an additional impact on community 
health and safety.  High competition between retailers could lead to lowering of prices, which in turn could increase 
a community’s smoking rates. 
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Regulations can include limitations on quantity as well.  A maximum quantity (cap) of dealers may be established 
within municipal licensing requirements, typically broken down into primary and secondary uses.  This is not 
recommended by staff as a zoning regulation. If a total cap is desired, it would be better controlled by licensing 
requirements, similar to liquor licenses. 
 
One additional regulation to consider is the method of measurement when calculating use distances.  Some 
municipalities measure from the property lines of the lots or parcels on which the business locations are situated.  
Others may measure to the building line or the nearest portal of the building or structure.   
 
Special Use and Zoning Districts 
 
Zoning controls, including a Special Use, would allow the Village discretion to authorize and regulate the location and 
operation of tobacco and nicotine related dealers as appropriate for the Village, while not unduly burdening legitimate 
business activities of the dealers.  Special Uses may be related to a particular intensity or use type.  Village of Frankfort 
is one neighboring community requiring Special Use for tobacco stores.  The Special Use may be more specific.  For 
example, the Village of Antioch’s zoning code does not specifically regulate tobacco, but does regulate vaping as a 
Special Use within their B-1 Business Convenience District.  Zoning allowances may also differ based on zoning district.  
A greater allowance for secondary (accessory) uses of tobacco or nicotine related products could be provided based 
on the nature of the primary use.  In other words, supermarkets may provide accessory sales, which would be 
permitted in more zoning districts than a primary tobacco store. The City of Aurora only has one use classification of 
“Cigarette or tobacco shops” but the allowances differ as being permitted in the business and manufacturing districts, 
and only as an accessory use in their office restricted industrial district.   
 
When considering a Special Use the Commission has the ability to consider certain conditions where there is a rational 
nexus between the condition and the perceived impact of the proposed use; the conditions must be “specifically and 
uniquely attributable” to the proposal under review. Further the Zoning Ordinance provides Standards (Section X.J.5.) 
for consideration by the Plan Commission. Below please find the Standards outlined in the Zoning Ordinance.   
 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;   
 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood; 
 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement 
of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;  
 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided;  
 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize 
traffic congestion in the public streets;   
 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it 
is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board pursuant to the 
recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon 
the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above 
standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to 
better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall 
constitute a violation of this Ordinance; and 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 
community as a whole.  
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Additional Regulations 
 
Indoor smoking or sampling of tobacco and nicotine related products may also be regulated. Current state smoking 
regulations (410 ILCS 82/ Smoke Free Illinois Act) already prohibits indoor smoking of tobacco and nicotine-related 
products at any locations that are in a shared or multi-tenant building (unless established prior to the law’s passage).  
Additional regulations could prohibit indoor smoking in all buildings which would include hookah or cigar lounges.  
Village of Frankfort currently prohibits smoking and/or sampling of tobacco and tobacco related products within the 
indoor area of any licensed tobacco store. 
 
PROPOSED CHANGES 
 
Zoning Code Definitions 

Staff proposes the following definitions to the Zoning Ordinance which helps capture the scope of contemporary 
tobacco and nicotine related uses and products, while aligning with the gross revenue percentage currently identified 
in the Village’s Chapter 120 “Comprehensive Regulation of Tobacco Products”: 

Tobacco Store: A retail establishment that derives 65% or more of its gross revenue from the sale of Tobacco 
Products and Alternative Nicotine Products, and in which the sale of other products is merely incidental. 

Accessory Tobacco Sales: A retail establishment that derives less than 65% of its gross revenue from the sale of 
Tobacco Products and Alternative Nicotine Products, and in which the sale of other non-tobacco-related 
products is the primary function. 

Tobacco Product:  (1) Any product which contains, is made, or derived from  tobacco or used to deliver nicotine 
or other substances intended for human consumption,  whether smoked, heated, chewed, dissolved, inhaled, 
snorted, sniffed, or ingested by any other  means, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, little cigars, 
cheroots, stogies, periques,  granulated, plug cut, crimp cut, ready rubbed and other smoking tobacco, snuff, 
snuff flour,  bidis, snus, mints, hand gels, Cavendish, plug and twist tobacco, fine cut and other chewing  
tobaccos, shorts, refuse scraps, clippings, cutting, and sweepings of tobacco; (2) electronic  smoking devices; 
(3) notwithstanding any provision of subsections (1) and (2) to the contrary,  "Tobacco Product" includes any 
component, part, accessory, or associated tobacco  paraphernalia of a tobacco product whether or not sold 
separately. Excluded from this definition is any product that contains marijuana and any products specifically 
approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration for use in reducing, treating, or eliminating nicotine or 
tobacco dependence or for other medical purposes when these products are being marketed and sold solely 
for such approved purpose.  

 
Alternative Nicotine Products: As defined in the Illinois Compiled Statutes, 720 ILCS  675/1.5, a product or device 
not consisting of or containing tobacco that provides for the ingestion into the body of nicotine, whether by 
chewing, smoking, absorbing, dissolving, inhaling, snorting, sniffing, or by any other means.  This definition  
excludes cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, or other tobacco products and any product approved by the United 
States Food and Drug Administration as a non-tobacco product for sale as a tobacco cessation product, as a 
tobacco dependence product, or for other medical purposes, and is being marketed and sold solely for that 
approved purpose.  

 
Open Item #1: Discuss scope of definitions for two use types: Tobacco Store (primary), and Accessory Tobacco Sales 
(secondary).   
 
Open Item #2: Discuss scope of definitions for product types of tobacco products (which includes electronic smoking 
devices), and alternative nicotine products.   
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Zoning Code Use Chart 
 

Staff recommends the below specific use classifications, retaining the presence in the B-2 and B-3 zoning districts, but 
limiting Tobacco Stores to require a Special Use. Additionally, clarifying the allowance of Accessory Tobacco Sales in 
the B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5 zoning districts. All other districts would be prohibited.  A footnote can be added to 
accommodate any supplementary regulations the Commission believes should be implemented. 
 

RETAIL USES R-1 thru 
R-7 

B-1 B-2 B-3 B-4 B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Tobacco Store X  X  Sx Sx  X  X X X X 

Accessory Tobacco Sales X A A A A A X X X 
x: Maximum of one (1) Tobacco Store per zoning lot.  Must comply with other Village regulations of tobacco and nicotine related 
products and dealers as outlined in Chapter 120 and Chapter 124.  

Legacy Code Use Chart 
 

The Legacy Code prohibits “Retail sales of tobacco, hookah, cigarette, cigar, e-cigarette, and vapor products as a principal 
use”, and provides a Special Use for “Cigar lounge as a principal use (with or without retail sales as an accessory use”.  Staff 
proposes to change the language to identify Tobacco Stores.  Staff notes that the lounge use is currently limited to 
cigars.  Staff does not propose to expand the lounge use beyond cigars to include hookahs or vaping, but the Village 
may consider it.   
 

Legacy Code Use Legacy Code Allowance 
Tobacco Store Prohibited 
Cigar lounge as a principal use (with or without 
retail sales as an accessory) 

Special Use 

 
Open items for Discussion 
 
Open Item #3: Discuss proposed allowances to permit Accessory Tobacco Sales, require Special Use for Tobacco 
Stores in the B-2 and B-3 zoning districts, and prohibit Tobacco Stores elsewhere, including the Legacy District.  
Discuss any other recommended supplementary requirements. 
 
Open Item #4: Discuss if a maximum of one Tobacco Store per zoning lot is preferred.    
 
Open Item #5: Discuss if a minimum distance between Tobacco Stores is preferred or else left open to consider as 
part of the Special Use review process.  If preferred, discuss the method of measurement to determine distances. 
 
Nonconforming Uses 
 

Existing primary businesses selling tobacco and nicotine-related products will be affected by this proposal.  If they 
become nonconforming upon the adoption of the ordinance, they would be subject to Section VI “Nonconforming 
Uses” of the Zoning Ordinance. This section will allow any existing businesses to continue operation as they exist and 
further are permitted to seek a Special Use to come into conformance with code requirements. However, the 
requirements for a special use and any other supplementary regulations will need to be met by any future businesses. 
Additionally, any sale or transfer of the business to a different owner would require the business to come into 
conformance with the current regulations, including obtaining a Special Use Permit. Staff does not propose any 
unique grandfathering clause nor changes to the nonconforming use allowances. In certain instances, this would 
mean the eventual elimination of the use if located in a way that does not permit a new owner to obtain a Special 
Use. Staff plans on notifying existing businesses of any changes so they are aware of any new requirements going 
forward. 



Project Name – Project Address 
 

Page 7 of 8 

WORKSHOP FOLLOW-UP 
 
Commissioners discussed the proposed definitions and restrictions.  Commissioners noted that this amendment is 
in contrast to Village cannabis regulations which were originally restrictive but recently opened up. Commissioners 
asked what the rationale is for this consideration, and what public good is being advanced and/or protected.  

Staff clarified that this topic was raised by the Village Board for discussion at the September 7th Committee of the 
Whole meeting.  Many communities define tobacco as a zoning use, and that limiting the use helps address it from a 
public health concern.  Staff also noted there has been some business feedback questioning as to why so many 
tobacco shops can be in one area.  The Village does not have any tobacco-related zoning definitions or regulations, 
nor specific tobacco business licensing limitations.  The Village’s Chapter 120 “Comprehensive Regulation of Tobacco 
Products” was most recently amended in 2019 as Ordinance 2019-O-038.  The Village’s recently approved “Adult-Use 
Cannabis Dispensaries” zoning text amendment (Ordinance 2021-O-054) did loosen regulations, however still remains 
still very highly regulated.  The currently proposed tobacco and nicotine related retail use regulations will still be much 
looser than the current adult-use cannabis regulations.   

Overall, the Commissioners felt the proposed definitions look clear and well-stated.  They have logical exclusions such 
as marijuana and cessation products, align with Chapter 120’s percentages, and have a basis in state statute.   A 
Commissioner questioned if there is a fundamental need at all for this amendment, but also commented that based 
on Village Board direction and interest, the restrictions seem reasonable.   The Commissioner noted Village Board 
could have direction based on consistency in regulations or for a public health statement.   

Business performance was also discussed.  One Commissioner opined if a tobacco business is otherwise conforming 
to the Village Ordinances, licensing, being clean, and is in a clustering which they find profitable, then he did not see 
an overwhelming need to step in and overregulate.  Another member noted if this is a one stop shop and business is 
good, and there’s no empty units, then that is a good thing.   

Commissioners also discussed neighboring communities.  One member commented on the consideration of whether 
the Village wishes to regulate comparatively to nearby municipalities either in a similar manner for consistency in 
regulations, or choose to differentiate in order to draw business in.   

Nearby Communities 
 
Currently, the surrounding municipalities regulate tobacco and nicotine-related uses via zoning and or licensing 
regulations, with Village of Orland Park and Village of Frankfort considerably more restrictive than the Village’s current 
regulations (see attachment).  Other neighboring communities like Mokena, Oak Forest, and New Lenox also have 
zoning use regulations that are more restrictive than Tinley Park’s current ordinance.  Thus, the result of all 
neighboring towns having stricter regulations is that more tobacco store businesses have located in Tinley Park and 
have concentrated in certain areas (Will County/183rd St. & 80th Ave.) and neighboring corridors (159th Street with 
Orland Park). Having a high concentration of this type of business is a public health concern and also can affect the 
quality of other businesses within multi-tenant properties. 
 
In addition to minimum distances previously discussed, Village of Orland Park’s licensing regulations adopted earlier 
this year include a maximum cap of 24 Accessory Tobacco Sales licenses and 12 Tobacco Store licenses.  Their 
additional specific regulations stipulate that no signage or business identifying markers or storefront can face certain 
institutions if the minimum distance is due to public right-of-way width.  Additionally, their method of measurement 
is from property lines of the lots or parcels. The Village of Frankfort has a special use requirement and increased 
minimum distances (2,000 ft from other tobacco stores and 1,000 ft from certain institutions, but also considers more 
facilities as “certain institutions”.  “Certain institutions” in both Frankfort and Orland Park’s regulations include schools, 
child care facilities, a business providing education or recreational programs to those under 18 or 21, libraries, 
playgrounds, recreational facilities, parks, youth-oriented facilities, and any facility in which 25% or more persons are 
under age 21 or if there are products or services for those under 21.  Village of Frankfort only allows up to 9 Accessory 
Tobacco Sales and 1 Tobacco Store.  They also have more restrictive definition thresholds distinguishing between 
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Tobacco Stores versus Accessory Tobacco Sales (more than 10% gross revenue or more than 10% gross floor area and 
which sale of other products is merely incidental). 
 
Existing Uses and Distance Requirements 
 
Commissioners also considered existing tobacco business conformity. Existing businesses would be allowed to 
continue while under the same ownership prior to adoption of the amendment. Existing businesses do not need to 
apply to complete any process to continue operation.  However, per section X.J.6. of the Zoning Ordinance, Special 
Uses run with a specific business and not with the land. If the business transfers ownership, they would need to seek 
a Special Use approval at that time.  

Under the proposed amendment of Special Use is a requirement to only permit a maximum of one per zoning lot, If 
there is an existing Special Use or tobacco store on a zoning lot, then a new business would not be able to apply for 
another Special Use in that zoning lot. This will avoid high concentrations of tobacco stores in one shopping center or 
building in the future. Staff also noted that distance requirements from tobacco stores or other uses, while present 
in other communities, is not currently proposed as a regulation. However, these distances may be a point of 
consideration in the Special Use review process depending on the context. There may be other tobacco stores, 
churches, schools, or other sensitive uses nearby.  Having Special Use standards can help analyze the surrounding 
conditions and how the proposed use would impact the area.   

 
MOTION TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to act on the proposed Text Amendment, the appropriate wording of the motion is 
listed below:  

“…make a motion to recommend the Village Board amend various sections of the Zoning Ordinance to as described in the 
November 18, 2021 Staff Report and drafted ordinance amending Section II.B. (Definitions), Section V.B. Schedule 1 (Schedule 
of Permitted Uses – By Use Type), and Section XII, Section 3.A, Table 3.A.2. (Legacy Code - Prohibited Uses) by defining and 
regulating tobacco and nicotine related retail uses to allow Tobacco Stores as a Special Use in the B-2 (Community Shopping) 
and B-3 (General Business & Commercial) zoning districts with a maximum of one per zoning lot, and to allow Accessory 
Tobacco Sales as a permitted use in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping), B-2 (Community Shopping), B-3 (General Business & 
Commercial), B-4 (Office and Service Business), and B-5 (Automotive Service Business) zoning districts.” 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

Description Prepared By 
1 List of Tobacco Dealers with Business License Village Staff 
2 Tobacco/Nicotine Neighboring Communities Comparison Village Staff 

 

















PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
April 21, 2022 – Workshop 
 
Zoning Code Text Amendment – Building Code to Zoning Code Transfer 
(Driveway, Accessory Structure, and Misc. Regulations) 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Building Division has worked to update and amend the Village’s Building Code and 
adopt updated International Code Council (ICC) codes (building, residential, energy, fire, 
etc.) The proposed Building Code changes will not only update the codes to the newest 
2022 versions but also make the regulations more user-friendly. The adoption of the new 
codes and amendments will go to the Village Board on April 19, 2022, and implemented on 
new permits going forward. 
 
As part of the Building Code update review, certain sections have been identified that are 
not typically addressed in a Building Code and are more traditionally regulated by a Zoning 
Code. These items typically do not directly relate to life safety or construction quality and 
are more aesthetic or location-based in nature. They may also have situations that could 
result in the need for a Variation request if there is a unique situation or hardship where a 
code requirement cannot be met. One such section of the Building Code was the exterior 
masonry and building material regulations. These exterior material regulations had some 
more in-depth discussions associated with the changes and were previously reviewed by 
the Plan Commission and moved into the Zoning Ordinance in 2019 (Ord. # 2019-O-074). 
 
The goal of this proposed Zoning Code text amendment is to bring the current regulations 
in the Building Code into an appropriate section of the Zoning Ordinance. However, with a 
few regulations staff has noted some issues and are making small changes or additions that 
would help clarify the regulation’s intent and avoid miscommunication in the future. Any 
proposed changes are meant to be rather simple as to not require too much analysis of the 
potential effects. The most significant changes and clarifications from the current 
regulations are with regards to driveways. Currently, driveways have few controls on size or 
front yard coverage on residential lots. The changes proposed are typical in suburban 
zoning ordinances to maintain attractive streetscapes, keep consistent driveway patterns, 
and avoid stormwater drainage issues in the future from overly large driveways. 
 
Staff has researched and drafted amendments for the Commission’s discussion. Attached 
is an Excel spreadsheet summary of regulations from the Building Code that need to be 
transferred, where they are proposed to be located, and the proposed text. Additionally, 
attached is the existing and proposed (red-lined) versions of Section III (General Provisions) 
and Section VIII (Off-Street Parking and Loading) for the Commission’s review. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Upon completion of a successful Plan Commission Workshop staff will draft an ordinance reflecting the amendments 
as discussed. A Public Hearing has been scheduled for May 5, 2022 at the regular Plan Commission meeting. 
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Section Existing Text Section Proposed Text

211 (Private Detached 

Garages, pg. 34)

Single Family Detached Garages:  Total floor area shall not exceed 720 square feet or 

width shall not exceed 34 feet.

III I. 2. b. The maximum floor area shall be seven hunred and twenty (720) 

square feet, two hundred (200) square feet for a storage shed, 

and four hundred (400) square feet for all other structures. The 

width of any structure shall not exceed 34 feet.

309.A.2. (Garages and 

Carports, pg. 51)

No portion of the structure, including roof overhang or eave, shall project into or over 

any dedicated easement

III.F. and III.H.1. & 2. & 3. 

(Eaves & gutters)  

No portion of the eave, gutter, of roof overhang shall project into 

or over any dedicated easement.

313.B. and C. (Storage 

Utility Sheds, pg. 57-58)

B. Number limited – No more than one (1) storage/utility shed shall be located on any 

residential lot within the Village of Tinley Park.  C. Limitations – No storage/utility shed 

shall exceed two hundred (200) square feet in area, nor exceed fifteen (15) feet in 

height.  No overhead (roll up) doors larger than six (6) feet in width or seven (7) feet in 

height are allowed on storage/utility sheds.

III.I .2.i. Storage Sheds: No more than one (1) storage/utility shed shall be 

located on any residential lot at a maximum of two hundred (200) 

square feet in floor space, and shall not exceed fifteen (15) feet in 

height.  No overhead (roll up) doors larger than six (6) feet in 

width or seven (7) feet in height are allowed on storage/utility 

sheds.

313.D. (Storage Utility 

Sheds)

Placement – A shed should be placed ten feet from the primary structure, with a 

minimum of five (5) feet from same.  

Already existing in Sec. 

III.I.1.

314.I. (Accesory Structure 

Heights)

Maximum height of all accesory Sturctures (other than detached garages) is fifteen 

(15) feet above finished grade.

III.I.1.g. Add "Maximum height of all accessory structures (other than 

detached garages as outlined in the section below) is fifteen (15) 

feet above finished grade."

Other Accessory Structure 

Limits

Not Existing Currently III.I .2.h. No more than one (1) of any type of residential accessory 

structure shall be permitted accept where a second detached 

garage may be permitted in Section III.I.3.

310 A.1. Location of driveways. Driveways shall be located a minimum of one (1) foot from a

common private property line.

III.H.1. (Residential) 

III.H.2. (Commercial) 

III.H.3. (Industrial) -  

Permitted 

Encroachments in 

Required Yards 

ADD: Driveways - "P" (permitted) in front, side or rear yards and 

primary and secondary  front on corner lots. Under "Additional 

Requirements" add: "Must be located a minimum of one (1) foot 

from property line and lead to a permitted parking structure or 

parking facility. For Residential include: "Driveway shall take the 

most direct route from the public right-of-way to the parking 

structure/facility, which may include relocation of curb 

depressions. Alternative driveway paths may only be approved 

with the approval of the Village Engineer and Community 

Development Director." For Commercial and Insutrial include: 

"Driveways may be shared between adjoining properties we an 

approved site plan and cross-access easement recorded".

310 A.4 Driveways shall have a minimum width of ten feet, unless otherwise approved by the 

Building Official. 

III.H.1. (Residential) 

III.H.2. (Commercial) 

III.H.3. (Industrial) -  

Permitted 

Encroachments in 

Required Yards 

ADD Under "Additional Requirements": "Driveways shall have a 

minimum width of ten (10) feet and a maximum width of forty 

(40) feet."
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310 A.4 Driveway can be no greater than thirty (30) foot in the apron at its intersection with 

the Village Right of Way.

III.H.1. (Residential) 

III.H.2. (Commercial) 

III.H.3. (Industrial) -  

Permitted 

Encroachments in 

Required Yards 

ADD Under "Additional Requirements": "Driveways shall be no 

greater than thirty (30) feet in the apron at its intersection with 

the Village Right of Way." For Residential include "...for a total of 

thirty (30) feet..."

310.D.1. All parking areas which are required to be provided by the Village ordinances shall be 

paved with concrete or asphalt paving.

VIII.D.3 (Off Street 

Parkinh - Additional 

Regulations)

ADD (this is for all zoning districts): Approved Surfaces and No 

Loose Stone: All driveways, aprons, and parking areas in all zoning 

districts shall be paved with an  impervious surface such as 

concrete, asphalt paving, or with permeable pavers designed for 

acceptable vehicle usage when approved by the Village Engineer 

and Community Development Director.  Loose stone is a 

prohibited surface for parking or drive aisle areas. Any gravel or 

loose stone areas shall be appropriately paved per the approved 

plans or removed and restored with top soil and turf.

310. D.4. Parking spaces shall comply with the Village Zoning Ordinance and the current edition 

of the Illinois Accessibility Code,  Any parking lot being repaved, seal coated or re-

striped shall comply with the current edition of the Illinois Accessibility Code.

 VIII.A. ADD as A.11. "Accessible Parking: Parking spaces shall comply 

with the current edition of the Illinois Accessibility Code. Any 

parking lot being repaved, seal coated, or re-striped shall comply 

with the current edition of the Illinois Accessibility Code."

315 B.1-3 Brick Mail Boxes - B.Restrictions - Masonry mailbox structures shall not be more than 

24 inches by 24 inches nor shall they be more than five (5) feet in height and shall be 

erected as follows: 

1.	The front edge of the masonry structure shall not be set closer than fifteen (15) 

inches from the rear edge of the curb or within two (2) feet of a Buffalo Box, or within 

10 feet of a fire hydrant.

2.	The front of the mailbox itself shall not be closer than six (6) inches nor further than 

fifteen inches from the rear edge of the curb.

	NOTE: Masonry mailbox structures shall comply with United State Postal Regulations; 

a copy is available in the Building Department.  Incorrect installation of masonry 

mailbox structures could result in the United States Postal Service curtailing mail 

delivery.

3.	There shall be a maximum of two pedestals per address only one of which may 

contain a mailbox.

III.H.1. (Residential only) 

add to chart in 

alphbetical order: brick 

mailbox

ADD as a permitted encroachment in front yard.  Under 

"additional requirements" ADD: "Masonry mailbox shall not be 

larger than 24 inches wide or 24 inches deep or greater than five 

feet in height. The front edge of the masonry structure shall not 

be set closer than fifteen  inches from the rear edge of the curb or 

within two (2) feet of a Buffalo Box, or within 10 feet of a fire 

hydrant. The front of the mailbox shall not be closer than six 

inches nor further than fifteen inches from the rear edge of the 

curb. A maximum of two pedestals per address, only one of which 

may contain a mailbox. Masonry mailbox structures shall comply 

with USP Regulations; a copy is available in the Building 

Department. A permit is required for any decorative or brick mail 

boxes in the public right-of-way and a waiver form must be signed 

by the homeowner with any required document recording fees 

paid by the owner."

Other



316 A,B,C &  E A. Where required: Trash and recycling enclosures shall be provided at all new 

buildings except single family dwelling units. If owner chooses to have a dumpster 

instead of garbage cans this section of the ordinance must be followed.  The enclosed 

area shall be screened on three (3) sides by a wall from view from public streets and 

any abutting properties.  There shall not be any types of enclosures or container in the 

front yard of any building or use including single family attached and detached units.B. 

Construction Materials: Any wall around a dumpster or trash handling area shall be 

constructed in a durable fashion of brick, stone, or other masonry materials with a 

gate opening which will accommodate the pickup of the dumpster by the garbage 

company.The wall shall be constructed of the same building material and in the same 

architectural style as the principal structure.  Gate material must be wood or vinyl 

fencing material.  No chain link fencing is allowed. C. Enclosure Height: Any enclosure 

constructed shall have a height not greater than 6 feet. E.Size of Trash Enclosure. The 

area of a trash enclosure for a site or business shall be sized using dimensions, which 

relate to the size and use of the principal building and as approved by the building 

official.

III.H.1. (Residential) 

III.H.2. (Commercial) 

III.H.3. (Industrial) -  

Permitted 

Encroachments in 

Required Yards 

ADD "Trash and Equipment Enclosure" in alphabetical order to be 

permitted in side and rear yards. Add "Shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure but in no case shall be placed 

within five feet of the property line. Enclosure shall be solid with 

no chain link fencing permitted. Any enclosure constructed shall 

have a height not greater than 6 feet. Enclosures shall comply 

with any approved site plans. See additional regulations within 

Section  III.U.6.j."
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SECTION III 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Except as hereinafter specifically provided, the following general regulations shall apply: 

 

 

A. INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION 

 

In interpreting and applying these regulations, the requirements contained herein are 

declared to be the minimum requirements necessary to carry out the purpose of these 

regulations.  Except as hereinafter provided, these regulations shall not be deemed to 

interfere with, abrogate, annul, or otherwise affect in any manner whatsoever, any 

easements, covenants, or other agreements between parties. Whenever the provisions of 

these regulations impose greater restrictions upon the use of land or buildings, or upon the 

height of buildings, or require a larger percentage of lot to be left unoccupied than the 

provisions of other ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, or any easements, covenants, or 

other agreements between parties, the provisions of these regulations shall govern. 

 

 

B. USE OF LAND OR STRUCTURES 

 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall apply to all properties as hereinafter specifically 

provided: 

 

1.  New and Existing Uses.  No building or structure or land shall hereafter be used or 

occupied and no building or structure or part thereof shall be erected, constructed, 

reconstructed, moved, or altered, except in conformity with the regulations herein 

specified for the district in which it is located; 

 

2. Nonconforming Uses.  Any lawful building, structure, or use existing at the time of the 

enactment of the Zoning Ordinance may be continued, even though such building, 

structure, or use does not conform to the provisions herein for the district in which it is 

located, and whenever a district shall be changed hereafter, the then existing lawful use 

may be continued, subject to the provisions of Section VI; 

 

3. Lot of Record.  A Lot of Record at the time of the adoption of this Ordinance which is 

unable to meet the requirements of this Ordinance as to area and lot width may be used, 

provided it shall meet all the other requirements of this Ordinance.  However, when two 

(2) or more parcels of land, each of which lacks adequate area and dimensions to 

qualify for a Permitted Use under the requirements of the use district in which they are 

located, are contiguous and are held in one ownership, at the time of or subsequent to 

the adoption of this amendment, they shall be used as one zoning lot for such use; and 

 



Zoning Code – Sec. III (General Provisions) Existing Code 2022 Update 

 

Section III − Page 2  

4. Construction in Process.  Where construction of a building or structure has begun 

prior to the effective date of this Ordinance and is being diligently prosecuted to 

completion, said building or structure may be completed in accordance with the 

approved plans on the basis of which the Building Permit was issued, and further may, 

upon completion, be occupied under a Certificate of Occupancy subject to the 

provisions herein set forth in the section pertaining to nonconforming structures and 

uses. 

 

 

C. HEIGHT LIMITATIONS 

 

1. No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally altered 

to exceed the height limit hereinafter established for the district in which the building is 

located, except that penthouses or roof structures for the housing of elevators, stairways, 

tanks, ventilating fans, or similar equipment required to operate and maintain the 

building and fire or parapet walls, skylights, towers, steeples, stage lofts and screens, 

flagpoles, chimneys, smokestacks, individual domestic radio, television aerials and 

wireless masts, water tanks, or similar structures may be erected above the height limits 

when recommended by the Zoning Board of Appeals and approved by the Village 

Board.  No such structure may be erected to exceed by more than fifteen (15) feet the 

height limits of the District in which it is located; nor shall such structure have a total 

area greater than twenty-five (25) percent of the roof area of the building; nor shall such 

structure be used for any residential purpose or any commercial or industrial purpose 

other than a use incidental to the main use of the building.  Provided, however, that all 

buildings in the Zoning Districts established by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the 

Downtown Core District, Downtown Flex District, Downtown General District, 

Neighborhood General District, Neighborhood Flex District, and Civic District) are 

governed by the height provisions of said Legacy Code and are, therefore, exempt from 

the height limitations set forth in this Section III.C.1. 

 

2. Hospitals, institutions, schools, or public utility and service buildings, when permitted 

in a district, may be erected to a height not exceeding sixty (60) feet, provided said 

specified buildings shall be set back from the front, rear, and side lot lines on the ratio 

of two (2) feet for every one (1) foot of building height greater than forty (40) feet; 

provided, however, that said specified requirements shall apply in addition to the other 

requirements for building line setbacks and for rear and side yards specifically set forth 

in this Ordinance.  Provided, however, that all buildings in the zoning districts 

established by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the Downtown Core District, Downtown 

Flex District, Downtown General District, Neighborhood General District, 

Neighborhood Flex District, and Civic District) are governed by the height provisions 

of said Legacy Code and are therefore exempt from the height limitations set forth in 

this Section III.C.2. 

 

3. Planned Unit Developments may exceed the height limits established for the district in 

which the structure is located, provided that the height conforms with the standards and 

requirements set forth in Section VII.C.2.O of this Ordinance. 
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D. LOTS 

 

1. Every building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be located on a lot as herein 

defined, and in no case shall there be more than one principal building on a lot except in a 

Planned Unit Development, or as otherwise provided in this Ordinance. 

   

2. No lot shall hereafter be divided in order to secure one or more additional lots for transfer 

of ownership or establishment of a principal use thereon, unless each lot, resulting from 

such division, shall have the minimum lot area and lot width as required in this Ordinance 

for the district in which the lot is located. 

 

3. Where two (2) or more permitted or Special Uses, each requiring a minimum lot area, are 

provided in the same building or on the same lot, the required lot area shall be the sum of 

the areas required for each use individually. 

 

4. Every dwelling shall be constructed or erected upon a lot or parcel of land which has at 

least twenty (20) feet of frontage abutting upon a public street. 

 

5. Where unique land planning designs are employed in a subdivision or a Planned Unit 

Development to conserve the natural character of the land or to create a functional or 

compatible arrangement of structures or uses, a lot which does not abut upon a public or 

private street may be permitted provided that: 

 

a. Adequate provision is made for free access to the lot for the property owner, or in the 

case of a non-residential lot, for those persons who would normally require access to 

the lot; 

 

b. Adequate provision is made for the unobstructed access of firefighting equipment, 

police protection, rubbish collection, and other governmental services; 

 

c. Adequate provision is made for the extension and maintenance of public and private 

utility services; and 

 

d. The arrangement will not contribute toward congestion in nearby streets as a result of 

delivery services, lack of guest parking, or other reasons. 

 

6. The maintenance of yards, courts, and other open spaces and minimum lot area legally 

required for a building shall be a continuing obligation of the owner of such building or 

of the property on which it is located, as long as the building is in existence. 

 

 

E. YARDS 

 

1. All yards and other open spaces, as required by this Ordinance, shall be located on the 

same lot as the principal structure or use.  No legally required yards, open space, or lot  

areas for any use or structure shall be used to satisfy yard, open space, or lot area 

requirements for any other structure or use. 
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2. On a corner lot, the front lot line shall be the lot line having the shortest dimension along 

the street right-of-way line.  The required front yard setback on corner lots shall apply to 

each side of the lot facing a street. 

 

3. On vacant through lots, the front lot line shall be along the street line designated by the 

Building Inspector except that when a front line has been established on one or more lots 

in the same block and all have front lot lines established along the same street line, the 

street line designated as the front lot line for such lot or lots shall be the front lot line on 

all vacant through lots in such block.  On through lots, only those obstructions permitted 

in this Ordinance in front yards shall be located in that part of a rear yard adjoining a 

street that is equivalent in depth to a required front yard; however, where a no-access 

strip has been provided for such lots on a recorded plat, the Zoning Administrator may 

waive such requirements if, in his judgment, an exception to this requirement would be 

appropriate. 

 

4. No yards allocated to a structure or use existing on the effective date of this Ordinance 

shall be subsequently reduced or further reduced below the yard requirements of this 

Ordinance, except a yard adjoining a street may be reduced in depth in the event and to 

the extent the right-of-way width of such street adjoining such yard is subsequently 

increased. 

 

5. Where fifty (50) percent or more of the frontage on one side of a street between two 

intersecting streets is developed with buildings that have observed (within a variation of 

five (5) feet or less) a front yard greater in depth than required herein, new buildings shall 

not be erected closer to the street than the average front yard so established by the 

existing buildings.  Provided, however, that all building in the zoning districts established 

by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the Downtown Core District, Downtown Flex District, 

Downtown General District, Neighborhood General District, Neighborhood Flex District, 

and Civic District) are governed by the front yard/frontage provisions of said Legacy 

Code and are, therefore, exempt from the frontage/front yard requirements set forth in 

this Section III.E.5. 

 

 

F. REQUIRED SETBACKS 

 

Setback lines shall be maintained on all lots abutting streets and thoroughfares.  The 

minimum setback on lots abutting a street or thoroughfare shall be the distance required for a 

front yard or side yard, adjoining a street, in the district where such lots are located, 

measured from the existing right-of-way line of the street or thoroughfare, or from the 

proposed right-of-way line as designated on the Official Map, and as duly established by 

other Ordinances or as established by county or state highway authorities, whichever has the 

greatest right-of-way width requirements. 

 

Except for incidental uses, no structure shall be constructed on a dedicated public or private 

utility easement, nor shall any structure be constructed so as to encroach upon any easement. 
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G. VISIBILITY REQUIREMENTS − CORNER LOTS 

 

No structure, wall, fence, shrubbery, or trees shall be erected, maintained, or planted on any 

lot which will obstruct the view of the driver of a vehicle approaching an intersection, 

excepting that shrubbery and low retaining walls not exceeding two (2) feet in height above 

the curb level and shade trees where all branches are not less than eight (8) feet above the 

street level will be permitted.  For residential corner lots, this unobstructed area shall be a 

triangular section of land formed by the two street right-of-way lines and a line connecting 

them at points thirty (30) feet from the intersection of said right-of-way. 

 

 

H. PERMITTED ENCROACHMENTS IN REQUIRED YARDS 

 

1.  Residential Zoning Districts: 

 

Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village’s Building Code. 

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards in lots residentially 

zoned (R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-6, and R-7) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

 P P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Athletic courts, including 

but not limited to:  

basketball or tennis 

courts 
  P 

  All athletic court areas shall be subject to 

Village review to ensure the court is 

properly designed, graded, and constructed.  

In no case shall an athletic court be placed 

closer than fifteen (15) feet to any property 

line.  
Awnings and canopies 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

any property line. 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required yard. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Breezeways   P    

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into the required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. 

Fences 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three- and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to:  air conditioning 

units/ shelters, and 

generators 

 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.   

Outdoor fireplaces 

  P  P 

In no case shall an outdoor fireplace be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Patios 
 P P   

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

  P   

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the 

minimum setback.  In no case shall a 

pergola be placed closer than five (5) feet to 

any property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the 

minimum setback.  In no case shall a porch 

or portico be placed closer than five (5) feet 

to any property line. In no case shall 

porches or porticos extend more than fifteen 

(15) feet from the exterior wall. Handrails 

and guardrails shall conform to Village 

Building Code Regulations.  Knee walls 

shall not exceed forty (40) inches in height 

from the porch floor. 

Private swimming pools 

and hot tubs 

  P   

Pools are to be placed in rear yards only.  In 

no case shall a pool be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line, including 

transitional grading, accessory items such as 

pavers or concrete, and equipment. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Sculptures P P P P P  

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trellises 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

 

 

2.   Commercial Zoning Districts: 

 

 Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village’s Building Code. 

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards in lots commercially 

zoned (B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

  P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Awnings, canopies, 

marquees and other 

projections that create 

shaded and protected 

entrances 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

the side or rear property line.  Awnings and 

canopies with signage must conform to the 

Sign Regulations in Section IX. 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into a 

required yard. 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into a required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. 

Fences and walls 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three-and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to; air conditioning units/ 

shelters, and generators 
 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.  Equipment 

shall be screened to comply with the Village 

Landscape Ordinance. 

Patios 
P P P P P 

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a pergola be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a porch or portico 

be placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line.  Handrails and guardrails 

shall conform to Village Building Code 

Regulations.  Knee walls shall not exceed 

forty (40) inches in height from the porch 

floor. 

Projecting blade signs P P P P P See additional regulations in Section IX. 

Sculptures P P P P P  

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trellises P P P P P  

 

 a.   Additional Allowable Encroachments: 

 

In commercially zoned lots (B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5) that front streets or major 

interior access lanes, front yard areas will be primarily used for landscaping and 

other pedestrian-oriented uses including: 

 

(1)  Widened sidewalks and entranceways; 
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(2)  Plazas, outdoor gardens, patios, and outdoor seating areas; 

 

(3)  Water features, including bioswales or other stormwater management elements;   

       and 

 

(4)  Public art or outdoor architectural features like clock towers, pergolas, etc. 

 

It is the intent of this Ordinance to help create a stronger pedestrian scale.  As such, 

in addition to the design elements specifically permitted above, other architectural 

or landscape features not enumerated herein that create a stronger pedestrian 

connection may be permitted to extend into the required yard up to ten (10) feet.  

These encroachments may be approved by the Plan Commission during Site Plan 

Approval. 

 

    3.   Industrial Zoning Districts: 

 
Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and the 

Village’s Building Code.  

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards, in lots industrially zoned 

(ORI, M-1, and MU-1) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

  P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P  P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Athletic courts, including 

but not limited to:  

basketball or tennis 

courts 
  P 

  All athletic court areas shall be subject to 

Village review to ensure the court is 

properly designed, graded, and constructed.  

In no case shall an athletic court be placed 

closer than fifteen (15) feet to any property 

line.  
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Awnings, canopies, and 

other projections that 

create shaded and 

protected entrances 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

the side or rear property line.  Awnings and 

canopies with signage must conform to the 

Sign Regulations in Section IX. 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet in 

front yards. 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into a required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. 

Fences and walls 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three- and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to:  air conditioning 

units/ shelters, and 

generators 

 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.  Equipment 

shall be screened to comply with the Village 

Landscape Ordinance. 

Patios 
P P P P P 

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a pergola be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a porch or portico 

be placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line.  Handrails and guardrails 

shall conform to Village Building Code 

regulations.  Knee walls shall not exceed 

forty (40) inches in height from the porch 

floor.  
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Projecting blade signs P P P P P See additional regulations in Section IX. 

Sculptures P P P P P  

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trellises P P P P P  

 

 

I. ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 

 

 1.   All accessory structures shall be subject to the following: 

 

a. Accessory structures and uses shall be compatible with the principal use; 

 

b. Accessory structures and uses shall not be established prior to the establishment of 

the principal use; 

 

c. Accessory structures which are structurally attached to a main or principal building 

shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and the Village Building Code 

which are applicable to the principal building; 

 

d. Accessory structures shall not be located less than ten (10) feet from a principal 

building unless the accessory structure meets all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village Building Code which are applicable to the principal building; 

 

e. When a side yard is required, no part of any accessory structure shall be located 

closer than five (5) feet to the side lot line along such side yard; and 

f. When a rear yard is required, no part of any accessory structure shall be located 

closer than five (5) feet to the rear lot line or to those portions of the side lot lines 

abutting such required rear yard.   

 

2.   Residential accessory structures serving single- or two-family residences in any 

Residential Zoning District, and all accessory structures in the R-1 through R-5 Zoning 

Districts, inclusive, shall conform to the following: 

 

a.    All conditions of Subsection III.I.1 above must be satisfied; 

 

b.    The maximum floor area shall be seven hundred twenty (720) square feet;  

 

c.    The maximum height shall be eighteen (18) feet to the peak of the structure; 

 

d. The pitch of the roof shall be found by the Zoning Administrator to be 

architecturally compatible with the pitch of the main roof element of the principal 

structure, provided that subsection (c) above shall be met;  
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e. Detached or attached garages and accessory structures shall not be utilized as living 

space; 

 

f. Detached or attached garages and accessory structures shall not be utilized for any 

business related activity; and 

 

g. Detached garages and accessory structures shall not be serviced by water, sanitary 

sewer, or natural gas. 

 

3.   Second detached garages serving single- or two-family residences in any Residential 

Zoning District and in the R-1 through R-5 Zoning Districts, inclusive, shall conform to 

the following: 

 

a. All conditions of Subsections III.I.1 and III.I.2 above must be satisfied for each 

garage; 

 

b. The property must be a minimum of fifteen thousand (15,000) square feet in lot area 

and ninety (90) feet in lot width; and  

 

c. Both garages must be fully accessible by way of a driveway in conformance with 

Section 309 of the Village Building Code. 

 

 

J. FENCE REGULATIONS 

 

1. Permit Required 

 

a. A building permit is required for all work performed in association with the 

construction, alteration, or relocation of a fence except as outlined in Section 

III.J.1.b. 

 

b. Exemptions: The following circumstances do not require a building permit; 

however, they are subject to the regulations within Section III.J.2.: 

 

(1) Repairs of not more than one (1) eight foot (8’) section of fencing per year 

on a legally permitted fence; and 

 

(2) Fences two feet (2’) in height or less. 

 

2. Regulations for All Zoning Districts 

 

a. Location 

 

(1) Permitted Fence Location 
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PERMITTED FENCE LOCATION BY LOT TYPE AND YARD TYPE 

LOT TYPE 
YARD TYPE 

Front/Primary Front Secondary Front Side Rear 

Interior Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Interior Key 

Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Corner Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Reversed 

Corner Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Through Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line. 

See Section 

III.J.3.b. 

Corner 

Through Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line. 

See Section 

III.J.3.b. 

Flag Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

 

(2) Rights-of-Way, Drainage, and/or Utility Easements 

 

(i) No private fences shall be allowed or constructed within public 

street, highway, or alley right-of-ways.  

 

(ii) Fences may, by permit and written approval, be placed on drainage 

and/or public utility easements, so long as the fence does not 

interfere in any way with existing drainage patterns, underground, 

ground, or above-ground utilities.  

 

(iii) Fences shall not obstruct access to utilities. A gate or moveable 

section of fencing may be required. 

 

(iv) The Village or any utility company having authority to use such 

easements shall not be liable for repair or replacement of such 

fences in the event they are moved, damaged, or destroyed by 

virtue of the lawful use of said easement. 



Zoning Code – Sec. III (General Provisions) Existing Code 2022 Update 

 

Section III − Page 14  

 

(3) Clear Vision Triangle: Fences shall not obstruct sight lines and/or cause a 

negative impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. A clear vision triangle 

must be maintained. 

 

b. Materials 

 

(1) Fences shall consist of materials that are found by the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee to be durable and weather resistant. 

Fencing shall be painted, rust-proofed or otherwise protected against 

damage and decay so as to present an orderly appearance. 

 

(2) All fences shall be maintained in good, structurally sound repair and in a 

neat, clean, presentable and attractive condition. 

 

(3) Allowable Materials: 

 

(i) PVC/vinyl 

(ii) Wood 

(iii) Wrought iron 

(iv) Aluminum 

(v) Galvanized steel (open style fencing only) 

(vi) Masonry 

(vii) Chain-link without slats (can be coated or uncoated) 

(viii) Perimeter fencing (stone or concrete) 

(ix) Similar materials, as approved by the Zoning Administrator or their 

designee 

 

(4) Prohibited Materials: 

 

(i) Chain-link with slats  

(ii) Glass and other reflective materials 

(iii) Barbed wire 

 

(5) Orientation of Finished Side: When a fence has a finished or decorative 

side, it shall be oriented to face outward toward adjacent parcels or street 

rights-of-way (away from the interior of the lot upon which the fence is 

erected). 

 

(6) Fencing shall not have sharp edges. 

 

(7) Fencing shall be uniform in color. 

 

c. Maximum Height (see graphic) 

 

(1) Top of Posts: six feet, six inches (6’6”) when measured from grade. 
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(2) Top of Panel: six feet (6’) when measured from grade. 

 

(3) Spacing Between Grade and Bottom of Panel: maximum of six inches 

(6”). 

 

  
 

 

3. Administrative Approvals: The Zoning Administrator or their designee may grant 

administrative approval for a fence in the following circumstances: 

 

a. Secondary Front Yard  

 

(1) A fence within a secondary front yard may be permitted to encroach up to 

ten feet (10’) into the required front yard setback, provided that: 

 

(i) The property is within a residential zoning district (R-1, R-2, R-3, 

R-4, R-5, R-6, & R-7); 

 

(ii) The fence meets all material requirements within Section III.J.2.b.; 

however, the fence cannot be chain-link; and 

 

(iii) The fence must be a maximum height of five feet, six inches (5’6”) 

at the top of the posts and five feet (5’) at the top of the panel when 

measured from grade; 

 

(iv) The fence must be open style and have a minimum of fifty percent 

(50%) open space between the rails and posts; 

 

(v) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles; and 

 



Zoning Code – Sec. III (General Provisions) Existing Code 2022 Update 

 

Section III − Page 16  

(vi) The fence cannot abut a neighboring front/primary front yard (see 

graphics). 

 
Graphic: Prohibited Fence Location in Secondary Front Yard 

 

 
Graphic: Allowable Fence Location in Secondary Front Yard 

 

 

(2) In the instance that a residential structure is nonconforming to the required 

front yard setback, a fence may be permitted to encroach into the required 

front yard setback to align with the established setback of the residential 

structure, provided that: 

 

(i) The fence meets all provisions within Section III.J.2.b. and III.J.2.c.; 

and 
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(ii) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. 

b. Through Lot 

 

(1) A fence may be permitted to be constructed along a property line that 

directly abuts a public right-of-way or private street if the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee determines that the lot line should be 

considered a side or rear lot line based on the adjacent established 

development pattern, provided that: 

 

(i) The fence meets all provisions within Section III.J.2.b. and III.J.2.c.; 

and 

 

(ii) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. 

 

4. Temporary Fences 

 

a. Temporary fences may be authorized by the Zoning Administrator or their designee 

for the purposes of securing or enclosing an area for a limited period of time (ex. 

construction sites, special events, and unsafe structures). 

 

5. Nonconforming Fences: Fences existing at the time of the enactment of this Section 

III.J., or any amendment thereto, or at the time of annexation to the Village of the 

property on which they are located and not conforming to the provisions of this Section 

III.J., shall be regarded as nonconforming fences – either a legal nonconforming fence 

or an illegal nonconforming fence. 

 

a. Legal Nonconforming Fences: Fences constructed with a permit on file with the 

Village. Minor ordinary repairs and maintenance (not exceeding repair on one (1) 

eight foot (8’) wide section of fencing per year) may be completed on such fence. 

Nonconforming fences shall not be changed or altered in any manner that would 

increase the degree of its nonconformity or structurally altered to prolong its useful 

life. 

 

b. Illegal Nonconforming Fences: Fences constructed without a permit. Such fences 

shall be immediately removed by the property owner or a variation (in accordance 

with Section X.G. of the Zoning Ordinance) must be obtained. 

 

6. Appeals and Variations: If the Zoning Administrator or their designee denies a fence as 

proposed, the Petitioner may appeal the denial before the Zoning Board of Appeals as 

outlined within Section X.F. of the Zoning Ordinance. A Petitioner may also submit a 

request for a variation as outlined within Section X.G. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 

K. TEMPORARY BUILDINGS 
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Temporary buildings for construction purposes may be allowed in any zoning district for a 

period not to exceed the completion date of such construction.   

 

 L. FLOODPLAIN AREAS 

 

No building shall be erected in areas subject to flooding, as determined in the floodplain 

maps (Tinley Park Quadrangle) of the Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission, unless 

suitable provisions for drainage are approved and constructed in accordance with the 

requirements of the Village’s Floodplain Ordinance - Ordinance No. 73-0-003. 

 

 

 M. USES NOT SPECIFICALLY PERMITTED IN DISTRICTS 

 

When a use is not specifically listed in the sections devoted to permitted uses, such uses are 

hereby expressly prohibited, unless by written decision of the Zoning Administrator it is 

determined that said use is similar to and not more objectionable than other uses listed.  

Such uses may then be permitted. 

 

 

 N.   EXEMPTIONS 

 

The regulations of this Ordinance do not specify or regulate the type or location of poles, 

towers, wires, cables, conduits, vaults, laterals, pipes, mains, valves, and other similar 

distributing equipment; regulator and compressor stations, and the underground storage of 

gas from a public utility or a natural gas company including facilities and exploratory and 

operating wells; or a public utility or natural gas company for telephone or other 

communications, electric power, gas, water, and sewer lines, provided that installation shall 

conform with rules and regulations of the applicable administrative authorities nor the 

location, use or occupancy of publicly-owned land, structures or installations of any kind 

whatsoever. 

 

 

O.     OPEN STORAGE AND OUTDOOR SALES DISPLAYS 

 

            1.  Open Storage: 

  

a. The purpose and intent of the regulations established herein is to provide 

development and environmental performance standards for controlling the 

development and use of open storage areas so that such uses can be established and 

operated in the Village of Tinley Park without adversely affecting neighboring 

development or existing environmental conditions; and 

 

b.  All open storage, as defined in Section II, shall be subject to the following: 

 

       General Requirements: 
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(1) Zoning Districts Allowed:  The following table shall govern the zoning districts 

in which open storage is allowed and to what level: 

 

 
Level R-1 through R-7 B-1 through B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Level 1 X X P P P 

Level 2 X X S P P 

Level 3 X X X S S 

Level 4 X X X X X 

 
             P = Permitted (with conditions)     S = Special Use     X = Prohibited 

 

Open storage requests that require a Special Use Permit should refer to Section 

X.J of the Village’s Zoning Ordinance regarding the Special Use application 

process. 

 

(2) Location:  Open storage shall not be located in any front or corner side yard.  No 

open storage shall be permitted to occur in areas designated for parking, 

driveways, or walkways;  

 

(3) Maximum Lot Coverage:  The following table shall govern the maximum lot 

area for the use of open storage within zoning districts: 

 

 
Level R-1 through R-7 B-1 through B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Level 1 X X 15% 30% 30% 

Level 2 X X 15% 30% 30% 

Level 3 X X X 30% 30% 

Level 4 X X X X X 

 

         X = Prohibited 

 

(4) Proximity to Residential Zones:  If a Residential District abuts the property, the 

open storage area shall be set back from the property line on such side a 

minimum of fifty (50) feet in addition to the mandatory screening enumerated 

below. 

 

(5) Screening:   

 

(A)  Fence: 

 

(i)  Material:  Shall be constructed in compliance with Section 311.C.1 of the 

Village Building Code; 

 

(i.a)  Chain link fencing to be concealed with landscaping, and placed on 

the exterior side of the fence to conceal from the street side or 

residential neighborhoods; 
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(ii) Opacity:  Shall be a solid, one hundred (100) percent opaque wall or 

fence.  Chain link fencing may be used in conjunction with landscaping 

to achieve one hundred (100) percent opacity if approved by the Village; 

 

 

(iii) Height:  Shall be a minimum of six (6) feet and maximum of eight (8) 

       feet in height measured from ground level to the top of the fence; and 

 

(iv) Gate/Doors:  Shall be visually consistent with the fence or wall and   

       secured. 

 

(B)  Landscape: 

 

(a)  Refer to §158.18.12 of the Village Landscape Ordinance for open 

storage landscaping requirements. 

 

(6)   Environmental Performance: 

 

(A) Nuisance:  All open storage shall be in compliance with the nuisance 

regulations enumerated in Title IX, Chapter 98 of the Tinley Park Municipal 

Code; 

 

(B) Stormwater Runoff:  Fertilizers, pesticides, and any other agent which could 

potentially pose a threat to water quality shall be properly stored in containers 

that prevent the infiltration of these agents into the stormwater system; 

 

(C) Windborne Agents:  The open storage of materials which have a tendency to 

become windborne such as powder, grain, stone, sand, salt, and coal is 

prohibited unless securely covered and contained; 

 

(D) Organic Materials:  Any open storage of decomposed, fetid, or putrescent 

matter shall be removed and disposed of if determined to be a nuisance, and in 

such manner as not to cause a nuisance and to avoid the unnecessary raising of 

dust or noxious material; 

 

(E) Lighting:  Any lighting of open storage areas shall be directed in a manner as 

to prevent spillover onto surrounding properties; and 

 

(F) Subject to Inspection:  Any open storage shall be subject to inspection by the 

Fire Prevention Bureau as enumerated in Ch. VII, Sec. 700.A.1 of the Village 

Building Code. 

 

          2.    Level 1 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements: 
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a. A dimensioned sketch or drawing of the proposed location of the open storage area 

and any additional alterations to the site; 

 

b. Fencing specifications including height, material, color, and style; 

 

c. Location, quantity, size, and type of proposed landscaping on a Site Plan, showing its 

relation to other site features such as utilities and easements; and 

 

d. Description of materials to be stored. 

 

Approval:   

 

a. Subject to review by the Building and Planning Departments. 

 

Conditions of Operation: 

 

a. Shall be stored in the rear of the property not in a public drainage and utility 

easement or in an area that will negatively impact overland drainage; and  

 

b. Level 1 Open Storage is intended to allow for vehicles or equipment essential to the 

day-to-day operation of a business.  Vehicles exceeding eight thousand (8,000) 

pounds or equipment not essential to business operations shall be excluded from 

Level 1 Open Storage. 

 

  3.    Level 2 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements:   

 

a. A dimensioned sketch or drawing of the proposed location of the open storage area 

and any additional alterations to the site; 

 

b. Fencing specifications including height, material, color, and style; 

 

c. Location, quantity, size, and type of proposed landscaping on a Site Plan, showing its 

relation to other site features such as utilities and easements; and  

 

d. Description of materials to be stored. 

 

Approval: 

 

a. Subject to review by the Building and Planning Departments. 

 

4.   Level 3 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements for Site Plan Approval Application: 
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a. A Special Use Permit application that fulfills the provisions within Section X.J of the 

Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

 

b. Description of materials to be stored. 

     

     

Approval: 

 

a. All Level 3 Open Storage areas shall be subject to Site Plan and Special Use Permit 

approvals.  A Site Plan Approval application must be reviewed and approved by the 

Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission.  A Special Use Permit application must be 

reviewed by the Plan Commission and receive approval by the Village Board. 

 

           5.   Level 4 Open Storage:   

 

Conditions of Operation: 

 

a. Shall be prohibited within all zoning districts.  The storage of junk, used lumber, or 

metal, refuse, scrap, disabled, or damaged motor vehicles not awaiting immediate 

repair, must be accommodated within a structure and in compliance with all other 

Village Code requirements. 

  

Exemptions: 

 

a. The provisions and regulations of this Section III.N.1 shall not apply to 

governmental service uses. 

 

6.  Outdoor Sales Display Standards: 

 

a. Intent: The intent of the Outdoor Sales Display Standards is to permit the use of 

outdoor areas for display and sales of merchandise, but to ensure that such displays 

are sensitive to the character of the Village and do not jeopardize the health, safety, 

and welfare of the people within the Village of Tinley Park. Outdoor sales display 

areas shall be categorized as Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 in accordance with the 

regulations within this Section. 

 

b. Applicability:  

 

(1) Outdoor areas that a business or organization wants to use on a regular or 

seasonal basis for outdoor sales displays shall meet the regulations within this 

Section.  

 

(2) This Section does not include outdoor sales display related to automotive 

dealerships. 

 

c. Requirements for Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display: 
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(1) Description of Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of seasonal gardening goods or special sales. These 

displays may include, but are not limited to: sale of potted plants, mulch, 

clothes racks, and small product display racks. 

 

(2) Approval: 

(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be 

submitted to the Community Development Department prior to 

displaying products outside. The submittal shall include the 

following: 
(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Zoning Administrator or their designee shall review the 

application and determine if the criteria within this Section have 

been met. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 1 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
 

(3) Location: 

 

(A) Zoning: 

(i) Outdoor sales displays are limited to non-residential properties and 

mixed-use properties. 

 

(B) Accessibility:  

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall not block any accessibility ramp, 

parking space, door, fire hydrant, drive aisle, or driveway. 

(ii) A minimum of thirty-six inches (36”) shall be maintained for 

sidewalks and pedestrian ways in front of the outdoor sales display 

area. 

 

(C) Setbacks: 

(i) Front Yard: An outdoor display area can encroach up to five feet 

(5’) into the required front yard setback standard identified in the 

applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

(ii) Side and Rear Yards: An outdoor display area shall meet the 

accessory structure side yard and rear yard setback standard 

identified in the applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

(D) Proximity to Primary Structure: 
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(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be fifteen feet (15’) or less from 

the façade of the primary structure. 

 

(E) Placement: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be located at grade level and 

shall not be allowed on top of the roof. 

(ii) An outdoor sales display shall not create any visibility hazard or 

obstruction to vehicles or pedestrians. 

(iii) An outdoor sales display area shall be located on the same parcel as 

the principal structure. 

 

(4) Size: 

 

(A) Maximum Area:  

(i) The cumulative area of all Level 1 outdoor displays shall not exceed 

twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the tenant space 

to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

(ii) If the tenant has both Level 1 and Level 2 displays: The total 

combined area of all Level 1 and Level 2 outdoor display areas shall 

not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the 

tenant space to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

 

(B) Maximum Height:  

(i) Products displayed outside the principal structure shall not exceed 

ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(5) Time for Display: 

 

(A) Outdoor sales displays for seasonal garden items shall occur only 

between April 15th and October 15th of each year, unless otherwise 

approved in writing by the Zoning Administrator or their designee. 

 

(B) Outdoor sales displays for special sales may be displayed for up to seven 

(7) days at a time and shall be allowed up to six (6) times per year; 

however, there must be at least three (3) weeks between special sale 

displays. 

 

(C) Outdoor sales displays shall only be displayed outside the tenant space 

during the business or organization’s hours of operation, unless otherwise 

approved in writing by the Zoning Administrator or their designee. 

 

d. Requirements for Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display: 

 
(1) Description of Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of year-round goods that are subordinate and customarily 

incidental to the principal use. These displays may include, but are not limited to: 

propane, ice, and vending machines. 

 

(2) Approval:  
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(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be submitted 

to the Community Development Department prior to displaying products 

outside. The submittal shall include the following: 

(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Zoning Administrator or their designee shall review the application 

and determine if the criteria within this Section have been met. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 2 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
 

(3) Location: 

 

(A) Zoning: 

(i) Outdoor sales displays are limited to non-residential properties and 

mixed-use properties. 

 

(B) Accessibility:  

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall not block any accessibility ramp, 

parking space, door, fire hydrant, drive aisle, or driveway. 

(ii) A minimum of thirty-six inches (36”) shall be maintained for 

sidewalks and pedestrian ways in front of the outdoor sales display 

area. 

 

(C) Setbacks: 

(i) Front Yard: An outdoor display area can encroach up to five feet 

(5’) into the required front yard setback standard identified in the 

applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

(ii) Side and Rear Yards: An outdoor display area shall meet the 

accessory structure side yard and rear yard setback standard 

identified in the applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

(D) Proximity to Primary Structure: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be fifteen feet (15’) or less from 

the façade of the primary structure. 

 

(E) Placement: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be located at grade level and 

shall not be allowed on top of the roof. 

(ii) An outdoor sales display shall not create any visibility hazard or 

obstruction to vehicles or pedestrians. 

(iii) An outdoor sales display area shall be located on the same parcel as 

the principal structure. 
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(4) Size:  

 

(A) Maximum Area:  

(i) The cumulative area of all Level 2 outdoor displays shall not exceed 

twenty percent (20%) of the tenant frontage of the tenant space to 

which the outdoor display area is associated. 

(ii) If the tenant has both Level 1 and Level 2 displays: The total 

combined area of all Level 1 and Level 2 outdoor display areas shall 

not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the 

tenant space to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

 

(B) Maximum Height:  

(i) Products displayed outside the principal structure shall not exceed 

ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(5) Time for Display:  

 

(A) Due to the nature of these types of goods, the display shall be permitted 

permanently unless otherwise noted in writing by the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee. 

 

e. Requirements for Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display: 

 
(1) Description of Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of goods that do not meet the regulations within the Level 1 or 

Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display herein and are subject to Staff review and Plan 

Commission review on a case-by-case basis. These displays may include, but are not 

limited to: large products or equipment, appliances, seasonal recreational items 

(pools, play equipment, etc.), accessory structures (sheds, gazebos, etc.) or display of 

building materials (fencing, pavers, etc.). 

 

(2) Approval:  

 

(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be submitted 

to the Community Development Department prior to displaying products 

outside. The submittal shall include the following: 

(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Village Planner or their designee shall review the application and 

present the information to the Plan Commission for approval. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 3 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
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(3) Location: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

(4) Size: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

(5) Time for Display: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

f. Signage: 

 

(1) Any signage affiliated with an Outdoor Sales Display is subject to the 

regulations within Section IX of the Zoning Ordinance, as amended from 

time to time. 

 

g. Appeals: 

 

(1) Outdoor Sales Displays not meeting the regulations herein for Level 1 or 

Level 2 shall be automatically considered Level 3 and subject to Staff Review 

and Plan Commission Review. 

 

(2) If the Plan Commission denies the Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display request, 

then the Applicant may appeal the Commission’s decision to the Village 

Board. 

 

h. Penalty: 

 

(1) Outdoor sales displays without permits must be removed immediately upon 

notice of the violation. 

 

(2) If an outdoor sales display is exhibited without a permit, then the business 

owner is subject to a fine equal to double the permit fee and a permit still 

must be obtained. 

 

 

 P. PORTABLE STORAGE DEVICES 

 

1. Portable storage container units and devices shall include all types of storage devices and 

enclosed trailers with or without wheels. 

 

2. Portable storage devices shall not be stored on any public street, alley, or public right-of-

way in any zoning district. 
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3. Portable storage devices shall be maintained in good repair, structurally sound, and free 

from any graffiti or peeling paint. 

 

4. Portable storage devices shall require a Temporary Use Permit, and shall be subject to 

the following regulations: 

 

Residential Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device, not exceeding outside dimensions of 

twelve (12) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height, shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Residential Zoning Districts for no more than fourteen 

(14) days per calendar year, provided they are placed on and do not extend beyond a 

driveway surface and do not encroach across any public sidewalk or across any 

property line. 

  

Commercial Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device not exceeding outside dimensions of 

forty (40) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Commercial Zoning Districts for no more than thirty 

(30) days per calendar year.  Such devices shall be placed on an impervious surface 

of concrete or asphalt, and shall not be located in any required parking space or drive 

aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance, or within any area that 

hinders access to parking spaces and/or drive aisles.  Such storage devices shall not 

be stacked.  Requests for more than one (1) such device require submission of a Site 

Plan for review and approval by the Zoning Administrator or his designee, prior to 

placing the units on the zoning lot. 

 

Industrial Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device not exceeding outside dimensions of 

forty (40) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Industrial Zoning Districts for no more than sixty 

(60) days per calendar year.  Such devices shall be placed on an impervious surface 

of concrete or asphalt, and shall not be located in any required parking space or 

drive aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance, or within any area 

that hinders access to parking spaces and or access aisles.  Such storage devices 

shall not be stacked.  Such storage devices must be screened from view on all sides.  

Requests for more than one (1) such device require submission of a Site Plan for 

review and approval by the Zoning Administrator or his designee, prior to placing 

the units on the zoning lot: 

 

b. No more than two (2) semi-trailers, with or without tractors, can be stored outside 

of a loading dock for loading and unloading of goods or materials, for more than 

five (5) days; and 

 

c. Portable storage container units cannot be stacked. 
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Q. COLLECTION/DONATION DEVICES AND BOXES  

 

1.   Collection/donation devices (boxes) shall be prohibited within the Village of Tinley 

Park except as provided below: 

 

a. An application letter and dimensioned Site Plan must be submitted for the approval 

by the Zoning Administrator or his designee.  In the event this letter is being 

submitted by persons other than the owner of the subject property, a letter of 

authorization from the property owner must also accompany the application request;   

 

b. The collection/donation device must be manned during normal business hours seven 

(7) days per week; and 

 

c. The collection/donation device may not be located within any required parking 

space or drive aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 

R.  PARKING OF VEHICLES IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

 

1.  The parking of vehicles in all Residential Zoning Districts shall comply with the 

following regulations: 

 

a. Whenever a structure is erected, converted, or structurally altered for dwelling use, a 

minimum number of parking spaces shall be provided on the lot for each dwelling 

unit on the lot as required by Section VIII.A.10 of this Zoning Ordinance; 

 

b. No vehicle shall be parked between the street and the front lot line.  Parking of 

vehicles between the front line of any portion of the building and the front lot line 

shall be limited to private passenger automobiles not exceeding three-quarter (3/4) 

ton, except as specifically provided for elsewhere in this Ordinance; 

 

c. No unlicensed, unregistered (Village sticker), or inoperable vehicle shall be 

permitted on any residential property for more than twenty-four (24) hours, unless it 

is in an enclosed garage; and 

 

d. In Residential Zoning Districts, the following vehicles and equipment shall be 

stored only in a garage or fully enclosed structure: 

 

i. Any truck or other type of commercial vehicle or equipment in excess of 

eight thousand (8,000) pounds; 

 

ii. Vehicles requiring a Class D truck plate; and 

 

iii. Trailers in excess of three thousand (3,000) pounds or requiring a Class TA 

trailer plate. 
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e. No vehicle used for transporting flammable liquids, explosives, toxic, or noxious 

materials shall be parked or stored in a Residential Zoning District; 

 

f. Nothing in the provisions of this Ordinance shall be construed to prohibit trucks or 

other service vehicles from being parked on the premises temporarily for purposes 

of making deliveries or rendering service to the property owner; 

 

g. It shall be unlawful for any person to occupy or use any recreational vehicle for 

living or sleeping purposes upon any street, alley, lane, highway, municipal off-

street parking lot, or other public place or upon any lot, piece, parcel, or tract of land 

within the Village of Tinley Park, except within a lawfully established and licensed 

recreational park, campground, or other like facility which is designed and equipped 

to operate for the purpose of providing temporary accommodations for such units, 

or as provided for hereinafter in Item h(5); and 

 

h. In all Residential Zoning Districts, it is permissible to park a recreational vehicle, 

trailer, or boat and trailer in the following manner: 

 

(1) Parking is permitted inside any enclosed structure, which structure otherwise 

conforms to the zoning requirements of the particular zone where located; 

 

(2) Parking is permitted outside in the side yard or rear yard provided it is not nearer 

than two (2) feet to the lot line;  

 

(3) Parking is permitted outside on a driveway, provided: 

 

i. Space is not available in the rear yard or side yard, or there is no reasonable 

access to either the side yard or rear yard; a corner lot is always deemed to 

have reasonable access to the rear yard; a fence is not necessarily deemed to 

prevent reasonable access; 

 

ii. Inside parking is not possible; and 

 

iii. The unit is parked perpendicular to the front curb. 

 

(4) No part of the unit may extend over the public sidewalk or public thoroughfare 

(right-of-way); 

 

(5) Parking is permitted only for storage purposes, and any recreational vehicle or 

trailer shall not be: 

 

i. Used for dwelling purposes except one unit for overnight sleeping of visitors 

for a maximum of three (3) days in any one calendar year.  Cooking is not 

permitted at any time; butane or propane fuel shall not be used, and the host 

shall receive no compensation for such parking; 
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ii. Permanently connected to sewer lines, water lines, or electricity.  The 

recreational vehicle may be connected to electricity temporarily for charging 

of batteries and other purposes provided the receptacle and connection from 

the recreational vehicle has been inspected and approved by the Village.  

This connection must meet the Electrical Code of the Village, and an 

Electrical Permit must be obtained for all such installations; and 

 

iii. Used for storage of goods, materials, or equipment other than those items 

considered to be a part of the unit or essential for its immediate use. 

 

 

(6) Notwithstanding the provisions of Item 3, above, for purposes of active loading 

and unloading, a recreational vehicle may be parked anywhere on the premises 

normally deemed as parking space for private passenger automobiles; and the 

use of electricity or propane fuel is permitted when necessary to prepare a 

recreational vehicle for use; 

 

(7) Subject to the exceptions set forth herein, it shall be unlawful for any owner, 

lessee, or occupant of any lot, piece, parcel, or tract of land within the Village of 

Tinley Park, whether for gain, hire, reward, or gratuity, or otherwise, to permit 

the same to be occupied or used by any vehicle for living or sleeping purposes; 

and 

 

(8) Nothing in the provisions of this Ordinance shall be construed to prohibit the 

owner or operator of any recreational vehicle from parking or storing said unit 

upon premises owned, leased, or otherwise lawfully occupied or used by him, so 

long as such unit is not occupied or used for living or sleeping purposes in 

violation of the provisions of this section of the Ordinance, or any other 

applicable ordinance or regulation of the Village of Tinley Park. 

 

 

S.  PARKING OF VEHICLES IN BUSINESS DISTRICTS 

 

 The parking of vehicles in all business districts shall comply with the following regulations: 

 

1. The parking regulations for dwellings are the same as those in the Residential Zoning 

Districts; 

 

2. Where any structure is erected, reconstructed, or converted for any of the business 

purposes permitted in this Section, there shall be provided parking spaces in the ratio of 

not less than one (1) parking space for each one hundred fifty (150) square feet of floor 

space in the building which is used for commercial purposes.  Such parking space may 

be located on the same lot as the building or on an area within three hundred (300) feet 

of the building.  Two (2) or more owners of buildings may join together in providing 

this parking space; 

 

3. Outside parking or storage of any abandoned, damaged, inoperable, dismantled, or 
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unregistered vehicles for more than forty-eight (48) hours shall be prohibited in all 

automobile service stations; and 

4. Parking of trailers or trucks not registered to the business is prohibited, except when 

located in an enclosed area that is adequately screened from public view. 

 

 

T.  REGULATION OF TRAFFIC AND PARKING ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 

 

1. Any condominium development, apartment house, or apartment project containing ten 

(10) or more dwelling units shall enter into a contract with the Village that will permit 

the Police Department of Tinley Park to regulate traffic and access to the driveways and 

parking areas which are open to or used by the public, tenants, owners, guests, and 

employees.  A written request by the owner or developer of the specific property shall 

be filed with the Village Clerk prior to the issuance of any Building Permits. 

 

2. Any owner of any shopping center, business establishment, hospital, or school shall 

enter into a contract with the Village that will permit the Police Department of Tinley 

Park to regulate the parking of automobiles and the traffic at such parking areas.  A 

written request by the owner or developer of the specific property shall be filed with the 

Village Clerk prior to the issuance of any Building Permits. 

 

3. All regulations adopted and traffic control devices employed by the Village in the 

regulation of traffic on private drives and parking areas, or the parking of automobiles 

in parking lots of shopping centers, business establishments, apartment complexes or 

schools shall be consistent with the statutory provisions contained in chapter 95-1/2, 

Section 11-209 and 209.1 of the Illinois Municipal Code. 

 

 

U. SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 

No Building Permit shall be issued for the construction or alteration of any multi-family 

residence, business, office, or industrial building or structure until a Site Plan and 

Architectural Review has been reviewed by the Planning Department Staff and if required, 

approved by the Plan Commission. The filing fee for new site plan reviews and 

amendments (building additions, parking changes, landscape changes, architectural 

changes, etc.) shall be as adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special Ordinances, Table XI). 

 

The Planning Department Staff shall review the site and architectural plans for 

conformance with this Ordinance and other Codes and Ordinances of the Village, and if 

required, shall make a report with recommendations to the Plan Commission. Plan 

Commission review is required if the proposed development requires zoning approval 

(Variation, Rezoning, Special Use Permit, Map Amendment, or Plat approval). For projects 

requiring Plan Commission review, after receiving the report of the Planning Department 

Staff, the Plan Commission shall approve the Site and Architectural Plans, with or without 

conditions, deny it, or refer it back to the Planning Department Staff for further study. 
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     1.  Site Plan Contents: 

 

 A Site Plan shall: 

 

a. Be drawn at a scale of 1" = 50' or larger; 

b. Show boundaries and dimensions graphically, contain a written legal description 

of the property, and indicate the date and north point; 

c. Show the present and proposed topography of the area by contour lines at one (1) 

foot intervals; 

d. Show, by use of directional arrow, the proposed flow of storm drainage from the 

site; 

e. Show the location of existing and proposed structures and indicate the number of 

stories, gross floor area, and entrances to all structures; 

f. Show the location and dimensions of existing and proposed curb cuts, aisles, off-

street parking, loading spaces, and walkways; 

g. Indicate location, height, and material for screening walls and fences; 

h. List the type of surfacing and base course proposed for all parking, loading, and 

walkway areas; 

i. Describe the proposed use of the site and list the number of required off-street 

parking spaces.  If the exact use is not known at the time of Site Plan submittal, 

off-street parking requirements shall be calculated by the general use group using 

the greatest off-street parking requirement of that use group; 

j. Show the proposed location, indicate direction, and list amount of illumination of 

proposed lighting facilities; and 

k. Show location of each outdoor trash storage area. 

 

    2.      Architectural Plan Contents:  

 

An Architectural Plan shall: 

 

a. Be drawn at a scale of 1/8”=1’ 0” or larger; 

b. Provide exterior elevations of all sides of the proposed structure with dimensions; 

c. Identify all building materials along with their specifications; and 

d. Provide building samples as requested by staff. 

 

 3.        Conditions of Approval: 

 

If Plan Commission review is required, the Planning Department Staff shall first find 

that  the following conditions have been met: 

 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is     

located; 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, 

landscaping, and drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses; 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within 

the site provides for safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only 
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within the site but on adjacent roadways as well; 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site; 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and 

perimeter (including public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed 

development will be in harmony with adjacent land uses and will provide a 

pleasing appearance to the public.  Any part of the Site Plan area not used for 

buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture 

of grass, trees, and shrubs;  

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened; and  

g. That staff has reviewed the Architectural Plans against the Architectural and Site 

Design Standards and found them to be in general conformance. 

 

4.  Assurance of Performance:   

 

      At the recommendation of the Plan Commission, the Village Board may require the 

applicant to file with the Village Clerk a performance bond as a condition of approval to 

ensure completion of approved landscaping, fencing, off-street parking and loading, 

drainage, and other specific items of the Site and/or Architectural Plans. The amount of 

the performance bond shall be determined by the Village Board.  If, upon inspection of the 

completed project it is found that the conditions of the Site and/or Architectural Plans 

have been met, the performance bond shall be released to the applicant.  If the applicant 

does not comply within a reasonable time with the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans, the Village Clerk shall give written notice to the applicant and the 

bonding company.  (Reasonable time shall be determined by the life of the performance 

bond as stated thereupon, less sixty (60) days.)  If the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans have not been met thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the 

performance bond, the Village shall bring such action as is necessary to ensure completion 

of the Site and/or Architectural Plan conditions.  However, if the applicant can show that 

he has tried to the utmost of his ability to meet the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans within the time period allotted, but that adversities not of his making 

have been the cause of his failure to meet the Site and/or Architectural Plan conditions, the 

Village Board may require that the performance bond be extended for a specified period of 

time. 

 

5.  Time Limitation:  

 

If no Building Permit is issued for the site within one (1) year from the date of 

Site/Architectural Plan Approval, the Site/Architectural Plan shall become null and void. 

  

6.  Architectural and Site Design Standards: 

 

These design standards serve as a tool to encourage good architectural and site design that 

is cost effective yet contributes in a positive way to the overall quality aesthetic of Tinley 

Park.  In addition to addressing architecture, building materials, and site design, the 

Village regulates landscape and lighting design through the Zoning Ordinance and 

Municipal Code. The Architectural and Site Design Standards shall be used in tandem with 

these other design regulations. 
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The following standards do not prescribe a certain architectural style; their intent is to 

encourage architects and builders to fill the gap between general planning policies and 

specific zoning standards and encourage creative interpretation by developers and 

architects, resulting in a design that exceeds minimal standards. Buildings should be 

attractive and memorable for all the right reasons; quality architecture remains the best 

signage for any business.  

 

The following design standards apply to all non-residential development (including multi-

family developments of 3 or more units): 

 

 

Architecture 

 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials 

(Section V.C. Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry 

walls (with face or thin brick inlay) are allowed vertical articulation features are 

encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must incorporate architectural 

finishes that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. Cast in 

place concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 

15% per façade) provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the 

appearance if used on large, blank walls.  

 

b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide 

architectural interest on all sides of the structure. Whatever architectural style is chosen, 

a consistent style of architectural composition and building materials are to be applied to 

all building facades.  

 

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or 

renovation of an existing structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, 

adjacent structures, and streetscape. Avoid architecture or building materials that 

significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the rhythm of the block in 

terms of scale, massing, and setback. Where a development includes outlots they shall be 

designed with compatible and consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site 

lighting, landscaping, and architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement 

throughout the development.  

 

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be 

used for purposes of “attention-getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices 

shall be harmonious with the surrounding buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors 

are to be avoided except to be used on a minor scale for accents.   

 

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current 

use without compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an 

architecture so unique that it limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times). 
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f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from the public right-of-way or 

parking fields. The entry can be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, 

overhang or some other type of weather protection, some form of roof element, or 

enhanced landscaping. 

 

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 square feet or less, a pitched roof is required or a parapet that 

extends the full exterior of the building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 

feet or more, a change of at least five feet in height must be made for every 75 feet.  

 

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material, or texture 

variation are to be avoided.  The use of material and color changes, articulation of details 

around doors, windows, plate lines, the provision of architectural  details such as “belly-

bands” (decorative cladding that runs horizontally around the building), the use of 

recessed design elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or other 

methods of visual relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of 

large expanses of walls and  break down the overall scale of the building into 

intermediate scaled parts. On commercial buildings, facades greater than 100 feet must 

include some form of articulation of the façade through the use of recesses or projections 

of at least 6 inches for at least 20% of the length of the façade. For industrial buildings, 

efforts to break up the long façade shall be accomplished through a change in building 

material, color or vertical breaks of three feet or more every 250 feet.  

 

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views.  

 

j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall 

consistent with the architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates 

must be kept closed at all times and constructed of a durable material such as wood or 

steel. They shall not be located in the front or corner side yard and shall be set behind the 

front building façade. 

 

 

Site Design 

 

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with 

parking located to the rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas 

shall be designed so as to provide continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking 

aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear or side of the structure and not 

dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-through areas 

shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure.  

 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever 

possible and screened from view from public rights-of-way. 

 

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in 

accordance with Section III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or 
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corner side yards and not permitted to occupy areas designated for parking, driveways, 

or walkways. 

 

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with 

adjacent properties of similar use. Where possible, visitor and employee traffic shall be 

separate from truck or equipment traffic.  

 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage 

pedestrian traffic. Bicycle use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and 

parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must cross vehicle pathways, a crosswalk shall be 

provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material or color. 

 

 

V.  SPECIAL PROVISION PRESERVING CERTAIN RIGHTS 

 

Special provision is hereby established preserving the rights established in unexpired 

annexation agreements and Ordinances No. 74-0-015, No. 74-0-016, and No. 74-0-017.  

 

 

W.  REGULATIONS FOR PERSONAL WIRELESS SERVICE FACILITIES 

 

1. Purpose and Intent 

 

a. Promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the public by regulating the siting of 

wireless communications facilities and antennae; 

 

b. Minimize the visual, aesthetic, and public safety impacts of wireless communications 

facilities on surrounding areas by establishing standards for location, structural 

integrity, and compatibility with existing telecommunication services; 

 

c. Encourage the location and Co-Location of wireless communications equipment on 

existing structures, thereby minimizing visual, aesthetic, and public safety impacts and 

effects and reducing the need for additional antenna supporting structures; 

 

d. Accommodate the growing need and demand for wireless communications services; 

 

e. Encourage coordination between providers of wireless communications services in the 

Village; 

 

f. Protect the character, scale, stability, and aesthetic quality of the residential districts of 

the Village by imposing certain reasonable restrictions on the placement of residential 

communication facilities; 

 

g. Establish predictable and balanced regulations governing the construction and location 

of wireless communications facilities; 
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h. Provide for the removal of discontinued antenna supporting structures. 

 

2. Exemptions 

 

a. The Village is exempt from the regulations herein when there is a demonstrated need 

for telecommunication services provided by the Village. 

 

b. Any Small Cell Wireless Facility subject to the Illinois Small Wireless Facilities 

Deployment Act shall be exempt from these regulations except that the installations 

shall comply with the Design Standards located in Section III.W.5.c of the Zoning 

Ordinance (Small Cell Wireless Facility Design Standards) below. Alternatively, such 

Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be subject to the regulations in Title IX, Chapter 

106 of the Village’s Code of Ordinances. 

 

3. General Regulations: 

 

a. All privately-owned Towers, Antennas, and related components shall not interfere with 

public safety communications infrastructure. 

 

b. The Petitioner shall demonstrate that the proposed Antenna(s) and support structure(s) 

are safe, and that surrounding areas will not be negatively affected by support structure 

failure, falling ice, or other debris.  

 

c. All TCSF support structures shall be fitted with anti-climbing devices, as approved by 

the manufacturer; 

 

d. All Towers and Antennas shall comply with the current standards and regulations of the 

Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Aviation Administration, and any 

other agency of the federal government with the authority to regulate owners and 

Antennas; 

 

e. A TCSF shall not have signage or advertising other than signage required by state and 

federal laws, rules or regulations; 

 

f. Co-Location and Location on Existing Structures Preferred: In order to minimize 

adverse visual impacts associated with the proliferation of Towers, Co-Location of 

Antennas by more than one provider on existing Towers and location of Antennas on 

existing buildings or structures shall take precedence over the construction of new 

Freestanding Cell Towers.  If a new, Freestanding Cell Tower is proposed, a Special 

Use Permit shall not be granted unless the Petitioner demonstrates, compliance with the 

following: 

 

(1) A diligent effort has been made to locate the Antenna on an existing Freestanding 

Cell Tower, building or structure and that due to valid considerations including 

physical constraints and economic or technological feasibility, no other appropriate 

location is available; 
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(2) Covenants shall be recorded which require that the Petitioner allow, on a 

commercially reasonable basis, other providers of personal wireless service 

facilities and other Antennas to Co-Locate on the proposed Freestanding Cell 

Tower, where such Co-Location is technologically feasible; and 

 

(3) The Site Plan for the construction of a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall delineate 

an area, either on site or on adjacent property, near the base of the Tower to be used 

for the placement of additional equipment and buildings for other users. To the 

extent that the site for the new Freestanding Cell Tower is adequate to allow Co-

Location on such site, the Petitioner must allow, on a commercially reasonable 

basis, other providers to locate on site. 

 

g. Structural Integrity: A TCSF, including Antenna(s), other component parts, and all 

related equipment anchorage, shall be designed to withstand the wind force referenced 

in the applicable building and/or electrical codes currently adopted by the Village 

including loading without the use of guy wires and including the Telecommunications 

Industry Association Standards (TIA-222-H, as amended from time to time). As part of 

the permit application process, the Petitioner shall provide the Village with a structural 

evaluation of each specific location establishing that the proposed installation meets or 

exceeds the standards described herein. The evaluation shall be prepared by a structural 

engineer licensed in the State of Illinois with drawings sealed with a professional seal 

and including geotechnical verification of the structural design.   

 

h. Abandonment: 

 

(1) In the event the use of a TCSF is discontinued for a period of sixty (60) 

consecutive days, the TCSF shall be deemed to be abandoned. The equipment 

owner/operator and the property owner shall notify the Community Development 

Director of its discontinuation. The Community Development Director or their 

designee shall determine the date of abandonment based on documentation 

required from the TCSF owner/operator, property owner, or other appropriate 

sources. Upon abandonment, the TCSF owner/operator shall have an additional 

sixty (60) days within which to: 

 

i. Reactivate the use of the TCSF either by said owner/operator or transfer of the 

Tower to another owner/operator for such use within the aforesaid sixty (60) day 

period. Transfer of the TCSF to another owner/operator shall not require Special 

Use Permit approval provided use of the TCSF is re-activated within the sixty 

(60) day period, and that the use of the TCSF complies with all conditions of the 

original Special Use Permit approval and the terms of this Ordinance; 

 

ii. Dismantle and remove the TCSF at which time any Special Use Permit 

approval shall become null and void; and 

 

iii. Request approval from the Village Board to allow the abandoned TCSF to 

remain for a specified period of time. If said approval is granted, the TCSF shall 

be reactivated or removed within the time period approved by the Village Board 
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as per regulations herein. 

 

4. Regulations for Locating TCSF 

 

a. Hierarchy of TCSF Locations: In accordance with Section III.W.3.f (Co-Location and 

Location on Existing Structures Preferred ) of the Zoning Ordinance, the Petitioner 

must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no suitable Co-Location 

opportunities available on existing TCSF locations. Such Co-Location shall be 

permitted uses subject to Site Plan approval and regulations provided herein. If no such 

locations exist, then a new TCSF location, including new Freestanding Cell Towers, 

shall be sited in accordance with Section III.W.4.c (Location Requirements for New 

TCSF Locations) of the Zoning Ordinance below. 

 

b. Location Requirements for TCSF Co-Locations 

 

(1) Antennas shall be attached to existing Freestanding Cell Towers or on existing 

non-residential structures. Existing non-residential structures include tall buildings, 

water towers and utility structures such as electrical towers used to support the new 

Antennas. New support poles may be installed within an existing non-residential 

structure’s dimensions with Site Plan approval. 

 

(2) Attachment to Existing Freestanding Cell Tower: Antennas shall not project above 

the top of the monopole and shall not interfere with other Antennas on the 

monopole. 

 

(3) New ground equipment and structures shall meet the requirements of new 

equipment in Section W.4.c.(2) of the Zoning Code listed below. 

  

(4) Attachment to Existing Non-Residential Building: 

 

i. Antennas shall only be permitted on the rear and side walls of a building. 

 

ii. Antennas attached to an existing building shall not exceed one foot (1’) above 

the top parapet of the building. Antennas shall not project more than one foot 

(1’) from the side of a building. 

 

iii. Antennas shall be made to blend into the architecture of the building. 

 

(5) Approval for Antenna Co-Location on Existing Freestanding Cell Tower or 

Existing Structure 

 

i. The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by 

the Plan Commission if the Co-Location involves changes to ground 

equipment that would alter the existing footprint of the existing ground 

equipment enclosure. 

 

ii. If located on Village property the Petitioner must complete a lease 
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agreement with the Village. When a Special Use Permit or Site Plan 

Approval is required, such agreement must be agreed upon prior to 

scheduling meetings for the Special Use Permit or Site Plan Approval. 

 

iii. The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community 

Development Department. 

 

c. Location Requirements for New TCSF Locations 

 

(1) New Freestanding Cell Towers shall be sited in accordance with the hierarchy 

below. 

 

i. A new Freestanding Cell Tower shall first be located on Village-owned 

property where there is likely to be less visual impact and more visual impact 

controls. If there are no sites available on Village-owned property, then a new 

Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on property owned by a publicly-

elected body or district (e.g. library district, park district, school district, etc.). 

The Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no 

suitable locations available on Village-owned property. 

 

ii. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraph i in the hierarchy 

above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on property within 

the M-1 (General Manufacturing) Zoning District, provided that the proposed 

Freestanding Cell Tower is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of a 

Residential Zoning District or is separated from a Residential Zoning District 

by a freeway or principal arterial road. The Petitioner must perform their due 

diligence and demonstrate there are no locations available on any higher levels 

in the hierarchy. 

 

iii. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraphs i or ii in the 

hierarchy above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on 

property within the ORI (Office and Restricted Industrial) Zoning District, 

provided that the proposed Freestanding Cell Tower is not within one 

thousand (1,000) feet of a Residential Zoning District or is separated from a 

Residential Zoning District by a freeway or principal arterial road. The 

Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no 

locations available on any higher levels in the hierarchy. 

 

iv. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraphs i, ii, or iii in the 

hierarchy above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on 

property in any Business district, provided that the proposed Freestanding Cell 

Tower is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of a Residential Zoning District 

or is separated from a Residential Zoning District by a freeway or principal 

arterial road. The Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate 

there are no locations available on any higher levels in the hierarchy. 

 

v. All other locations (all residential zoning districts and within 1,000 feet of any 
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residential zoning district) for new Freestanding Cell Towers shall require the 

Petitioner perform due diligence and demonstrate that there are no locations 

available in the hierarchy of locations listed above. The petitioner shall 

demonstrate that they are utilizing the least visually obtrusive location. 

Location of new Freestanding Cell Towers in any Legacy District location is 

the least preferred location. Disguised Support Structures shall be required for 

all locations not listed in the hierarchy of locations (i-iv) above. 

 

(2) Yards and Setbacks:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower and the associated ground equipment shall be 

permitted in a rear yard. 

 

ii. A Freestanding Cell Tower and the associated ground equipment must be 

set back at least ten feet (10’) from the principal structure and ten feet (10’) 

from property lines. 

 

(3) Approval for New Freestanding Cell Towers 

 

i. The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by 

the Plan Commission. 

 

ii. The Petitioner must obtain a Special Use Permit with review by the Plan 

Commission and approval by the Village Board. 

 

iii. If located on Village property, the Petitioner must complete a lease 

agreement with the Village. When a Special Use Permit or Site Plan 

Approval is required, such agreement must be agreed upon prior to 

scheduling meetings for the Special Use Permit or Site Plan Approval. 

 

iv. The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community 

Development Department. 

 

d. Conditions for All TCSF Locations 

 

(1) Maximum Height:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower’s monopole may extend up to 100’ from grade. A 

lightning rod may extend up to 5’ above the top of the monopole. 

 

ii. Antennas attached to an existing Freestanding Cell Tower shall not project 

above the top of the monopole. 

 

(2) Color:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower, Antennas, and all related equipment and 

appurtenances shall be a color that blends with the surroundings.  
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ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

iii. Any wiring shall be covered with an appropriate cover or cable shield. No 

wiring may be visible. 

 

(3) Future Co-Locations: All new Freestanding Cell Towers must allow for a 

minimum of one (1) Co-Location by other potential users. 

 

(4) Disguised Towers: The Village encourages the use of Disguised Support 

Structures on Freestanding Cell Towers such as flag poles, monopines, or 

architectural elements. Such Disguised Support Structures are required as 

described in Section III.W.4.c.(1).v. of the Zoning Code above. 

 

(5) Screening:  

 

i. The Freestanding Cell Tower shall be architecturally compatible with the 

surrounding buildings and land uses or shall be otherwise integrated, through 

location and design, to blend in with the existing characteristics of the site to 

the extent practical. 

 

ii. All associated ground equipment shall be screened by a masonry shelter or 

enclosure at least six feet (6’) in height but no taller than eight feet (8’) in 

height. The enclosure shall have a security gate matching the structural 

integrity and aesthetic design of the enclosure. 

 

iii. Landscaping is required around the ground equipment enclosure in 

accordance with the recommendation from the Village’s Landscape Architect 

or as required by the Village’s Landscape Ordinance, as amended from time to 

time. 

 

5. Regulations for Small Cell Wireless Facilities 

 

a. Small Cell Wireless Facility Locations 

 

(1) Small Cell Wireless Facilities may be installed on existing Utility Poles in the 

public right-of-way compliance with the Village’s Code of Ordinances. 

 

(2) When an existing Utility Pole does not exist in compliance with Section 

III.W.5.a.(1) of the Zoning Ordinance above, a Small Cell Wireless Facility shall 

require Special Use Permit approval. 

 

(3) Separation Requirement: Small Cell Wireless Facilities (not exempt from these 

regulations) shall be attached to a Utility Pole located a minimum of five hundred 

(500) feet from any other Utility Pole on which a Small Cell Wireless Facility is 

mounted. A lesser separation may be approved if the Petitioner provides evidence 

that the lesser separation is necessary to close a significant gap in the Petitioner’s 
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services or to otherwise provide adequate services to customers, and the proposed 

Small Cell Wireless Facility location is the least intrusive means to do so. 

 

b. Conditions 

 

(1) Maximum Number of Antennas: Not more than one (1) Small Cell Wireless 

Facility shall be located on a single pole or structure. 

 

(2) Surface Area of Antenna:  

 

i. The Small Cell Wireless Antenna, including Antenna panels, whip Antennas 

or dish-shaped Antennas, shall not have a surface area of more than six (6) 

cubic feet. 

 

ii. No single dimension of the Antenna or associated equipment shall exceed 

six (6) feet.  

 

iii. Omnidirectional or whip Antennas shall not extend more than six (6) feet 

from the pole. 

 

c. Design Standards 

 

(1) Overall Size: The smallest suitable small cell Antennas, equipment, and facilities 

available for industry use shall be utilized for all installations. 

 

(2) Stealth Requirement: The use of stealth technology in the location and 

construction of Small Cell Wireless Facilities is required. Stealth technology 

means using the least visually and physically intrusive design and equipment to 

employ methods that blend into surroundings and not be visible; and to minimize 

adverse aesthetic and visual impacts on the right-of-way, property, building 

and/or other facilities adjacent to, surrounding and in generally the same area as 

the requested location of such Small Cell Wireless Facilities. 

 

(3) Maximum Height: The top of the highest point of the Antenna shall not extend 

more than ten (10) feet above the highest point of the existing pole. 

 

(4) Minimum Height: The bottom of the lowest point of the Antenna shall not be 

lower than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

 

(5) Minimum Equipment Height: The operator of a Small Cell Wireless Facility 

shall, whenever possible, locate the base of the equipment or appurtenances at the 

highest height possible on the pole, but no lower than nine (9) feet above grade. 

 

(6) Pole Visual Interference: Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall not interfere with or 

block any existing signage or other Village installations (banners, holiday décor, 

flowers, etc.) located on a pole. 
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(7) Extensions: Extensions to poles utilized for the purpose of connecting a Small 

Cell Wireless Facility shall be fabricated from non-metallic material of a neutral 

color approved by the Village, and shall have a degree of strength capable of 

supporting the entire Small Cell Wireless Facility and cabling and capable of 

withstanding wind forces and ice loads in accordance with the structural integrity 

standards set forth in Section W.3.h. of the Zoning Code above. An extension 

shall be securely bound to the Utility Pole perpendicular to the ground in 

accordance with applicable engineering standards for the design and attachment 

of such extensions. No extensions fabricated from wood shall be permitted. 

 

(8) Wires and Cables: Any wiring and cables associated with a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility must be run through the hollow interior of the pole. If proven to be 

infeasible to run inside of the pole, all wiring and cables shall be covered with an 

appropriate cover or cable shield. No exterior wires or cables shall be visible 

under any circumstance. 

 

(9) Color:  

 

i. A Small Cell Wireless Facility, including the Antenna and all related 

equipment, extensions, appurtenances and covers, shall be a neutral color 

that blends with the existing pole and the surroundings of the Utility Pole on 

which it is mounted. 

 

ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

(10) Antenna Panel Covering: A Small Cell Wireless Facility Antenna shall include a 

radome, cap, or other Antenna panel covering or shield and shall be of a color 

that blends with the color of the Utility Pole on which it is mounted. 

 

(11) Guy Wires: No guy or other support wires shall be used in connection with a 

Small Cell Wireless Facility unless proposed to be attached to an existing Utility 

Pole that incorporated guy wires prior to the date that a Petitioner has applied for 

a permit. No additional guy wires shall be added to a utility pole for the purpose 

of supporting a Small Cell Wireless Facility. If additional guy wires are required 

for structural integrity reasons, the Utility Pole shall be required to be replaced 

to be self-supporting and structurally sound without the use of guy wires. 

 

(12) Decorative Column and Lantern Light Poles: Locating Small Cell Wireless 

Facilities on a decorative column, lantern or similar light pole located within the 

Legacy Code Zoning District for visual and aesthetic enhancement reasons (train 

stations, public facilities, pedestrian walks or corridors, etc.), shall be 

discouraged. Alternatives to utilizing these decorative light poles should be used 

including the installation on private property. When Co-Located on decorative 

light poles, a Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall keep the existing appearance of 

the light pole and any extensions shall be disguised in a manner similar to the 

design and appearance of the pole. Due diligence shall be required to indicate 

proper structural integrity and non-interference with signage or other Village 
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installations (banners, holiday décor, flowers, etc.) located on a pole. 

 

(13) Undergrounding: Any mechanical equipment or Antenna equipment associated 

with a Small Cell Wireless Facility that cannot be located on the pole because of 

structural reasons or because of other restrictions, such as height and size 

allowances, shall be concealed underground. When located in a public right-of-

way where other utilities are not required to complete the same undergrounding 

requirements, mechanical equipment shall not be required to be placed 

underground. If the undergrounding of equipment is not possible, feasible or 

required as stated above, as determined by the Community Development 

Department or Public Works Department, equipment shall be mounted within a 

concealment box designed as a decorative pole base or within unobtrusive 

equipment enclosures mounted directly to the pole. Any ground mounted 

equipment shall not create a safety or tripping hazard, shall ensure any 

walkways remain in compliance with all state and federal accessibility laws and 

shall be constructed in compliance with all Village right-of-way ordinances and 

design standards. 

 

(14) Screening: Additional landscaping and fencing shall be required to help mitigate 

the effects of any ground-mounted equipment not feasible to be located 

underground. This shall include screening all visual appearance of the 

equipment from roadways and pedestrian facilities. This screening may be used 

in conjunction with other stealth methods. This may be required by Village staff 

as part of any permit approval or by the Plan Commission and Village Board as 

required for any Site Plan, Special Use or Variation requests. 

 

(15) Burial or Removal of Utility Poles: If a utility pole with a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility is planned to be buried or removed and is no longer required for a utility 

or public purpose, then the Small Cell Wireless Facility and all associated 

equipment shall be removed by the carrier within ninety (90) days of notice 

from the Village or organization which owns/operates the utility pole. The Small 

Cell Wireless Facility may apply to be relocated to another nearby site in 

compliance with this ordinance. No Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be 

permitted to be placed on utility poles with active studies, plans or permits to be 

replaced or buried. 

 

(16) Illumination: Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall not be artificially illuminated 

or marked, except as required by law. 

 

(17) Signage: No signage or advertising shall be visible on any part of the Small Cell 

Wireless Facility, except as required by law. 

 

d. Approval 

 

(1) Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be permitted uses when in compliance with 

Section III.W.5.a (Small Cell Wireless Facility Locations) of the Zoning 

Ordinance above. 
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(2) If a Small Cell Wireless Facility is proposed and not in compliance with the 

location requirements as outlined in Section III.W.5.a (Small Cell Wireless 

Facility Locations) of the Zoning Ordinance above, the Petitioner shall have an 

option to request a Special Use Permit with review by the Plan Commission and 

approval by the Village Board. Any Special Use for a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility request shall comply with the Standards for a Special Use as outlined in 

the Zoning Code and shall provide proof that a diligent effort has been made to 

locate the facility in accordance with the requirements and that due to valid 

considerations including physical constraints and economic or technological 

feasibility, no other appropriate location is available. 

 

(3) If located within a Village right-of-way, the Petitioner must complete a lease, 

master pole agreement or similar agreement with the Village prior to approval of 

the Special Use Permit. 

 

(4) The Petitioner must obtain a Small Cell Wireless Facility or similar building 

permit from the Community Development Department. 

 

6. Regulations for Distributed Antenna Systems (DAS) 

 

a. Location 

 

(1) All Distributed Antenna Systems must be installed on private property. 

 

(2) Exterior Antennas shall be located upon existing poles or structures. 

 

(3) Associated exterior equipment shall only be allowed in a rear yard or on the roof 

of a principal structure and shall not be located within a front yard or side yards. 

 

b. Conditions 

 

(1) Surface Area of Antennas: Each Antenna within a Distributed Antenna System 

shall not have a surface area of more than seven (7) square feet. The surface area 

shall be calculated by measuring all faces of the Antenna visible from the public 

right-of-way. 

 

(2) Height: 

 

i. The top of the highest point of the Antenna shall not extend beyond the 

height of the existing structure that the Antenna is mounted upon.  

 

ii. Associated equipment located on the roof of a principal structure shall not 

exceed ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(3) Color:  
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i. A Distributed Antenna System, including the Antenna and all related 

equipment and appurtenances, shall be a color that blends with the 

surroundings of the structure on which it is mounted.  

 

ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

iii. Any wiring must be covered with an appropriate cover or cable shield. 

 

(4) Screening:  

 

i. The Distributed Antenna System shall be architecturally compatible with the 

proposed building as well as surrounding buildings and land uses or shall be 

otherwise integrated, through location and design, to blend in with the 

existing characteristics of the site. 

 

ii. All associated ground equipment shall be screened by a masonry enclosure 

at least six feet (6’) in height but no taller than eight feet (8’) in height. The 

enclosure shall have a security gate matching the structural integrity of the 

remainder of the enclosure. 

 

iii. All associated equipment located on the roof of a principal structure shall be 

screened from view from all adjacent public right-of-ways. 

 

iv. Landscaping is required around the ground equipment enclosure in 

accordance with the recommendation from the Village’s Landscape 

Architect or as required by the Village’s Landscape Ordinance, as amended 

from time to time. 

 

c. Approval 

 

(1) The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by the 

Plan Commission. 

 

(2) The Distributed Antenna System is a permitted use if in compliance with all 

location requirements set forth in Section III.W.6. of the Zoning Code above. Any 

Distributed Antenna System not in compliance must obtain a Special Use Permit 

with review by the Plan Commission and approval by the Village Board. Any 

Special Use request for a Distributed Antenna System shall comply with the 

Standards for a Special Use as outlined in the Zoning Code and shall provide proof 

that a diligent effort has been made to locate the facility in accordance with the 

requirements and that due to valid considerations including physical constraints 

and economic or technological feasibility, no other appropriate option is available. 

 

(3) The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community Development 

Department. 

 

X.  HOME OCCUPATIONS 
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Home occupations shall be subordinate to the principal use of a building as a residential 

dwelling, and shall conform to the following provisions:   

 

1. The primary use of the building shall be as a residential dwelling unit occupied day and 

night by the person(s) owning/operating the home occupation; 

 

2. The home occupation shall not employ any other person who is not a member of the 

family occupying the residential dwelling unit; 

 

3. On-site signs advertising the home occupation shall be prohibited; 

 

4. The home occupation shall not take place in any portion of any attached or detached 

garage or accessory structure; 

 

5. The home occupation shall not occupy more than twenty (20) percent of the gross floor 

area of the dwelling unit (excluding any garage or accessory structure).  Any area of the 

dwelling unit (excluding any garage or accessory structure) used for the storage of 

materials or goods used in conjunction with the home occupation shall be included in 

the calculation of floor area of the home occupation; 

 

6. The sale of goods or services from the dwelling unit shall be prohibited except by 

electronic means; 

 

7. The home occupation shall not result in the dwelling unit being visited by customers or 

clients, except by way of authorization as a Special Use by the Village Board, as well as 

the issuance of a Village Business License; 

 

8. The outdoor storage of goods or materials used in conjunction with the home 

occupation is prohibited; and 

 

9. The use or storage of hazardous materials in conjunction with the home occupation 

shall be prohibited. 

 



Zoning Code – Sec. III (General Provisions) Revised/Proposed Code 2022 Update 

 

Section III − Page 1  

SECTION III 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

 

Except as hereinafter specifically provided, the following general regulations shall apply: 

 

 

A. INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION 

 

In interpreting and applying these regulations, the requirements contained herein are 

declared to be the minimum requirements necessary to carry out the purpose of these 

regulations.  Except as hereinafter provided, these regulations shall not be deemed to 

interfere with, abrogate, annul, or otherwise affect in any manner whatsoever, any 

easements, covenants, or other agreements between parties. Whenever the provisions of 

these regulations impose greater restrictions upon the use of land or buildings, or upon the 

height of buildings, or require a larger percentage of lot to be left unoccupied than the 

provisions of other ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, or any easements, covenants, or 

other agreements between parties, the provisions of these regulations shall govern. 

 

 

B. USE OF LAND OR STRUCTURES 

 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall apply to all properties as hereinafter specifically 

provided: 

 

1.  New and Existing Uses.  No building or structure or land shall hereafter be used or 

occupied and no building or structure or part thereof shall be erected, constructed, 

reconstructed, moved, or altered, except in conformity with the regulations herein 

specified for the district in which it is located; 

 

2. Nonconforming Uses.  Any lawful building, structure, or use existing at the time of the 

enactment of the Zoning Ordinance may be continued, even though such building, 

structure, or use does not conform to the provisions herein for the district in which it is 

located, and whenever a district shall be changed hereafter, the then existing lawful use 

may be continued, subject to the provisions of Section VI; 

 

3. Lot of Record.  A Lot of Record at the time of the adoption of this Ordinance which is 

unable to meet the requirements of this Ordinance as to area and lot width may be used, 

provided it shall meet all the other requirements of this Ordinance.  However, when two 

(2) or more parcels of land, each of which lacks adequate area and dimensions to 

qualify for a Permitted Use under the requirements of the use district in which they are 

located, are contiguous and are held in one ownership, at the time of or subsequent to 

the adoption of this amendment, they shall be used as one zoning lot for such use; and 
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4. Construction in Process.  Where construction of a building or structure has begun 

prior to the effective date of this Ordinance and is being diligently prosecuted to 

completion, said building or structure may be completed in accordance with the 

approved plans on the basis of which the Building Permit was issued, and further may, 

upon completion, be occupied under a Certificate of Occupancy subject to the 

provisions herein set forth in the section pertaining to nonconforming structures and 

uses. 

 

 

C. HEIGHT LIMITATIONS 

 

1. No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally altered 

to exceed the height limit hereinafter established for the district in which the building is 

located, except that penthouses or roof structures for the housing of elevators, stairways, 

tanks, ventilating fans, or similar equipment required to operate and maintain the 

building and fire or parapet walls, skylights, towers, steeples, stage lofts and screens, 

flagpoles, chimneys, smokestacks, individual domestic radio, television aerials and 

wireless masts, water tanks, or similar structures may be erected above the height limits 

when recommended by the Zoning Board of Appeals and approved by the Village 

Board.  No such structure may be erected to exceed by more than fifteen (15) feet the 

height limits of the District in which it is located; nor shall such structure have a total 

area greater than twenty-five (25) percent of the roof area of the building; nor shall such 

structure be used for any residential purpose or any commercial or industrial purpose 

other than a use incidental to the main use of the building.  Provided, however, that all 

buildings in the Zoning Districts established by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the 

Downtown Core District, Downtown Flex District, Downtown General District, 

Neighborhood General District, Neighborhood Flex District, and Civic District) are 

governed by the height provisions of said Legacy Code and are, therefore, exempt from 

the height limitations set forth in this Section III.C.1. 

 

2. Hospitals, institutions, schools, or public utility and service buildings, when permitted 

in a district, may be erected to a height not exceeding sixty (60) feet, provided said 

specified buildings shall be set back from the front, rear, and side lot lines on the ratio 

of two (2) feet for every one (1) foot of building height greater than forty (40) feet; 

provided, however, that said specified requirements shall apply in addition to the other 

requirements for building line setbacks and for rear and side yards specifically set forth 

in this Ordinance.  Provided, however, that all buildings in the zoning districts 

established by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the Downtown Core District, Downtown 

Flex District, Downtown General District, Neighborhood General District, 

Neighborhood Flex District, and Civic District) are governed by the height provisions 

of said Legacy Code and are therefore exempt from the height limitations set forth in 

this Section III.C.2. 

 

3. Planned Unit Developments may exceed the height limits established for the district in 

which the structure is located, provided that the height conforms with the standards and 

requirements set forth in Section VII.C.2.O of this Ordinance. 
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D. LOTS 

 

1. Every building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be located on a lot as herein 

defined, and in no case shall there be more than one principal building on a lot except in a 

Planned Unit Development, or as otherwise provided in this Ordinance. 

   

2. No lot shall hereafter be divided in order to secure one or more additional lots for transfer 

of ownership or establishment of a principal use thereon, unless each lot, resulting from 

such division, shall have the minimum lot area and lot width as required in this Ordinance 

for the district in which the lot is located. 

 

3. Where two (2) or more permitted or Special Uses, each requiring a minimum lot area, are 

provided in the same building or on the same lot, the required lot area shall be the sum of 

the areas required for each use individually. 

 

4. Every dwelling shall be constructed or erected upon a lot or parcel of land which has at 

least twenty (20) feet of frontage abutting upon a public street. 

 

5. Where unique land planning designs are employed in a subdivision or a Planned Unit 

Development to conserve the natural character of the land or to create a functional or 

compatible arrangement of structures or uses, a lot which does not abut upon a public or 

private street may be permitted provided that: 

 

a. Adequate provision is made for free access to the lot for the property owner, or in the 

case of a non-residential lot, for those persons who would normally require access to 

the lot; 

 

b. Adequate provision is made for the unobstructed access of firefighting equipment, 

police protection, rubbish collection, and other governmental services; 

 

c. Adequate provision is made for the extension and maintenance of public and private 

utility services; and 

 

d. The arrangement will not contribute toward congestion in nearby streets as a result of 

delivery services, lack of guest parking, or other reasons. 

 

6. The maintenance of yards, courts, and other open spaces and minimum lot area legally 

required for a building shall be a continuing obligation of the owner of such building or 

of the property on which it is located, as long as the building is in existence. 

 

 

E. YARDS 

 

1. All yards and other open spaces, as required by this Ordinance, shall be located on the 

same lot as the principal structure or use.  No legally required yards, open space, or lot  

areas for any use or structure shall be used to satisfy yard, open space, or lot area 

requirements for any other structure or use. 
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2. On a corner lot, the front lot line shall be the lot line having the shortest dimension along 

the street right-of-way line.  The required front yard setback on corner lots shall apply to 

each side of the lot facing a street. 

 

3. On vacant through lots, the front lot line shall be along the street line designated by the 

Building Inspector except that when a front line has been established on one or more lots 

in the same block and all have front lot lines established along the same street line, the 

street line designated as the front lot line for such lot or lots shall be the front lot line on 

all vacant through lots in such block.  On through lots, only those obstructions permitted 

in this Ordinance in front yards shall be located in that part of a rear yard adjoining a 

street that is equivalent in depth to a required front yard; however, where a no-access 

strip has been provided for such lots on a recorded plat, the Zoning Administrator may 

waive such requirements if, in his judgment, an exception to this requirement would be 

appropriate. 

 

4. No yards allocated to a structure or use existing on the effective date of this Ordinance 

shall be subsequently reduced or further reduced below the yard requirements of this 

Ordinance, except a yard adjoining a street may be reduced in depth in the event and to 

the extent the right-of-way width of such street adjoining such yard is subsequently 

increased. 

 

5. Where fifty (50) percent or more of the frontage on one side of a street between two 

intersecting streets is developed with buildings that have observed (within a variation of 

five (5) feet or less) a front yard greater in depth than required herein, new buildings shall 

not be erected closer to the street than the average front yard so established by the 

existing buildings.  Provided, however, that all building in the zoning districts established 

by the 2011 Legacy Code (being the Downtown Core District, Downtown Flex District, 

Downtown General District, Neighborhood General District, Neighborhood Flex District, 

and Civic District) are governed by the front yard/frontage provisions of said Legacy 

Code and are, therefore, exempt from the frontage/front yard requirements set forth in 

this Section III.E.5. 

 

 

F. REQUIRED SETBACKS 

 

Setback lines shall be maintained on all lots abutting streets and thoroughfares.  The 

minimum setback on lots abutting a street or thoroughfare shall be the distance required for a 

front yard or side yard, adjoining a street, in the district where such lots are located, 

measured from the existing right-of-way line of the street or thoroughfare, or from the 

proposed right-of-way line as designated on the Official Map, and as duly established by 

other Ordinances or as established by county or state highway authorities, whichever has the 

greatest right-of-way width requirements. 

 

Except for incidental uses, no structure shall be constructed on a dedicated public or private 

utility easement, nor shall any structure be constructed so as to encroach upon any easement. 

No portion of the eave, gutter, of roof overhang shall project into or over any dedicated 

easement. 
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G. VISIBILITY REQUIREMENTS − CORNER LOTS 

 

No structure, wall, fence, shrubbery, or trees shall be erected, maintained, or planted on any 

lot which will obstruct the view of the driver of a vehicle approaching an intersection, 

excepting that shrubbery and low retaining walls not exceeding two (2) feet in height above 

the curb level and shade trees where all branches are not less than eight (8) feet above the 

street level will be permitted.  For residential corner lots, this unobstructed area shall be a 

triangular section of land formed by the two street right-of-way lines and a line connecting 

them at points thirty (30) feet from the intersection of said right-of-way. 

 

 

H. PERMITTED ENCROACHMENTS IN REQUIRED YARDS 

 

1.  Residential Zoning Districts: 

 

Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village’s Building Code. 

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards in lots residentially 

zoned (R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, R-5, R-6, and R-7) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

 P P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Athletic courts, including 

but not limited to:  

basketball or tennis 

courts 
  P 

  All athletic court areas shall be subject to 

Village review to ensure the court is 

properly designed, graded, and constructed.  

In no case shall an athletic court be placed 

closer than fifteen (15) feet to any property 

line.  
Awnings and canopies 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

any property line. 

Formatted: Right:  -0.1"



Zoning Code – Sec. III (General Provisions) Revised/Proposed Code 2022 Update 

 

Section III − Page 6  

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required yard. 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Breezeways   P    

Brick Mailbox (in public 

right-of-way areas) 

P     

Masonry mailbox shall not be larger than 24 

inches wide or 24 inches deep or greater 

than five feet in height. The front edge of 

the masonry structure shall not be set closer 

than fifteen inches from the rear edge of the 

curb or within two (2) feet of a Buffalo 

Box, or within 10 feet of a fire hydrant. The 

front of the mailbox shall not be closer than 

six inches nor further than fifteen inches 

from the rear edge of the curb. A maximum 

of two pedestals per address, only one of 

which may contain a mailbox. Masonry 

mailbox structures shall comply with USP 

Regulations; a copy is available in the 

Building Department. A permit is required 

for any decorative or brick mail boxes in the 

public right-of-way and a waiver form must 

be signed by the homeowner with any 

required document recording fees paid by 

the owner. 

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into the required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Driveways 

P P P P P 

Must be located a minimum of one (1) foot 

from property line and lead to a permitted 

parking structure or parking facility. 
Driveway shall take the most direct route 

from the public right-of-way to the parking 

structure/facility, which may include 

relocation of curb depressions. Alternative 

driveway paths may only be approved with 

the approval of the Village Engineer and 

Community Development Director. 

Driveways shall have a minimum width of 

ten (10) feet and a maximum width of forty 

(40) feet. Driveways shall be no greater 

than a total of thirty (30) foot in the apron at 

its intersection with the Village Right of 

Way. 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. No portion of the 

eave, gutter, of roof overhang shall project 

into or over any dedicated easement. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Fences 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three- and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to:  air conditioning 

units/ shelters, and 

generators 

 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.   

Outdoor fireplaces 

  P  P 

In no case shall an outdoor fireplace be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Patios 
 P P   

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

  P   

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the 

minimum setback.  In no case shall a 

pergola be placed closer than five (5) feet to 

any property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the 

minimum setback.  In no case shall a porch 

or portico be placed closer than five (5) feet 

to any property line. In no case shall 

porches or porticos extend more than fifteen 

(15) feet from the exterior wall. Handrails 

and guardrails shall conform to Village 

Building Code Regulations.  Knee walls 

shall not exceed forty (40) inches in height 

from the porch floor. 

Private swimming pools 

and hot tubs 

  P   

Pools are to be placed in rear yards only.  In 

no case shall a pool be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line, including 

transitional grading, accessory items such as 

pavers or concrete, and equipment. 

Sculptures P P P P P  

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trash and Equipment 

Enclosures 

 P P   

Shall be placed as close as possible to the 

principal structure but in no case shall be 

placed within five feet of the property line. 

Enclosure shall be solid with no chain link 

fencing permitted. Any enclosure 

constructed shall have a height not greater 

than 6 feet. Enclosures shall comply with 

any approved site plans. See additional 

regulations within Section  III.U.6.j. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Trellises 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

 

 

2.   Commercial Zoning Districts: 

 

 Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village’s Building Code. 

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards in lots commercially 

zoned (B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

  P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P P P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Awnings, canopies, 

marquees and other 

projections that create 

shaded and protected 

entrances 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

the side or rear property line.  Awnings and 

canopies with signage must conform to the 

Sign Regulations in Section IX. 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into a 

required yard. 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into a required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Driveways 

P P P P P 

Must be located a minimum of one (1) foot 

from property line and lead to a permitted 

parking structure or parking facility. 
Driveways may be shared between 

adjoining properties with an approved site 

plan and cross-access easement recorded. 
Driveways shall have a minimum width of 

ten (10) feet and a maximum width of forty 

(40) feet. Driveways shall be no greater than 

thirty (30) foot in the apron at its 

intersection with the Village Right of Way. 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. No portion of the 

eave, gutter, of roof overhang shall project 

into or over any dedicated easement. 

Fences and walls 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three-and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to; air conditioning units/ 

shelters, and generators 
 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.  Equipment 

shall be screened to comply with the Village 

Landscape Ordinance. 

Patios 
P P P P P 

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a pergola be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a porch or portico 

be placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line.  Handrails and guardrails 

shall conform to Village Building Code 

Regulations.  Knee walls shall not exceed 

forty (40) inches in height from the porch 

floor. 

Projecting blade signs P P P P P See additional regulations in Section IX. 

Sculptures P P P P P  
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trash and Equipment 

Enclosures 

 P P   

Shall be placed as close as possible to the 

principal structure but in no case shall be 

placed within five feet of the property line. 

Enclosure shall be solid with no chain link 

fencing permitted. Any enclosure 

constructed shall have a height not greater 

than 6 feet. Enclosures shall comply with 

any approved site plans. See additional 

regulations within Section  III.U.6.j. 

Trellises P P P P P  

 

 a.   Additional Allowable Encroachments: 

 

In commercially zoned lots (B-1, B-2, B-3, B-4, and B-5) that front streets or major 

interior access lanes, front yard areas will be primarily used for landscaping and 

other pedestrian-oriented uses including: 

 

(1)  Widened sidewalks and entranceways; 

 

(2)  Plazas, outdoor gardens, patios, and outdoor seating areas; 

 

(3)  Water features, including bioswales or other stormwater management elements;   

       and 

 

(4)  Public art or outdoor architectural features like clock towers, pergolas, etc. 

 

It is the intent of this Ordinance to help create a stronger pedestrian scale.  As such, 

in addition to the design elements specifically permitted above, other architectural 

or landscape features not enumerated herein that create a stronger pedestrian 

connection may be permitted to extend into the required yard up to ten (10) feet.  

These encroachments may be approved by the Plan Commission during Site Plan 

Approval. 

 

    3.   Industrial Zoning Districts: 

 
Encroachments into easements shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and the 

Village’s Building Code.  

 

The following accessory structures and uses are permitted to encroach and shall not be 

considered to be obstructions when located in the required yards, in lots industrially zoned 

(ORI, M-1, and MU-1) as specified: 

 

Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Accessory structures, 

including but not limited 

to:   accessory sheds, 

carports, detached 

garages, equipment 

shelters, and playhouses 

  P 

 

 

See additional regulations in Section III. I. 

Arbors 

P  P P P 

Must be located so as not to obstruct the 

line of sight of pedestrians and motorists at 

intersections or driveways. 

Architectural features, 

including but not limited 

to:  belt courses, 

cornices, and sills 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than eighteen (18) 

inches from the exterior wall. 

Athletic courts, including 

but not limited to:  

basketball or tennis 

courts 
  P 

  All athletic court areas shall be subject to 

Village review to ensure the court is 

properly designed, graded, and constructed.  

In no case shall an athletic court be placed 

closer than fifteen (15) feet to any property 

line.  
Awnings, canopies, and 

other projections that 

create shaded and 

protected entrances 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than ten (10) feet into 

the required yard and at least seven (7) feet 

above the average level of the adjoining 

ground.  In no case shall awnings or 

canopies be placed within five (5) feet of 

the side or rear property line.  Awnings and 

canopies with signage must conform to the 

Sign Regulations in Section IX. 

Balconies 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet in 

front yards. 

Bay windows 
P  P P P 

Not projecting more than three (3) feet into 

the required yard. 

Chimneys 
P P P P P 

Not projecting more than twenty-four (24) 

inches into a required yard. 

Decks 
 P P   

In no case shall a deck be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Driveways 

P P P P P 

Must be located a minimum of one (1) foot 

from property line and lead to a permitted 

parking structure or parking facility. 
Driveways may be shared between 

adjoining properties with an approved site 

plan and cross-access easement recorded. 

Driveways shall have a minimum width of 

ten (10) feet and a maximum width of forty 

(40) feet. Driveways shall be no greater than 

thirty (30) foot in the apron at its 

intersection with the Village Right of Way. 

Eaves and gutters 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than four (4) feet into 

the required front and rear yards.  Not 

projecting more than forty (40) percent of 

the required side yard, but in no case 

exceeding three (3) feet. No portion of the 

eave, gutter, of roof overhang shall project 

into or over any dedicated easement. 
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Permitted 

Encroachments 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Corner Lots 
Additional Requirements Primary 

Front Yard 
Secondary 

Front Yard 

Fences and walls 
 P P   

See additional regulations within Section 

III.J. 

Fire escapes, open or 

enclosed 

P P P P P 

Not projecting more than five (5) feet into 

the required front yard or side yard 

adjoining a street.  Not projecting more than 

three- and-one-half (3 1/2) feet into the 

required interior side yard or court. 

Flag poles P P P P P  

Fountains P P P P P  

Mechanical equipment, 

including but not limited 

to:  air conditioning 

units/ shelters, and 

generators 

 P P   

Equipment shall be placed as close as 

possible to the principal structure and in no 

case shall equipment be placed within five 

(5) feet of any property line.  Equipment 

shall be screened to comply with the Village 

Landscape Ordinance. 

Patios 
P P P P P 

In no case shall a patio be placed closer than 

five (5) feet to any property line. 

Pergolas 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a pergola be 

placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line. 

Plant boxes P P P P P  

Porches and porticos 

P P P P P 

Not to extend into the required yard more 

than thirty-five (35) percent of the minimum 

setback.  In no case shall a porch or portico 

be placed closer than five (5) feet to any 

property line.  Handrails and guardrails 

shall conform to Village Building Code 

regulations.  Knee walls shall not exceed 

forty (40) inches in height from the porch 

floor.  

Projecting blade signs P P P P P See additional regulations in Section IX. 

Sculptures P P P P P  

Steps/threads 
P P P P P 

See the Village Building Code for 

additional regulations. 

Trash and Equipment 

Enclosures 

 P P   

Shall be placed as close as possible to the 

principal structure but in no case shall be 

placed within five feet of the property line. 

Enclosure shall be solid with no chain link 

fencing permitted. Any enclosure 

constructed shall have a height not greater 

than 6 feet. Enclosures shall comply with 

any approved site plans. See additional 

regulations within Section  III.U.6.j.  

Trellises P P P P P  

 

 

I. ACCESSORY STRUCTURES AND USES 

 

 1.   All accessory structures shall be subject to the following: 
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a. Accessory structures and uses shall be compatible with the principal use; 

 

b. Accessory structures and uses shall not be established prior to the establishment of 

the principal use; 

 

c. Accessory structures which are structurally attached to a main or principal building 

shall be subject to all regulations of this Ordinance and the Village Building Code 

which are applicable to the principal building; 

 

d. Accessory structures shall not be located less than ten (10) feet from a principal 

building unless the accessory structure meets all regulations of this Ordinance and 

the Village Building Code which are applicable to the principal building; 

 

e. When a side yard is required, no part of any accessory structure shall be located 

closer than five (5) feet to the side lot line along such side yard; and 

e.  

f. When a rear yard is required, no part of any accessory structure shall be located 

closer than five (5) feet to the rear lot line or to those portions of the side lot lines 

abutting such required rear yard.   

 

f.g. Maximum height of all accessory structures (other than detached garages as outlined 

in the section below) is fifteen (15) feet above finished grade. 

 

2.   Residential accessory structures serving single- or two-family residences in any 

Residential Zoning District, and all accessory structures in the R-1 through R-5 Zoning 

Districts, inclusive, shall conform to the following: 

 

a.    All conditions of Subsection III.I.1 above must be satisfied; 

 

b.    The maximum floor area shall be seven hundred twenty (720) square feet, two 

hundred (200) square feet for a storage shed, and four hundred (400) square feet for 

all other structures. The width of any structure shall not exceed 34 feet;  

 

c.    The maximum height shall be eighteen (18) feet to the peak of the structure; 

 

d. The pitch of the roof shall be found by the Zoning Administrator to be 

architecturally compatible with the pitch of the main roof element of the principal 

structure, provided that subsection (c) above shall be met;  

 

e. Detached or attached garages and accessory structures shall not be utilized as living 

space; 

 

f. Detached or attached garages and accessory structures shall not be utilized for any 

business relatedbusiness-related activity; and 

 

g. Detached garages and accessory structures shall not be serviced by water, sanitary 

sewer, or natural gas. 
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h. No more than one (1) of any type of residential accessory structure shall be 

permitted accept where a second detached garage may be permitted in Section 

III.I.3. 

 

i. Storage/Utility Sheds: No more than one (1) storage/utility shed shall be located on 

any residential lot at a maximum of two hundred (200) square feet in floor space, 

and shall not exceed fifteen (15) feet in height.  No overhead (roll up) doors larger 

than six (6) feet in width or seven (7) feet in height are allowed on storage/utility 

sheds. 

 

3.   Second detached garages serving single- or two-family residences in any Residential 

Zoning District and in the R-1 through R-5 Zoning Districts, inclusive, shall conform to 

the following: 

 

a. All conditions of Subsections III.I.1 and III.I.2 above must be satisfied for each 

garage; 

 

b. The property must be a minimum of fifteen thousand (15,000) square feet in lot area 

and ninety (90) feet in lot width; and  

 

c. Both garages must be fully accessible by way of a driveway constructed and located 

in conformance with Section 309 of the Village Building Code.all other sections of 

the Village Zoning, Subdivision, and Building Code Ordinances. 

 

 

J. FENCE REGULATIONS 

 

1. Permit Required 

 

a. A building permit is required for all work performed in association with the 

construction, alteration, or relocation of a fence except as outlined in Section 

III.J.1.b. 

 

b. Exemptions: The following circumstances do not require a building permit; 

however, they are subject to the regulations within Section III.J.2.: 

 

(1) Repairs of not more than one (1) eight foot (8’) section of fencing per year 

on a legally permitted fence; and 

 

(2) Fences two feet (2’) in height or less. 

 

2. Regulations for All Zoning Districts 

 

a. Location 

 

(1) Permitted Fence Location 
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PERMITTED FENCE LOCATION BY LOT TYPE AND YARD TYPE 

LOT TYPE 
YARD TYPE 

Front/Primary Front Secondary Front Side Rear 

Interior Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Interior Key 

Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Corner Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Reversed 

Corner Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Through Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line. 

See Section 

III.J.3.b. 

Corner 

Through Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line. See also 

Section III.J.3. 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line. 

See Section 

III.J.3.b. 

Flag Lot 

Fence Permitted at or 

behind Required 

Setback Line 

n/a 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

Permitted at 0’ 

Setback from 

Property Line 

 

(2) Rights-of-Way, Drainage, and/or Utility Easements 

 

(i) No private fences shall be allowed or constructed within public 

street, highway, or alley right-of-ways.  

 

(ii) Fences may, by permit and written approval, be placed on drainage 

and/or public utility easements, so long as the fence does not 

interfere in any way with existing drainage patterns, underground, 

ground, or above-ground utilities.  

 

(iii) Fences shall not obstruct access to utilities. A gate or moveable 

section of fencing may be required. 

 

(iv) The Village or any utility company having authority to use such 

easements shall not be liable for repair or replacement of such 
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fences in the event they are moved, damaged, or destroyed by 

virtue of the lawful use of said easement. 

 

(3) Clear Vision Triangle: Fences shall not obstruct sight lines and/or cause a 

negative impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. A clear vision triangle 

must be maintained. 

 

b. Materials 

 

(1) Fences shall consist of materials that are found by the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee to be durable and weather resistant. 

Fencing shall be painted, rust-proofed or otherwise protected against 

damage and decay so as to present an orderly appearance. 

 

(2) All fences shall be maintained in good, structurally sound repair and in a 

neat, clean, presentable and attractive condition. 

 

(3) Allowable Materials: 

 

(i) PVC/vinyl 

(ii) Wood 

(iii) Wrought iron 

(iv) Aluminum 

(v) Galvanized steel (open style fencing only) 

(vi) Masonry 

(vii) Chain-link without slats (can be coated or uncoated) 

(viii) Perimeter fencing (stone or concrete) 

(ix) Similar materials, as approved by the Zoning Administrator or their 

designee 

 

(4) Prohibited Materials: 

 

(i) Chain-link with slats  

(ii) Glass and other reflective materials 

(iii) Barbed wire 

 

(5) Orientation of Finished Side: When a fence has a finished or decorative 

side, it shall be oriented to face outward toward adjacent parcels or street 

rights-of-way (away from the interior of the lot upon which the fence is 

erected). 

 

(6) Fencing shall not have sharp edges. 

 

(7) Fencing shall be uniform in color. 

 

c. Maximum Height (see graphic) 
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(1) Top of Posts: six feet, six inches (6’6”) when measured from grade. 

 

(2) Top of Panel: six feet (6’) when measured from grade. 

 

(3) Spacing Between Grade and Bottom of Panel: maximum of six inches 

(6”). 

 

  
 

 

3. Administrative Approvals: The Zoning Administrator or their designee may grant 

administrative approval for a fence in the following circumstances: 

 

a. Secondary Front Yard  

 

(1) A fence within a secondary front yard may be permitted to encroach up to 

ten feet (10’) into the required front yard setback, provided that: 

 

(i) The property is within a residential zoning district (R-1, R-2, R-3, 

R-4, R-5, R-6, & R-7); 

 

(ii) The fence meets all material requirements within Section III.J.2.b.; 

however, the fence cannot be chain-link; and 

 

(iii) The fence must be a maximum height of five feet, six inches (5’6”) 

at the top of the posts and five feet (5’) at the top of the panel when 

measured from grade; 

 

(iv) The fence must be open style and have a minimum of fifty percent 

(50%) open space between the rails and posts; 

 

(v) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles; and 
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(vi) The fence cannot abut a neighboring front/primary front yard (see 

graphics). 

 
Graphic: Prohibited Fence Location in Secondary Front Yard 

 

 
Graphic: Allowable Fence Location in Secondary Front Yard 

 

 

(2) In the instance that a residential structure is nonconforming to the required 

front yard setback, a fence may be permitted to encroach into the required 

front yard setback to align with the established setback of the residential 

structure, provided that: 

 

(i) The fence meets all provisions within Section III.J.2.b. and III.J.2.c.; 

and 
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(ii) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. 

b. Through Lot 

 

(1) A fence may be permitted to be constructed along a property line that 

directly abuts a public right-of-way or private street if the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee determines that the lot line should be 

considered a side or rear lot line based on the adjacent established 

development pattern, provided that: 

 

(i) The fence meets all provisions within Section III.J.2.b. and III.J.2.c.; 

and 

 

(ii) The fence does not obstruct sight lines that may cause a negative 

impact to safety of pedestrians or vehicles. 

 

4. Temporary Fences 

 

a. Temporary fences may be authorized by the Zoning Administrator or their designee 

for the purposes of securing or enclosing an area for a limited period of time (ex. 

construction sites, special events, and unsafe structures). 

 

5. Nonconforming Fences: Fences existing at the time of the enactment of this Section 

III.J., or any amendment thereto, or at the time of annexation to the Village of the 

property on which they are located and not conforming to the provisions of this Section 

III.J., shall be regarded as nonconforming fences – either a legal nonconforming fence 

or an illegal nonconforming fence. 

 

a. Legal Nonconforming Fences: Fences constructed with a permit on file with the 

Village. Minor ordinary repairs and maintenance (not exceeding repair on one (1) 

eight foot (8’) wide section of fencing per year) may be completed on such fence. 

Nonconforming fences shall not be changed or altered in any manner that would 

increase the degree of its nonconformity or structurally altered to prolong its useful 

life. 

 

b. Illegal Nonconforming Fences: Fences constructed without a permit. Such fences 

shall be immediately removed by the property owner or a variation (in accordance 

with Section X.G. of the Zoning Ordinance) must be obtained. 

 

6. Appeals and Variations: If the Zoning Administrator or their designee denies a fence as 

proposed, the Petitioner may appeal the denial before the Zoning Board of Appeals as 

outlined within Section X.F. of the Zoning Ordinance. A Petitioner may also submit a 

request for a variation as outlined within Section X.G. of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 

K. TEMPORARY BUILDINGS 
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Temporary buildings for construction purposes may be allowed in any zoning district for a 

period not to exceed the completion date of such construction.   

 

 L. FLOODPLAIN AREAS 

 

No building shall be erected in areas subject to flooding, as determined in the floodplain 

maps (Tinley Park Quadrangle) of the Northeastern Illinois Planning Commission, unless 

suitable provisions for drainage are approved and constructed in accordance with the 

requirements of the Village’s Floodplain Ordinance - Ordinance No. 73-0-003. 

 

 

 M. USES NOT SPECIFICALLY PERMITTED IN DISTRICTS 

 

When a use is not specifically listed in the sections devoted to permitted uses, such uses are 

hereby expressly prohibited, unless by written decision of the Zoning Administrator it is 

determined that said use is similar to and not more objectionable than other uses listed.  

Such uses may then be permitted. 

 

 

 N.   EXEMPTIONS 

 

The regulations of this Ordinance do not specify or regulate the type or location of poles, 

towers, wires, cables, conduits, vaults, laterals, pipes, mains, valves, and other similar 

distributing equipment; regulator and compressor stations, and the underground storage of 

gas from a public utility or a natural gas company including facilities and exploratory and 

operating wells; or a public utility or natural gas company for telephone or other 

communications, electric power, gas, water, and sewer lines, provided that installation shall 

conform with rules and regulations of the applicable administrative authorities nor the 

location, use or occupancy of publicly-owned land, structures or installations of any kind 

whatsoever. 

 

 

O.     OPEN STORAGE AND OUTDOOR SALES DISPLAYS 

 

            1.  Open Storage: 

  

a. The purpose and intent of the regulations established herein is to provide 

development and environmental performance standards for controlling the 

development and use of open storage areas so that such uses can be established and 

operated in the Village of Tinley Park without adversely affecting neighboring 

development or existing environmental conditions; and 

 

b.  All open storage, as defined in Section II, shall be subject to the following: 

 

       General Requirements: 
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(1) Zoning Districts Allowed:  The following table shall govern the zoning districts 

in which open storage is allowed and to what level: 

 

 
Level R-1 through R-7 B-1 through B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Level 1 X X P P P 

Level 2 X X S P P 

Level 3 X X X S S 

Level 4 X X X X X 

 
             P = Permitted (with conditions)     S = Special Use     X = Prohibited 

 

Open storage requests that require a Special Use Permit should refer to Section 

X.J of the Village’s Zoning Ordinance regarding the Special Use application 

process. 

 

(2) Location:  Open storage shall not be located in any front or corner side yard.  No 

open storage shall be permitted to occur in areas designated for parking, 

driveways, or walkways;  

 

(3) Maximum Lot Coverage:  The following table shall govern the maximum lot 

area for the use of open storage within zoning districts: 

 

 
Level R-1 through R-7 B-1 through B-5 ORI M-1 MU-1 

Level 1 X X 15% 30% 30% 

Level 2 X X 15% 30% 30% 

Level 3 X X X 30% 30% 

Level 4 X X X X X 

 

         X = Prohibited 

 

(4) Proximity to Residential Zones:  If a Residential District abuts the property, the 

open storage area shall be set back from the property line on such side a 

minimum of fifty (50) feet in addition to the mandatory screening enumerated 

below. 

 

(5) Screening:   

 

(A)  Fence: 

 

(i)  Material:  Shall be constructed in compliance with Section 311.C.1 of the 

Village Building Code; 

 

(i.a)  Chain link fencing to be concealed with landscaping, and placed on 

the exterior side of the fence to conceal from the street side or 

residential neighborhoods; 
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(ii) Opacity:  Shall be a solid, one hundred (100) percent opaque wall or 

fence.  Chain link fencing may be used in conjunction with landscaping 

to achieve one hundred (100) percent opacity if approved by the Village; 

 

 

(iii) Height:  Shall be a minimum of six (6) feet and maximum of eight (8) 

       feet in height measured from ground level to the top of the fence; and 

 

(iv) Gate/Doors:  Shall be visually consistent with the fence or wall and   

       secured. 

 

(B)  Landscape: 

 

(a)  Refer to §158.18.12 of the Village Landscape Ordinance for open 

storage landscaping requirements. 

 

(6)   Environmental Performance: 

 

(A) Nuisance:  All open storage shall be in compliance with the nuisance 

regulations enumerated in Title IX, Chapter 98 of the Tinley Park Municipal 

Code; 

 

(B) Stormwater Runoff:  Fertilizers, pesticides, and any other agent which could 

potentially pose a threat to water quality shall be properly stored in containers 

that prevent the infiltration of these agents into the stormwater system; 

 

(C) Windborne Agents:  The open storage of materials which have a tendency to 

become windborne such as powder, grain, stone, sand, salt, and coal is 

prohibited unless securely covered and contained; 

 

(D) Organic Materials:  Any open storage of decomposed, fetid, or putrescent 

matter shall be removed and disposed of if determined to be a nuisance, and in 

such manner as not to cause a nuisance and to avoid the unnecessary raising of 

dust or noxious material; 

 

(E) Lighting:  Any lighting of open storage areas shall be directed in a manner as 

to prevent spillover onto surrounding properties; and 

 

(F) Subject to Inspection:  Any open storage shall be subject to inspection by the 

Fire Prevention Bureau as enumerated in Ch. VII, Sec. 700.A.1 of the Village 

Building Code. 

 

          2.    Level 1 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements: 
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a. A dimensioned sketch or drawing of the proposed location of the open storage area 

and any additional alterations to the site; 

 

b. Fencing specifications including height, material, color, and style; 

 

c. Location, quantity, size, and type of proposed landscaping on a Site Plan, showing its 

relation to other site features such as utilities and easements; and 

 

d. Description of materials to be stored. 

 

Approval:   

 

a. Subject to review by the Building and Planning Departments. 

 

Conditions of Operation: 

 

a. Shall be stored in the rear of the property not in a public drainage and utility 

easement or in an area that will negatively impact overland drainage; and  

 

b. Level 1 Open Storage is intended to allow for vehicles or equipment essential to the 

day-to-day operation of a business.  Vehicles exceeding eight thousand (8,000) 

pounds or equipment not essential to business operations shall be excluded from 

Level 1 Open Storage. 

 

  3.    Level 2 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements:   

 

a. A dimensioned sketch or drawing of the proposed location of the open storage area 

and any additional alterations to the site; 

 

b. Fencing specifications including height, material, color, and style; 

 

c. Location, quantity, size, and type of proposed landscaping on a Site Plan, showing its 

relation to other site features such as utilities and easements; and  

 

d. Description of materials to be stored. 

 

Approval: 

 

a. Subject to review by the Building and Planning Departments. 

 

4.   Level 3 Open Storage: 

 

Submission Requirements for Site Plan Approval Application: 
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a. A Special Use Permit application that fulfills the provisions within Section X.J of the 

Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

 

b. Description of materials to be stored. 

     

     

Approval: 

 

a. All Level 3 Open Storage areas shall be subject to Site Plan and Special Use Permit 

approvals.  A Site Plan Approval application must be reviewed and approved by the 

Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission.  A Special Use Permit application must be 

reviewed by the Plan Commission and receive approval by the Village Board. 

 

           5.   Level 4 Open Storage:   

 

Conditions of Operation: 

 

a. Shall be prohibited within all zoning districts.  The storage of junk, used lumber, or 

metal, refuse, scrap, disabled, or damaged motor vehicles not awaiting immediate 

repair, must be accommodated within a structure and in compliance with all other 

Village Code requirements. 

  

Exemptions: 

 

a. The provisions and regulations of this Section III.N.1 shall not apply to 

governmental service uses. 

 

6.  Outdoor Sales Display Standards: 

 

a. Intent: The intent of the Outdoor Sales Display Standards is to permit the use of 

outdoor areas for display and sales of merchandise, but to ensure that such displays 

are sensitive to the character of the Village and do not jeopardize the health, safety, 

and welfare of the people within the Village of Tinley Park. Outdoor sales display 

areas shall be categorized as Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 in accordance with the 

regulations within this Section. 

 

b. Applicability:  

 

(1) Outdoor areas that a business or organization wants to use on a regular or 

seasonal basis for outdoor sales displays shall meet the regulations within this 

Section.  

 

(2) This Section does not include outdoor sales display related to automotive 

dealerships. 

 

c. Requirements for Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display: 
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(1) Description of Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 1 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of seasonal gardening goods or special sales. These 

displays may include, but are not limited to: sale of potted plants, mulch, 

clothes racks, and small product display racks. 

 

(2) Approval: 

(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be 

submitted to the Community Development Department prior to 

displaying products outside. The submittal shall include the 

following: 
(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Zoning Administrator or their designee shall review the 

application and determine if the criteria within this Section have 

been met. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 1 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
 

(3) Location: 

 

(A) Zoning: 

(i) Outdoor sales displays are limited to non-residential properties and 

mixed-use properties. 

 

(B) Accessibility:  

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall not block any accessibility ramp, 

parking space, door, fire hydrant, drive aisle, or driveway. 

(ii) A minimum of thirty-six inches (36”) shall be maintained for 

sidewalks and pedestrian ways in front of the outdoor sales display 

area. 

 

(C) Setbacks: 

(i) Front Yard: An outdoor display area can encroach up to five feet 

(5’) into the required front yard setback standard identified in the 

applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

(ii) Side and Rear Yards: An outdoor display area shall meet the 

accessory structure side yard and rear yard setback standard 

identified in the applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

(D) Proximity to Primary Structure: 
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(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be fifteen feet (15’) or less from 

the façade of the primary structure. 

 

(E) Placement: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be located at grade level and 

shall not be allowed on top of the roof. 

(ii) An outdoor sales display shall not create any visibility hazard or 

obstruction to vehicles or pedestrians. 

(iii) An outdoor sales display area shall be located on the same parcel as 

the principal structure. 

 

(4) Size: 

 

(A) Maximum Area:  

(i) The cumulative area of all Level 1 outdoor displays shall not exceed 

twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the tenant space 

to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

(ii) If the tenant has both Level 1 and Level 2 displays: The total 

combined area of all Level 1 and Level 2 outdoor display areas shall 

not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the 

tenant space to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

 

(B) Maximum Height:  

(i) Products displayed outside the principal structure shall not exceed 

ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(5) Time for Display: 

 

(A) Outdoor sales displays for seasonal garden items shall occur only 

between April 15th and October 15th of each year, unless otherwise 

approved in writing by the Zoning Administrator or their designee. 

 

(B) Outdoor sales displays for special sales may be displayed for up to seven 

(7) days at a time and shall be allowed up to six (6) times per year; 

however, there must be at least three (3) weeks between special sale 

displays. 

 

(C) Outdoor sales displays shall only be displayed outside the tenant space 

during the business or organization’s hours of operation, unless otherwise 

approved in writing by the Zoning Administrator or their designee. 

 

d. Requirements for Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display: 

 
(1) Description of Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of year-round goods that are subordinate and customarily 

incidental to the principal use. These displays may include, but are not limited to: 

propane, ice, and vending machines. 

 

(2) Approval:  
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(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be submitted 

to the Community Development Department prior to displaying products 

outside. The submittal shall include the following: 

(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Zoning Administrator or their designee shall review the application 

and determine if the criteria within this Section have been met. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 2 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
 

(3) Location: 

 

(A) Zoning: 

(i) Outdoor sales displays are limited to non-residential properties and 

mixed-use properties. 

 

(B) Accessibility:  

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall not block any accessibility ramp, 

parking space, door, fire hydrant, drive aisle, or driveway. 

(ii) A minimum of thirty-six inches (36”) shall be maintained for 

sidewalks and pedestrian ways in front of the outdoor sales display 

area. 

 

(C) Setbacks: 

(i) Front Yard: An outdoor display area can encroach up to five feet 

(5’) into the required front yard setback standard identified in the 

applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the Zoning Ordinance.  

(ii) Side and Rear Yards: An outdoor display area shall meet the 

accessory structure side yard and rear yard setback standard 

identified in the applicable Zoning District in Section V. of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

(D) Proximity to Primary Structure: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be fifteen feet (15’) or less from 

the façade of the primary structure. 

 

(E) Placement: 

(i) An outdoor sales display area shall be located at grade level and 

shall not be allowed on top of the roof. 

(ii) An outdoor sales display shall not create any visibility hazard or 

obstruction to vehicles or pedestrians. 

(iii) An outdoor sales display area shall be located on the same parcel as 

the principal structure. 
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(4) Size:  

 

(A) Maximum Area:  

(i) The cumulative area of all Level 2 outdoor displays shall not exceed 

twenty percent (20%) of the tenant frontage of the tenant space to 

which the outdoor display area is associated. 

(ii) If the tenant has both Level 1 and Level 2 displays: The total 

combined area of all Level 1 and Level 2 outdoor display areas shall 

not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the tenant frontage of the 

tenant space to which the outdoor display area is associated. 

 

(B) Maximum Height:  

(i) Products displayed outside the principal structure shall not exceed 

ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(5) Time for Display:  

 

(A) Due to the nature of these types of goods, the display shall be permitted 

permanently unless otherwise noted in writing by the Zoning 

Administrator or their designee. 

 

e. Requirements for Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display: 

 
(1) Description of Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display: Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display 

includes the display of goods that do not meet the regulations within the Level 1 or 

Level 2 Outdoor Sales Display herein and are subject to Staff review and Plan 

Commission review on a case-by-case basis. These displays may include, but are not 

limited to: large products or equipment, appliances, seasonal recreational items 

(pools, play equipment, etc.), accessory structures (sheds, gazebos, etc.) or display of 

building materials (fencing, pavers, etc.). 

 

(2) Approval:  

 

(A) A permit application (including plans for the display) must be submitted 

to the Community Development Department prior to displaying products 

outside. The submittal shall include the following: 

(i) Application form 

(ii) Plat of Survey or dimensioned Site Plan 

(iii) Dimensioned plans showing the display area 

(iv) Information about what types of products will be displayed 

(v) Display time plan outlining when the outdoor display period will 

occur 

 

(B) The Village Planner or their designee shall review the application and 

present the information to the Plan Commission for approval. 

 

(C) Fees: The fees for Level 3 Outdoor Sales Displays shall be as 

adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special 

Ordinances, Table XI). 
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(3) Location: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

(4) Size: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

(5) Time for Display: 

 

(A) To be determined on a case-by-case basis by the Plan Commission. 

 

f. Signage: 

 

(1) Any signage affiliated with an Outdoor Sales Display is subject to the 

regulations within Section IX of the Zoning Ordinance, as amended from 

time to time. 

 

g. Appeals: 

 

(1) Outdoor Sales Displays not meeting the regulations herein for Level 1 or 

Level 2 shall be automatically considered Level 3 and subject to Staff Review 

and Plan Commission Review. 

 

(2) If the Plan Commission denies the Level 3 Outdoor Sales Display request, 

then the Applicant may appeal the Commission’s decision to the Village 

Board. 

 

h. Penalty: 

 

(1) Outdoor sales displays without permits must be removed immediately upon 

notice of the violation. 

 

(2) If an outdoor sales display is exhibited without a permit, then the business 

owner is subject to a fine equal to double the permit fee and a permit still 

must be obtained. 

 

 

 P. PORTABLE STORAGE DEVICES 

 

1. Portable storage container units and devices shall include all types of storage devices and 

enclosed trailers with or without wheels. 

 

2. Portable storage devices shall not be stored on any public street, alley, or public right-of-

way in any zoning district. 
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3. Portable storage devices shall be maintained in good repair, structurally sound, and free 

from any graffiti or peeling paint. 

 

4. Portable storage devices shall require a Temporary Use Permit, and shall be subject to 

the following regulations: 

 

Residential Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device, not exceeding outside dimensions of 

twelve (12) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height, shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Residential Zoning Districts for no more than fourteen 

(14) days per calendar year, provided they are placed on and do not extend beyond a 

driveway surface and do not encroach across any public sidewalk or across any 

property line. 

  

Commercial Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device not exceeding outside dimensions of 

forty (40) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Commercial Zoning Districts for no more than thirty 

(30) days per calendar year.  Such devices shall be placed on an impervious surface 

of concrete or asphalt, and shall not be located in any required parking space or drive 

aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance, or within any area that 

hinders access to parking spaces and/or drive aisles.  Such storage devices shall not 

be stacked.  Requests for more than one (1) such device require submission of a Site 

Plan for review and approval by the Zoning Administrator or his designee, prior to 

placing the units on the zoning lot. 

 

Industrial Zoning Districts: 

 

a. No more than one (1) portable storage device not exceeding outside dimensions of 

forty (40) feet in length, eight (8) feet in width, and nine (9) feet in height shall be 

permitted per zoning lot in all Industrial Zoning Districts for no more than sixty 

(60) days per calendar year.  Such devices shall be placed on an impervious surface 

of concrete or asphalt, and shall not be located in any required parking space or 

drive aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance, or within any area 

that hinders access to parking spaces and or access aisles.  Such storage devices 

shall not be stacked.  Such storage devices must be screened from view on all sides.  

Requests for more than one (1) such device require submission of a Site Plan for 

review and approval by the Zoning Administrator or his designee, prior to placing 

the units on the zoning lot: 

 

b. No more than two (2) semi-trailers, with or without tractors, can be stored outside 

of a loading dock for loading and unloading of goods or materials, for more than 

five (5) days; and 

 

c. Portable storage container units cannot be stacked. 
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Q. COLLECTION/DONATION DEVICES AND BOXES  

 

1.   Collection/donation devices (boxes) shall be prohibited within the Village of Tinley 

Park except as provided below: 

 

a. An application letter and dimensioned Site Plan must be submitted for the approval 

by the Zoning Administrator or his designee.  In the event this letter is being 

submitted by persons other than the owner of the subject property, a letter of 

authorization from the property owner must also accompany the application request;   

 

b. The collection/donation device must be manned during normal business hours seven 

(7) days per week; and 

 

c. The collection/donation device may not be located within any required parking 

space or drive aisle as required by Section VIII of this Zoning Ordinance. 

 

 

R.  PARKING OF VEHICLES IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS 

 

1.  The parking of vehicles in all Residential Zoning Districts shall comply with the 

following regulations: 

 

a. Whenever a structure is erected, converted, or structurally altered for dwelling use, a 

minimum number of parking spaces shall be provided on the lot for each dwelling 

unit on the lot as required by Section VIII.A.10 of this Zoning Ordinance; 

 

b. No vehicle shall be parked between the street and the front lot line.  Parking of 

vehicles between the front line of any portion of the building and the front lot line 

shall be limited to private passenger automobiles not exceeding three-quarter (3/4) 

ton, except as specifically provided for elsewhere in this Ordinance; 

 

c. No unlicensed, unregistered (Village sticker), or inoperable vehicle shall be 

permitted on any residential property for more than twenty-four (24) hours, unless it 

is in an enclosed garage; and 

 

d. In Residential Zoning Districts, the following vehicles and equipment shall be 

stored only in a garage or fully enclosed structure: 

 

i. Any truck or other type of commercial vehicle or equipment in excess of 

eight thousand (8,000) pounds; 

 

ii. Vehicles requiring a Class D truck plate; and 

 

iii. Trailers in excess of three thousand (3,000) pounds or requiring a Class TA 

trailer plate. 
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e. No vehicle used for transporting flammable liquids, explosives, toxic, or noxious 

materials shall be parked or stored in a Residential Zoning District; 

 

f. Nothing in the provisions of this Ordinance shall be construed to prohibit trucks or 

other service vehicles from being parked on the premises temporarily for purposes 

of making deliveries or rendering service to the property owner; 

 

g. It shall be unlawful for any person to occupy or use any recreational vehicle for 

living or sleeping purposes upon any street, alley, lane, highway, municipal off-

street parking lot, or other public place or upon any lot, piece, parcel, or tract of land 

within the Village of Tinley Park, except within a lawfully established and licensed 

recreational park, campground, or other like facility which is designed and equipped 

to operate for the purpose of providing temporary accommodations for such units, 

or as provided for hereinafter in Item h(5); and 

 

h. In all Residential Zoning Districts, it is permissible to park a recreational vehicle, 

trailer, or boat and trailer in the following manner: 

 

(1) Parking is permitted inside any enclosed structure, which structure otherwise 

conforms to the zoning requirements of the particular zone where located; 

 

(2) Parking is permitted outside in the side yard or rear yard provided it is not nearer 

than two (2) feet to the lot line;  

 

(3) Parking is permitted outside on a driveway, provided: 

 

i. Space is not available in the rear yard or side yard, or there is no reasonable 

access to either the side yard or rear yard; a corner lot is always deemed to 

have reasonable access to the rear yard; a fence is not necessarily deemed to 

prevent reasonable access; 

 

ii. Inside parking is not possible; and 

 

iii. The unit is parked perpendicular to the front curb. 

 

(4) No part of the unit may extend over the public sidewalk or public thoroughfare 

(right-of-way); 

 

(5) Parking is permitted only for storage purposes, and any recreational vehicle or 

trailer shall not be: 

 

i. Used for dwelling purposes except one unit for overnight sleeping of visitors 

for a maximum of three (3) days in any one calendar year.  Cooking is not 

permitted at any time; butane or propane fuel shall not be used, and the host 

shall receive no compensation for such parking; 
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ii. Permanently connected to sewer lines, water lines, or electricity.  The 

recreational vehicle may be connected to electricity temporarily for charging 

of batteries and other purposes provided the receptacle and connection from 

the recreational vehicle has been inspected and approved by the Village.  

This connection must meet the Electrical Code of the Village, and an 

Electrical Permit must be obtained for all such installations; and 

 

iii. Used for storage of goods, materials, or equipment other than those items 

considered to be a part of the unit or essential for its immediate use. 

 

 

(6) Notwithstanding the provisions of Item 3, above, for purposes of active loading 

and unloading, a recreational vehicle may be parked anywhere on the premises 

normally deemed as parking space for private passenger automobiles; and the 

use of electricity or propane fuel is permitted when necessary to prepare a 

recreational vehicle for use; 

 

(7) Subject to the exceptions set forth herein, it shall be unlawful for any owner, 

lessee, or occupant of any lot, piece, parcel, or tract of land within the Village of 

Tinley Park, whether for gain, hire, reward, or gratuity, or otherwise, to permit 

the same to be occupied or used by any vehicle for living or sleeping purposes; 

and 

 

(8) Nothing in the provisions of this Ordinance shall be construed to prohibit the 

owner or operator of any recreational vehicle from parking or storing said unit 

upon premises owned, leased, or otherwise lawfully occupied or used by him, so 

long as such unit is not occupied or used for living or sleeping purposes in 

violation of the provisions of this section of the Ordinance, or any other 

applicable ordinance or regulation of the Village of Tinley Park. 

 

 

S.  PARKING OF VEHICLES IN BUSINESS DISTRICTS 

 

 The parking of vehicles in all business districts shall comply with the following regulations: 

 

1. The parking regulations for dwellings are the same as those in the Residential Zoning 

Districts; 

 

2. Where any structure is erected, reconstructed, or converted for any of the business 

purposes permitted in this Section, there shall be provided parking spaces in the ratio of 

not less than one (1) parking space for each one hundred fifty (150) square feet of floor 

space in the building which is used for commercial purposes.  Such parking space may 

be located on the same lot as the building or on an area within three hundred (300) feet 

of the building.  Two (2) or more owners of buildings may join together in providing 

this parking space; 

 

3. Outside parking or storage of any abandoned, damaged, inoperable, dismantled, or 
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unregistered vehicles for more than forty-eight (48) hours shall be prohibited in all 

automobile service stations; and 

4. Parking of trailers or trucks not registered to the business is prohibited, except when 

located in an enclosed area that is adequately screened from public view. 

 

 

T.  REGULATION OF TRAFFIC AND PARKING ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 

 

1. Any condominium development, apartment house, or apartment project containing ten 

(10) or more dwelling units shall enter into a contract with the Village that will permit 

the Police Department of Tinley Park to regulate traffic and access to the driveways and 

parking areas which are open to or used by the public, tenants, owners, guests, and 

employees.  A written request by the owner or developer of the specific property shall 

be filed with the Village Clerk prior to the issuance of any Building Permits. 

 

2. Any owner of any shopping center, business establishment, hospital, or school shall 

enter into a contract with the Village that will permit the Police Department of Tinley 

Park to regulate the parking of automobiles and the traffic at such parking areas.  A 

written request by the owner or developer of the specific property shall be filed with the 

Village Clerk prior to the issuance of any Building Permits. 

 

3. All regulations adopted and traffic control devices employed by the Village in the 

regulation of traffic on private drives and parking areas, or the parking of automobiles 

in parking lots of shopping centers, business establishments, apartment complexes or 

schools shall be consistent with the statutory provisions contained in chapter 95-1/2, 

Section 11-209 and 209.1 of the Illinois Municipal Code. 

 

 

U. SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 

No Building Permit shall be issued for the construction or alteration of any multi-family 

residence, business, office, or industrial building or structure until a Site Plan and 

Architectural Review has been reviewed by the Planning Department Staff and if required, 

approved by the Plan Commission. The filing fee for new site plan reviews and 

amendments (building additions, parking changes, landscape changes, architectural 

changes, etc.) shall be as adopted by the Village Board and listed in the Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule (Tinley Park Code of Ordinances, Table of Special Ordinances, Table XI). 

 

The Planning Department Staff shall review the site and architectural plans for 

conformance with this Ordinance and other Codes and Ordinances of the Village, and if 

required, shall make a report with recommendations to the Plan Commission. Plan 

Commission review is required if the proposed development requires zoning approval 

(Variation, Rezoning, Special Use Permit, Map Amendment, or Plat approval). For projects 

requiring Plan Commission review, after receiving the report of the Planning Department 

Staff, the Plan Commission shall approve the Site and Architectural Plans, with or without 

conditions, deny it, or refer it back to the Planning Department Staff for further study. 
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     1.  Site Plan Contents: 

 

 A Site Plan shall: 

 

a. Be drawn at a scale of 1" = 50' or larger; 

b. Show boundaries and dimensions graphically, contain a written legal description 

of the property, and indicate the date and north point; 

c. Show the present and proposed topography of the area by contour lines at one (1) 

foot intervals; 

d. Show, by use of directional arrow, the proposed flow of storm drainage from the 

site; 

e. Show the location of existing and proposed structures and indicate the number of 

stories, gross floor area, and entrances to all structures; 

f. Show the location and dimensions of existing and proposed curb cuts, aisles, off-

street parking, loading spaces, and walkways; 

g. Indicate location, height, and material for screening walls and fences; 

h. List the type of surfacing and base course proposed for all parking, loading, and 

walkway areas; 

i. Describe the proposed use of the site and list the number of required off-street 

parking spaces.  If the exact use is not known at the time of Site Plan submittal, 

off-street parking requirements shall be calculated by the general use group using 

the greatest off-street parking requirement of that use group; 

j. Show the proposed location, indicate direction, and list amount of illumination of 

proposed lighting facilities; and 

k. Show location of each outdoor trash storage area. 

 

    2.      Architectural Plan Contents:  

 

An Architectural Plan shall: 

 

a. Be drawn at a scale of 1/8”=1’ 0” or larger; 

b. Provide exterior elevations of all sides of the proposed structure with dimensions; 

c. Identify all building materials along with their specifications; and 

d. Provide building samples as requested by staff. 

 

 3.        Conditions of Approval: 

 

If Plan Commission review is required, the Planning Department Staff shall first find 

that  the following conditions have been met: 

 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is     

located; 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, 

landscaping, and drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses; 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within 

the site provides for safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only 
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within the site but on adjacent roadways as well; 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site; 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and 

perimeter (including public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed 

development will be in harmony with adjacent land uses and will provide a 

pleasing appearance to the public.  Any part of the Site Plan area not used for 

buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture 

of grass, trees, and shrubs;  

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened; and  

g. That staff has reviewed the Architectural Plans against the Architectural and Site 

Design Standards and found them to be in general conformance. 

 

4.  Assurance of Performance:   

 

      At the recommendation of the Plan Commission, the Village Board may require the 

applicant to file with the Village Clerk a performance bond as a condition of approval to 

ensure completion of approved landscaping, fencing, off-street parking and loading, 

drainage, and other specific items of the Site and/or Architectural Plans. The amount of 

the performance bond shall be determined by the Village Board.  If, upon inspection of the 

completed project it is found that the conditions of the Site and/or Architectural Plans 

have been met, the performance bond shall be released to the applicant.  If the applicant 

does not comply within a reasonable time with the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans, the Village Clerk shall give written notice to the applicant and the 

bonding company.  (Reasonable time shall be determined by the life of the performance 

bond as stated thereupon, less sixty (60) days.)  If the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans have not been met thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the 

performance bond, the Village shall bring such action as is necessary to ensure completion 

of the Site and/or Architectural Plan conditions.  However, if the applicant can show that 

he has tried to the utmost of his ability to meet the conditions of the Site and/or 

Architectural Plans within the time period allotted, but that adversities not of his making 

have been the cause of his failure to meet the Site and/or Architectural Plan conditions, the 

Village Board may require that the performance bond be extended for a specified period of 

time. 

 

5.  Time Limitation:  

 

If no Building Permit is issued for the site within one (1) year from the date of 

Site/Architectural Plan Approval, the Site/Architectural Plan shall become null and void. 

  

6.  Architectural and Site Design Standards: 

 

These design standards serve as a tool to encourage good architectural and site design that 

is cost effective yet contributes in a positive way to the overall quality aesthetic of Tinley 

Park.  In addition to addressing architecture, building materials, and site design, the 

Village regulates landscape and lighting design through the Zoning Ordinance and 

Municipal Code. The Architectural and Site Design Standards shall be used in tandem with 

these other design regulations. 
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The following standards do not prescribe a certain architectural style; their intent is to 

encourage architects and builders to fill the gap between general planning policies and 

specific zoning standards and encourage creative interpretation by developers and 

architects, resulting in a design that exceeds minimal standards. Buildings should be 

attractive and memorable for all the right reasons; quality architecture remains the best 

signage for any business.  

 

The following design standards apply to all non-residential development (including multi-

family developments of 3 or more units): 

 

 

Architecture 

 

a. Building Materials: The size of the structure will dictate the required building materials 

(Section V.C. Supplementary District Regulations). Where tilt-up or pre-cast masonry 

walls (with face or thin brick inlay) are allowed vertical articulation features are 

encouraged to mask the joint lines. Concrete panels must incorporate architectural 

finishes that comply with “Building Articulation” (Section III.U.5.h.) standards. Cast in 

place concrete may be used as an accent alternate building material (no greater than 

15% per façade) provided there is sufficient articulation and detail to diminish it’s the 

appearance if used on large, blank walls.  

 

b. Cohesive Building Design: Buildings must be built with approved materials and provide 

architectural interest on all sides of the structure. Whatever architectural style is chosen, 

a consistent style of architectural composition and building materials are to be applied to 

all building facades.  

 

c. Compatible Architecture:  All construction, whether it be new or part of an addition or 

renovation of an existing structure, must be compatible with the character of the site, 

adjacent structures, and streetscape. Avoid architecture or building materials that 

significantly diverge from adjacent architecture.  Maintain the rhythm of the block in 

terms of scale, massing, and setback. Where a development includes outlots they shall be 

designed with compatible and consistent architecture with the primary building(s). Site 

lighting, landscaping, and architecture shall reflect a consistent design statement 

throughout the development.  

 

d. Color: Color choices shall consider the context of the surrounding area and shall not be 

used for purposes of “attention-getting” or branding of the proposed use. Color choices 

shall be harmonious with the surrounding buildings; excessively bright or brilliant colors 

are to be avoided except to be used on a minor scale for accents.   

 

e. Sustainable architectural design: The overall design must meet the needs of the current 

use without compromising the ability of future uses. Do not let the current use dictate an 

architecture so unique that it limits its potential for other uses (i.e. Medieval Times). 
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f. Defined Entry:  Entrance shall be readily identifiable from the public right-of-way or 

parking fields. The entry can be clearly defined by using unique architecture, a canopy, 

overhang or some other type of weather protection, some form of roof element, or 

enhanced landscaping. 

 

g. Roof: For buildings 10,000 square feet or less, a pitched roof is required or a parapet that 

extends the full exterior of the building. For buildings with a continuous roof line of 100 

feet or more, a change of at least five feet in height must be made for every 75 feet.  

 

h. Building Articulation: Large expanses of walls void of color, material, or texture 

variation are to be avoided.  The use of material and color changes, articulation of details 

around doors, windows, plate lines, the provision of architectural  details such as “belly-

bands” (decorative cladding that runs horizontally around the building), the use of 

recessed design elements, exposed expansion joints, reveals, change in texture, or other 

methods of visual relief are encouraged as a means to minimize the oppressiveness of 

large expanses of walls and  break down the overall scale of the building into 

intermediate scaled parts. On commercial buildings, facades greater than 100 feet must 

include some form of articulation of the façade through the use of recesses or projections 

of at least 6 inches for at least 20% of the length of the façade. For industrial buildings, 

efforts to break up the long façade shall be accomplished through a change in building 

material, color or vertical breaks of three feet or more every 250 feet.  

 

i. Screen Mechanicals: All mechanical devices shall be screened from all public views.  

 

j. Trash Enclosures: Trash enclosures must be screened on three sides by a masonry wall 

consistent with the architecture and building material of the building it serves.  Gates 

must be kept closed at all times and constructed of a durable material such as wood or 

steel. They shall not be located in the front or corner side yard and shall be set behind the 

front building façade. 

 

 

Site Design 

 

a. Building/parking location:  Buildings shall be located in a position of prominence with 

parking located to the rear or side of the main structure when possible. Parking areas 

shall be designed so as to provide continuous circulation avoiding dead-end parking 

aisles. Drive-through facilities shall be located to the rear or side of the structure and not 

dominate the aesthetics of the building. Architecture for canopies of drive-through areas 

shall be consistent with the architecture of the main structure.  

 

b. Loading Areas: Loading docks shall be located at the rear or side of buildings whenever 

possible and screened from view from public rights-of-way. 

 

c. Outdoor Storage:  Outdoor storage areas shall be located at the rear of the site in 

accordance with Section III.O.1. (Open Storage). No open storage is allowed in front or 
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corner side yards and not permitted to occupy areas designated for parking, driveways, 

or walkways. 

 

d. Interior Circulation: Shared parking and cross access easements are encouraged with 

adjacent properties of similar use. Where possible, visitor and employee traffic shall be 

separate from truck or equipment traffic.  

 

e. Pedestrian Access: Public and interior sidewalks shall be provided to encourage 

pedestrian traffic. Bicycle use shall be encouraged by providing dedicated bikeways and 

parking. Where pedestrians or bicycles must cross vehicle pathways, a crosswalk shall be 

provided that is distinguished by a different pavement material or color. 

 

 

V.  SPECIAL PROVISION PRESERVING CERTAIN RIGHTS 

 

Special provision is hereby established preserving the rights established in unexpired 

annexation agreements and Ordinances No. 74-0-015, No. 74-0-016, and No. 74-0-017.  

 

 

W.  REGULATIONS FOR PERSONAL WIRELESS SERVICE FACILITIES 

 

1. Purpose and Intent 

 

a. Promote the health, safety, and general welfare of the public by regulating the siting of 

wireless communications facilities and antennae; 

 

b. Minimize the visual, aesthetic, and public safety impacts of wireless communications 

facilities on surrounding areas by establishing standards for location, structural 

integrity, and compatibility with existing telecommunication services; 

 

c. Encourage the location and Co-Location of wireless communications equipment on 

existing structures, thereby minimizing visual, aesthetic, and public safety impacts and 

effects and reducing the need for additional antenna supporting structures; 

 

d. Accommodate the growing need and demand for wireless communications services; 

 

e. Encourage coordination between providers of wireless communications services in the 

Village; 

 

f. Protect the character, scale, stability, and aesthetic quality of the residential districts of 

the Village by imposing certain reasonable restrictions on the placement of residential 

communication facilities; 

 

g. Establish predictable and balanced regulations governing the construction and location 

of wireless communications facilities; 
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h. Provide for the removal of discontinued antenna supporting structures. 

 

2. Exemptions 

 

a. The Village is exempt from the regulations herein when there is a demonstrated need 

for telecommunication services provided by the Village. 

 

b. Any Small Cell Wireless Facility subject to the Illinois Small Wireless Facilities 

Deployment Act shall be exempt from these regulations except that the installations 

shall comply with the Design Standards located in Section III.W.5.c of the Zoning 

Ordinance (Small Cell Wireless Facility Design Standards) below. Alternatively, such 

Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be subject to the regulations in Title IX, Chapter 

106 of the Village’s Code of Ordinances. 

 

3. General Regulations: 

 

a. All privately-owned Towers, Antennas, and related components shall not interfere with 

public safety communications infrastructure. 

 

b. The Petitioner shall demonstrate that the proposed Antenna(s) and support structure(s) 

are safe, and that surrounding areas will not be negatively affected by support structure 

failure, falling ice, or other debris.  

 

c. All TCSF support structures shall be fitted with anti-climbing devices, as approved by 

the manufacturer; 

 

d. All Towers and Antennas shall comply with the current standards and regulations of the 

Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Aviation Administration, and any 

other agency of the federal government with the authority to regulate owners and 

Antennas; 

 

e. A TCSF shall not have signage or advertising other than signage required by state and 

federal laws, rules or regulations; 

 

f. Co-Location and Location on Existing Structures Preferred: In order to minimize 

adverse visual impacts associated with the proliferation of Towers, Co-Location of 

Antennas by more than one provider on existing Towers and location of Antennas on 

existing buildings or structures shall take precedence over the construction of new 

Freestanding Cell Towers.  If a new, Freestanding Cell Tower is proposed, a Special 

Use Permit shall not be granted unless the Petitioner demonstrates, compliance with the 

following: 

 

(1) A diligent effort has been made to locate the Antenna on an existing Freestanding 

Cell Tower, building or structure and that due to valid considerations including 

physical constraints and economic or technological feasibility, no other appropriate 

location is available; 
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(2) Covenants shall be recorded which require that the Petitioner allow, on a 

commercially reasonable basis, other providers of personal wireless service 

facilities and other Antennas to Co-Locate on the proposed Freestanding Cell 

Tower, where such Co-Location is technologically feasible; and 

 

(3) The Site Plan for the construction of a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall delineate 

an area, either on site or on adjacent property, near the base of the Tower to be used 

for the placement of additional equipment and buildings for other users. To the 

extent that the site for the new Freestanding Cell Tower is adequate to allow Co-

Location on such site, the Petitioner must allow, on a commercially reasonable 

basis, other providers to locate on site. 

 

g. Structural Integrity: A TCSF, including Antenna(s), other component parts, and all 

related equipment anchorage, shall be designed to withstand the wind force referenced 

in the applicable building and/or electrical codes currently adopted by the Village 

including loading without the use of guy wires and including the Telecommunications 

Industry Association Standards (TIA-222-H, as amended from time to time). As part of 

the permit application process, the Petitioner shall provide the Village with a structural 

evaluation of each specific location establishing that the proposed installation meets or 

exceeds the standards described herein. The evaluation shall be prepared by a structural 

engineer licensed in the State of Illinois with drawings sealed with a professional seal 

and including geotechnical verification of the structural design.   

 

h. Abandonment: 

 

(1) In the event the use of a TCSF is discontinued for a period of sixty (60) 

consecutive days, the TCSF shall be deemed to be abandoned. The equipment 

owner/operator and the property owner shall notify the Community Development 

Director of its discontinuation. The Community Development Director or their 

designee shall determine the date of abandonment based on documentation 

required from the TCSF owner/operator, property owner, or other appropriate 

sources. Upon abandonment, the TCSF owner/operator shall have an additional 

sixty (60) days within which to: 

 

i. Reactivate the use of the TCSF either by said owner/operator or transfer of the 

Tower to another owner/operator for such use within the aforesaid sixty (60) day 

period. Transfer of the TCSF to another owner/operator shall not require Special 

Use Permit approval provided use of the TCSF is re-activated within the sixty 

(60) day period, and that the use of the TCSF complies with all conditions of the 

original Special Use Permit approval and the terms of this Ordinance; 

 

ii. Dismantle and remove the TCSF at which time any Special Use Permit 

approval shall become null and void; and 

 

iii. Request approval from the Village Board to allow the abandoned TCSF to 

remain for a specified period of time. If said approval is granted, the TCSF shall 

be reactivated or removed within the time period approved by the Village Board 
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as per regulations herein. 

 

4. Regulations for Locating TCSF 

 

a. Hierarchy of TCSF Locations: In accordance with Section III.W.3.f (Co-Location and 

Location on Existing Structures Preferred ) of the Zoning Ordinance, the Petitioner 

must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no suitable Co-Location 

opportunities available on existing TCSF locations. Such Co-Location shall be 

permitted uses subject to Site Plan approval and regulations provided herein. If no such 

locations exist, then a new TCSF location, including new Freestanding Cell Towers, 

shall be sited in accordance with Section III.W.4.c (Location Requirements for New 

TCSF Locations) of the Zoning Ordinance below. 

 

b. Location Requirements for TCSF Co-Locations 

 

(1) Antennas shall be attached to existing Freestanding Cell Towers or on existing 

non-residential structures. Existing non-residential structures include tall buildings, 

water towers and utility structures such as electrical towers used to support the new 

Antennas. New support poles may be installed within an existing non-residential 

structure’s dimensions with Site Plan approval. 

 

(2) Attachment to Existing Freestanding Cell Tower: Antennas shall not project above 

the top of the monopole and shall not interfere with other Antennas on the 

monopole. 

 

(3) New ground equipment and structures shall meet the requirements of new 

equipment in Section W.4.c.(2) of the Zoning Code listed below. 

  

(4) Attachment to Existing Non-Residential Building: 

 

i. Antennas shall only be permitted on the rear and side walls of a building. 

 

ii. Antennas attached to an existing building shall not exceed one foot (1’) above 

the top parapet of the building. Antennas shall not project more than one foot 

(1’) from the side of a building. 

 

iii. Antennas shall be made to blend into the architecture of the building. 

 

(5) Approval for Antenna Co-Location on Existing Freestanding Cell Tower or 

Existing Structure 

 

i. The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by 

the Plan Commission if the Co-Location involves changes to ground 

equipment that would alter the existing footprint of the existing ground 

equipment enclosure. 

 

ii. If located on Village property the Petitioner must complete a lease 
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agreement with the Village. When a Special Use Permit or Site Plan 

Approval is required, such agreement must be agreed upon prior to 

scheduling meetings for the Special Use Permit or Site Plan Approval. 

 

iii. The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community 

Development Department. 

 

c. Location Requirements for New TCSF Locations 

 

(1) New Freestanding Cell Towers shall be sited in accordance with the hierarchy 

below. 

 

i. A new Freestanding Cell Tower shall first be located on Village-owned 

property where there is likely to be less visual impact and more visual impact 

controls. If there are no sites available on Village-owned property, then a new 

Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on property owned by a publicly-

elected body or district (e.g. library district, park district, school district, etc.). 

The Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no 

suitable locations available on Village-owned property. 

 

ii. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraph i in the hierarchy 

above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on property within 

the M-1 (General Manufacturing) Zoning District, provided that the proposed 

Freestanding Cell Tower is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of a 

Residential Zoning District or is separated from a Residential Zoning District 

by a freeway or principal arterial road. The Petitioner must perform their due 

diligence and demonstrate there are no locations available on any higher levels 

in the hierarchy. 

 

iii. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraphs i or ii in the 

hierarchy above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on 

property within the ORI (Office and Restricted Industrial) Zoning District, 

provided that the proposed Freestanding Cell Tower is not within one 

thousand (1,000) feet of a Residential Zoning District or is separated from a 

Residential Zoning District by a freeway or principal arterial road. The 

Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate there are no 

locations available on any higher levels in the hierarchy. 

 

iv. If there are no suitable sites available as listed in paragraphs i, ii, or iii in the 

hierarchy above, then a new Freestanding Cell Tower shall be located on 

property in any Business district, provided that the proposed Freestanding Cell 

Tower is not within one thousand (1,000) feet of a Residential Zoning District 

or is separated from a Residential Zoning District by a freeway or principal 

arterial road. The Petitioner must perform their due diligence and demonstrate 

there are no locations available on any higher levels in the hierarchy. 

 

v. All other locations (all residential zoning districts and within 1,000 feet of any 
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residential zoning district) for new Freestanding Cell Towers shall require the 

Petitioner perform due diligence and demonstrate that there are no locations 

available in the hierarchy of locations listed above. The petitioner shall 

demonstrate that they are utilizing the least visually obtrusive location. 

Location of new Freestanding Cell Towers in any Legacy District location is 

the least preferred location. Disguised Support Structures shall be required for 

all locations not listed in the hierarchy of locations (i-iv) above. 

 

(2) Yards and Setbacks:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower and the associated ground equipment shall be 

permitted in a rear yard. 

 

ii. A Freestanding Cell Tower and the associated ground equipment must be 

set back at least ten feet (10’) from the principal structure and ten feet (10’) 

from property lines. 

 

(3) Approval for New Freestanding Cell Towers 

 

i. The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by 

the Plan Commission. 

 

ii. The Petitioner must obtain a Special Use Permit with review by the Plan 

Commission and approval by the Village Board. 

 

iii. If located on Village property, the Petitioner must complete a lease 

agreement with the Village. When a Special Use Permit or Site Plan 

Approval is required, such agreement must be agreed upon prior to 

scheduling meetings for the Special Use Permit or Site Plan Approval. 

 

iv. The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community 

Development Department. 

 

d. Conditions for All TCSF Locations 

 

(1) Maximum Height:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower’s monopole may extend up to 100’ from grade. A 

lightning rod may extend up to 5’ above the top of the monopole. 

 

ii. Antennas attached to an existing Freestanding Cell Tower shall not project 

above the top of the monopole. 

 

(2) Color:  

 

i. A Freestanding Cell Tower, Antennas, and all related equipment and 

appurtenances shall be a color that blends with the surroundings.  
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ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

iii. Any wiring shall be covered with an appropriate cover or cable shield. No 

wiring may be visible. 

 

(3) Future Co-Locations: All new Freestanding Cell Towers must allow for a 

minimum of one (1) Co-Location by other potential users. 

 

(4) Disguised Towers: The Village encourages the use of Disguised Support 

Structures on Freestanding Cell Towers such as flag poles, monopines, or 

architectural elements. Such Disguised Support Structures are required as 

described in Section III.W.4.c.(1).v. of the Zoning Code above. 

 

(5) Screening:  

 

i. The Freestanding Cell Tower shall be architecturally compatible with the 

surrounding buildings and land uses or shall be otherwise integrated, through 

location and design, to blend in with the existing characteristics of the site to 

the extent practical. 

 

ii. All associated ground equipment shall be screened by a masonry shelter or 

enclosure at least six feet (6’) in height but no taller than eight feet (8’) in 

height. The enclosure shall have a security gate matching the structural 

integrity and aesthetic design of the enclosure. 

 

iii. Landscaping is required around the ground equipment enclosure in 

accordance with the recommendation from the Village’s Landscape Architect 

or as required by the Village’s Landscape Ordinance, as amended from time to 

time. 

 

5. Regulations for Small Cell Wireless Facilities 

 

a. Small Cell Wireless Facility Locations 

 

(1) Small Cell Wireless Facilities may be installed on existing Utility Poles in the 

public right-of-way compliance with the Village’s Code of Ordinances. 

 

(2) When an existing Utility Pole does not exist in compliance with Section 

III.W.5.a.(1) of the Zoning Ordinance above, a Small Cell Wireless Facility shall 

require Special Use Permit approval. 

 

(3) Separation Requirement: Small Cell Wireless Facilities (not exempt from these 

regulations) shall be attached to a Utility Pole located a minimum of five hundred 

(500) feet from any other Utility Pole on which a Small Cell Wireless Facility is 

mounted. A lesser separation may be approved if the Petitioner provides evidence 

that the lesser separation is necessary to close a significant gap in the Petitioner’s 
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services or to otherwise provide adequate services to customers, and the proposed 

Small Cell Wireless Facility location is the least intrusive means to do so. 

 

b. Conditions 

 

(1) Maximum Number of Antennas: Not more than one (1) Small Cell Wireless 

Facility shall be located on a single pole or structure. 

 

(2) Surface Area of Antenna:  

 

i. The Small Cell Wireless Antenna, including Antenna panels, whip Antennas 

or dish-shaped Antennas, shall not have a surface area of more than six (6) 

cubic feet. 

 

ii. No single dimension of the Antenna or associated equipment shall exceed 

six (6) feet.  

 

iii. Omnidirectional or whip Antennas shall not extend more than six (6) feet 

from the pole. 

 

c. Design Standards 

 

(1) Overall Size: The smallest suitable small cell Antennas, equipment, and facilities 

available for industry use shall be utilized for all installations. 

 

(2) Stealth Requirement: The use of stealth technology in the location and 

construction of Small Cell Wireless Facilities is required. Stealth technology 

means using the least visually and physically intrusive design and equipment to 

employ methods that blend into surroundings and not be visible; and to minimize 

adverse aesthetic and visual impacts on the right-of-way, property, building 

and/or other facilities adjacent to, surrounding and in generally the same area as 

the requested location of such Small Cell Wireless Facilities. 

 

(3) Maximum Height: The top of the highest point of the Antenna shall not extend 

more than ten (10) feet above the highest point of the existing pole. 

 

(4) Minimum Height: The bottom of the lowest point of the Antenna shall not be 

lower than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

 

(5) Minimum Equipment Height: The operator of a Small Cell Wireless Facility 

shall, whenever possible, locate the base of the equipment or appurtenances at the 

highest height possible on the pole, but no lower than nine (9) feet above grade. 

 

(6) Pole Visual Interference: Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall not interfere with or 

block any existing signage or other Village installations (banners, holiday décor, 

flowers, etc.) located on a pole. 
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(7) Extensions: Extensions to poles utilized for the purpose of connecting a Small 

Cell Wireless Facility shall be fabricated from non-metallic material of a neutral 

color approved by the Village, and shall have a degree of strength capable of 

supporting the entire Small Cell Wireless Facility and cabling and capable of 

withstanding wind forces and ice loads in accordance with the structural integrity 

standards set forth in Section W.3.h. of the Zoning Code above. An extension 

shall be securely bound to the Utility Pole perpendicular to the ground in 

accordance with applicable engineering standards for the design and attachment 

of such extensions. No extensions fabricated from wood shall be permitted. 

 

(8) Wires and Cables: Any wiring and cables associated with a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility must be run through the hollow interior of the pole. If proven to be 

infeasible to run inside of the pole, all wiring and cables shall be covered with an 

appropriate cover or cable shield. No exterior wires or cables shall be visible 

under any circumstance. 

 

(9) Color:  

 

i. A Small Cell Wireless Facility, including the Antenna and all related 

equipment, extensions, appurtenances and covers, shall be a neutral color 

that blends with the existing pole and the surroundings of the Utility Pole on 

which it is mounted. 

 

ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

(10) Antenna Panel Covering: A Small Cell Wireless Facility Antenna shall include a 

radome, cap, or other Antenna panel covering or shield and shall be of a color 

that blends with the color of the Utility Pole on which it is mounted. 

 

(11) Guy Wires: No guy or other support wires shall be used in connection with a 

Small Cell Wireless Facility unless proposed to be attached to an existing Utility 

Pole that incorporated guy wires prior to the date that a Petitioner has applied for 

a permit. No additional guy wires shall be added to a utility pole for the purpose 

of supporting a Small Cell Wireless Facility. If additional guy wires are required 

for structural integrity reasons, the Utility Pole shall be required to be replaced 

to be self-supporting and structurally sound without the use of guy wires. 

 

(12) Decorative Column and Lantern Light Poles: Locating Small Cell Wireless 

Facilities on a decorative column, lantern or similar light pole located within the 

Legacy Code Zoning District for visual and aesthetic enhancement reasons (train 

stations, public facilities, pedestrian walks or corridors, etc.), shall be 

discouraged. Alternatives to utilizing these decorative light poles should be used 

including the installation on private property. When Co-Located on decorative 

light poles, a Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall keep the existing appearance of 

the light pole and any extensions shall be disguised in a manner similar to the 

design and appearance of the pole. Due diligence shall be required to indicate 

proper structural integrity and non-interference with signage or other Village 
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installations (banners, holiday décor, flowers, etc.) located on a pole. 

 

(13) Undergrounding: Any mechanical equipment or Antenna equipment associated 

with a Small Cell Wireless Facility that cannot be located on the pole because of 

structural reasons or because of other restrictions, such as height and size 

allowances, shall be concealed underground. When located in a public right-of-

way where other utilities are not required to complete the same undergrounding 

requirements, mechanical equipment shall not be required to be placed 

underground. If the undergrounding of equipment is not possible, feasible or 

required as stated above, as determined by the Community Development 

Department or Public Works Department, equipment shall be mounted within a 

concealment box designed as a decorative pole base or within unobtrusive 

equipment enclosures mounted directly to the pole. Any ground mounted 

equipment shall not create a safety or tripping hazard, shall ensure any 

walkways remain in compliance with all state and federal accessibility laws and 

shall be constructed in compliance with all Village right-of-way ordinances and 

design standards. 

 

(14) Screening: Additional landscaping and fencing shall be required to help mitigate 

the effects of any ground-mounted equipment not feasible to be located 

underground. This shall include screening all visual appearance of the 

equipment from roadways and pedestrian facilities. This screening may be used 

in conjunction with other stealth methods. This may be required by Village staff 

as part of any permit approval or by the Plan Commission and Village Board as 

required for any Site Plan, Special Use or Variation requests. 

 

(15) Burial or Removal of Utility Poles: If a utility pole with a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility is planned to be buried or removed and is no longer required for a utility 

or public purpose, then the Small Cell Wireless Facility and all associated 

equipment shall be removed by the carrier within ninety (90) days of notice 

from the Village or organization which owns/operates the utility pole. The Small 

Cell Wireless Facility may apply to be relocated to another nearby site in 

compliance with this ordinance. No Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be 

permitted to be placed on utility poles with active studies, plans or permits to be 

replaced or buried. 

 

(16) Illumination: Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall not be artificially illuminated 

or marked, except as required by law. 

 

(17) Signage: No signage or advertising shall be visible on any part of the Small Cell 

Wireless Facility, except as required by law. 

 

d. Approval 

 

(1) Small Cell Wireless Facilities shall be permitted uses when in compliance with 

Section III.W.5.a (Small Cell Wireless Facility Locations) of the Zoning 

Ordinance above. 
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(2) If a Small Cell Wireless Facility is proposed and not in compliance with the 

location requirements as outlined in Section III.W.5.a (Small Cell Wireless 

Facility Locations) of the Zoning Ordinance above, the Petitioner shall have an 

option to request a Special Use Permit with review by the Plan Commission and 

approval by the Village Board. Any Special Use for a Small Cell Wireless 

Facility request shall comply with the Standards for a Special Use as outlined in 

the Zoning Code and shall provide proof that a diligent effort has been made to 

locate the facility in accordance with the requirements and that due to valid 

considerations including physical constraints and economic or technological 

feasibility, no other appropriate location is available. 

 

(3) If located within a Village right-of-way, the Petitioner must complete a lease, 

master pole agreement or similar agreement with the Village prior to approval of 

the Special Use Permit. 

 

(4) The Petitioner must obtain a Small Cell Wireless Facility or similar building 

permit from the Community Development Department. 

 

6. Regulations for Distributed Antenna Systems (DAS) 

 

a. Location 

 

(1) All Distributed Antenna Systems must be installed on private property. 

 

(2) Exterior Antennas shall be located upon existing poles or structures. 

 

(3) Associated exterior equipment shall only be allowed in a rear yard or on the roof 

of a principal structure and shall not be located within a front yard or side yards. 

 

b. Conditions 

 

(1) Surface Area of Antennas: Each Antenna within a Distributed Antenna System 

shall not have a surface area of more than seven (7) square feet. The surface area 

shall be calculated by measuring all faces of the Antenna visible from the public 

right-of-way. 

 

(2) Height: 

 

i. The top of the highest point of the Antenna shall not extend beyond the 

height of the existing structure that the Antenna is mounted upon.  

 

ii. Associated equipment located on the roof of a principal structure shall not 

exceed ten feet (10’) in height. 

 

(3) Color:  
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i. A Distributed Antenna System, including the Antenna and all related 

equipment and appurtenances, shall be a color that blends with the 

surroundings of the structure on which it is mounted.  

 

ii. The use of reflective materials is prohibited.  

 

iii. Any wiring must be covered with an appropriate cover or cable shield. 

 

(4) Screening:  

 

i. The Distributed Antenna System shall be architecturally compatible with the 

proposed building as well as surrounding buildings and land uses or shall be 

otherwise integrated, through location and design, to blend in with the 

existing characteristics of the site. 

 

ii. All associated ground equipment shall be screened by a masonry enclosure 

at least six feet (6’) in height but no taller than eight feet (8’) in height. The 

enclosure shall have a security gate matching the structural integrity of the 

remainder of the enclosure. 

 

iii. All associated equipment located on the roof of a principal structure shall be 

screened from view from all adjacent public right-of-ways. 

 

iv. Landscaping is required around the ground equipment enclosure in 

accordance with the recommendation from the Village’s Landscape 

Architect or as required by the Village’s Landscape Ordinance, as amended 

from time to time. 

 

c. Approval 

 

(1) The Petitioner must obtain Site Plan Approval with review and approval by the 

Plan Commission. 

 

(2) The Distributed Antenna System is a permitted use if in compliance with all 

location requirements set forth in Section III.W.6. of the Zoning Code above. Any 

Distributed Antenna System not in compliance must obtain a Special Use Permit 

with review by the Plan Commission and approval by the Village Board. Any 

Special Use request for a Distributed Antenna System shall comply with the 

Standards for a Special Use as outlined in the Zoning Code and shall provide proof 

that a diligent effort has been made to locate the facility in accordance with the 

requirements and that due to valid considerations including physical constraints 

and economic or technological feasibility, no other appropriate option is available. 

 

(3) The Petitioner must obtain a Building Permit from the Community Development 

Department. 

 

X.  HOME OCCUPATIONS 
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Home occupations shall be subordinate to the principal use of a building as a residential 

dwelling, and shall conform to the following provisions:   

 

1. The primary use of the building shall be as a residential dwelling unit occupied day and 

night by the person(s) owning/operating the home occupation; 

 

2. The home occupation shall not employ any other person who is not a member of the 

family occupying the residential dwelling unit; 

 

3. On-site signs advertising the home occupation shall be prohibited; 

 

4. The home occupation shall not take place in any portion of any attached or detached 

garage or accessory structure; 

 

5. The home occupation shall not occupy more than twenty (20) percent of the gross floor 

area of the dwelling unit (excluding any garage or accessory structure).  Any area of the 

dwelling unit (excluding any garage or accessory structure) used for the storage of 

materials or goods used in conjunction with the home occupation shall be included in 

the calculation of floor area of the home occupation; 

 

6. The sale of goods or services from the dwelling unit shall be prohibited except by 

electronic means; 

 

7. The home occupation shall not result in the dwelling unit being visited by customers or 

clients, except by way of authorization as a Special Use by the Village Board, as well as 

the issuance of a Village Business License; 

 

8. The outdoor storage of goods or materials used in conjunction with the home 

occupation is prohibited; and 

 

9. The use or storage of hazardous materials in conjunction with the home occupation 

shall be prohibited. 
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SECTION VIII 

 

 OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING  

 

 

A. OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 

 

In all Zoning Districts, off-street parking requirements for the storage of motor vehicles for 

the use of occupants, employees, and patrons of the buildings hereafter erected, altered, or 

extended after the effective date of this Comprehensive Amendment, shall be provided as 

hereinafter prescribed. 

 

1. Existing Parking Facilities:  Off-street parking existing at the effective date of this 

Ordinance, which serves an existing building or use, shall not be reduced below, or if 

already less than, shall not be further reduced below the requirements for a similar new 

structure or use of that required under the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

2. Location:  All permitted and required accessory off-street parking spaces, open or 

enclosed, shall be located on the same lot as the use to which such spaces are accessory, 

except that spaces may be provided within a radius of three hundred (300) feet from the 

lot boundary on land which is in the same ownership as the use to which they are 

accessory, subject to deed restrictions binding the owner and his heirs, successors, and 

assigns to maintain the required number of spaces available throughout the life of such 

use. 

 

3. Joint Parking Facilities:  Two or more buildings or uses may collectively provide the 

required off-street parking; however, the number of parking spaces shall not be less than 

the sum of the requirements for the various individual uses computed separately. 

 

4. Computation:  When determination of the number of off-street parking spaces required 

by this Ordinance results in a requirement of a fractional space, any fraction of one-half 

(1/2) or less may be disregarded while a fraction in excess of one-half (1/2) shall be 

counted as one (1) parking space. 

 

5. Size:  Each off-street parking space shall have a width of at least nine (9) feet and a 

length of at least eighteen-and-one-half (18 1/2) feet, exclusive of access drives or aisles, 

ramps, columns, or work areas.  Such space shall have a vertical clearance of at least 

seven (7) feet. 

 

6. Access:  There shall be adequate provision for ingress and egress to all parking spaces.  

All off-street parking facilities shall be designed with appropriate means of vehicular 

access to a street or alley in a manner which will least interfere with traffic movements.  

No driveway across public property or curb cut shall exceed a width of thirty (30) feet. 
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7. In Yards:  No vehicle shall be parked in any front yard except upon a regularly 

constructed driveway.  Parking lots may be allowed in the front yard if authorized by the 

Zoning Board of Appeals and provided that the parking is in accord with all other 

Ordinance provisions.  Except in the R-4 District, a parking space that is open to the sky 

may be located in a required side or rear yard, but shall not be closer than five (5) feet to 

a lot line. 

 

8. Parking for Places of Worship:  The number of required off-street parking spaces may 

be eliminated or reduced if there exists, within five hundred (500) feet of the place of 

worship, public or private parking lots containing a sufficient number of off-street 

parking spaces to satisfy the requirements of the following table.  The place of worship 

must provide the difference if the number of parking spaces in the private or public lots is 

below the number required.  Any spaces provided in public or private lots must be shown 

to be available for worshipers on the day or days of greatest use.  

 

9. Uses Not Specifically Mentioned:  For those uses not specifically mentioned in the 

following table, the requirements for off-street parking facilities shall be in accordance 

with requirements designated by the Plan Commission, and in the case of Special Uses, 

as recommended by the Zoning Board of Appeals and required by the Village Board of 

Trustees. 

 

10. Number of Parking Spaces Required:  The amount of required off-street parking 

spaces for new uses or buildings, additions thereto, and additions to existing buildings, 

shall be determined in accordance with the following table: 

 

 

REQUIRED PARKING SPACES 

 

   Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

Auditorium, Assembly Halls, Theatres One (1) space for each four (4) seats. 

Automobile Service Stations 
One (1) space for each employee, plus three (3) spaces for each grease 
rack or service stall. 

Banks and Other Financial Institutions 
One (1) space for each two hundred (200) square feet of floor area, 
plus one (1) space for each two (2) employees.  Drive-in establishments 
shall provide six (6) stacking spaces per teller or customer service area. 

Banquet Facilities in B-1 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1.5 Spaces/100 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in B-4 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/100 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in ORI & M-1 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/200 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in B-2 & B-3 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/200 sq.ft. *if shared parking opportunities 

Banquet Facilities in B-2 & B-3 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/100 sq.ft. *if no shared parking opportunities 

Barber Shops Three (3) spaces for each barber chair. 

Beauty Parlors One (1) space for each fifty (50) square feet of floor area. 

Bowling Area 
Five (5) spaces for each bowling lane, plus required parking space for 
any bar, restaurant, or affiliated use. 
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Churches and Places of Worship 
One (1) space for each four (4) seats, or for each ninety (90) lineal 
inches of seating space in the main place of assembly. 

Dwellings, Single-Family Three (3) spaces for each dwelling unit. 

Dwellings, Two-Family and Multiple-Family Two-and-one-half (2 1/2) spaces for each dwelling unit. 

Drive-In Eating Establishments 
One (1) space for each thirty (30) square feet of gross floor area, but 
not less than twenty (20) spaces. 

Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

Eating or Drinking Place, Bar, Cocktail Lounge, or 
Indoor Entertainment 

One (1) space for each three (3) seats, plus one (1) space for each 
employee. 

Fast Food, Carry-Out Minimum of five (5) spaces plus one (1) space for each employee. 

Funeral Homes 
Twenty (20) spaces for each chapel, plus one (1) space for each funeral 
vehicle kept on the premises. 

Furniture and Appliance Stores One (1) space for each six hundred (600) square feet of floor area. 

Hospitals 
One (1) space for each two (2) beds, plus one (1) space for each vehicle 
used in the conduct of the enterprise. 

Industrial Establishments, Including Manufacturing 
and Assembly Plants 

One (1) space for each two (2) employees, plus one (1) space for each 
vehicle used in the conduct of the enterprise. 

Medical or Dental Office 
Two (2) spaces for each office, examination room, or treatment room, 
plus one (1) space for each employee. 

Motels, Hotels, and Inns 
One (1) space for each unit, and one (1) space for each employee, plus 
required parking spaces for bar, restaurant, or affiliated use. 

Motor Vehicle and Machinery Sales 
One (1) space for each six hundred (600) square feet of floor area plus 
one (1) space for each employee. 

Senior Housing:  Independent Living Units 

One-and-one-half (1 1/2) spaces per unit.  For the purposes of this 
requirement, independent living units shall include, but not limited to, 
dwelling units defined under this Code as independent living units, 
congregate housing units, and senior apartments. 

Senior Housing:  Assisted Living Units 
One-half (1/2) space per dwelling unit.  For the purposes of this 
requirement, assisted living units shall include, but not limited to, 
dwelling units contained in nursing homes as defined under this Code. 

Senior Housing:  Mixed Housing Units 

Mixed housing units providing a mixture of independent living units and 
assisted living units, including, but not limited to, units contained in 
facilities defined under this Code as continuing car retirement 
communities and rest homes:  one-and-one-half (1 1/2) spaces per 
independent living dwelling it and one-half (1/2) space per assisted 
living dwelling unit. 

Office/Business and Professional 
One (1) space for each two hundred fifty (250) square feet of floor 
space. 

Private Clubs and Lodges 
One (1) space for each lodging room and one (1) space for each three 
(3) seats of designed seating capacity. 

Retail Store or Personal Service Establishments 

One (1) space for each one hundred fifty (150) square feet of gross 
leasable floor area, or when located within a planned shopping area, six 
and one-half (6 1/2) spaces per one thousand (1,000) square feet of 
gross leasable floor area. 

Warehouse and Storage Buildings 
One (1) space for each two (2) employees, plus one (1) space for each 
vehicle used in the conduct of the business. 

 

 

 

 

B. OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS 
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There shall be provided and maintained adequate off-street loading and unloading facilities in 

connection with any structure or use which is to be erected or substantially altered and which 

requires the receipt or distribution of material or merchandise by truck or similar vehicle.  

Said off-street loading shall be provided in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

1. Size and Location:  Each loading space shall be not less than twelve (12) feet in width, 

thirty-five (35) feet in length, and have a minimum vertical clearance of fourteen (14) 

feet, and it shall be so located as to minimize traffic congestion.  Off-street loading space 

may occupy all or any part of any required yard; however, no portion of a vehicle shall 

project into a street, sidewalk, or alley while being loaded or unloaded; 

 

2. Utilization:  Space allocated to any off-street loading spaces shall not, while so allocated, 

be used to satisfy the space requirements for any off-street parking facilities or portions 

thereof.  An area adequate for maneuvering, ingress and egress, shall be provided in 

addition to the required loading space; and 

 

3. Required Number of Off-Street Loading Spaces:  The minimum amount of off-street 

loading space shall be provided, according to the following table: 

 

 

Square Feet of Gross Floor Area Required Number of Spaces 

                          Up to 20,000 1 

                   20,001 to 40,000 2 

                 40,0001 to 70,000 3 

                 70,001 to 120,000 4 

120,001 to 200,000 5 

     For each additional one hundred thousand (100,000) square feet, 
      one (1) additional loading space is required. 
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           Table 2. Parking Lot Dimension Guidelines ** 

 

Sw 

Basic Stall Width (feet) 

WP 

Stall Width Parallel 

to Aisle 

VPw 

Stall Depth to 

Wall (feet) 

VPi 

Stall Depth to 

Interlock (feet) 

AW 

Aisle Width (feet) 

Two-Way Aisle -- 90 Degrees 

9.00 9.00 18.5 18.5 26 

Two-Way Aisle -- 60 Degrees     

9.00 10.4 19.0 17.5 26 

One-Way Aisle -- 75 Degrees 

9.00 9.3 19.5 18.5 22 

One-Way Aisle -- 60 Degrees 

9.00 10.4 19.0 17.5 18 

One-Way Aisle -- 45 Degrees 

9.00 12.7 17.5 15.5 15 

 

** Note: See Table 1 for description of Elements 
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C. DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF PARKING AND LOADING AREAS 

 

Every parcel of land hereafter used as a public or private parking area for five (5) or more 

cars, or as a loading area, including a commercial parking lot, shall be developed and 

maintained in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

1. Screening and Landscaping:  Off-street parking areas for five (5) or more vehicles, 

and off-street loading areas, shall be effectively screened on each side adjoining or 

fronting on property situated in a residential district, or any institutional premises by a 

fence and/or densely planted compact hedge, not less than four (4) feet nor more than 

seven (7) feet in height; 

 

2. Minimum Distances and Setbacks:  No off-street loading area or parking area, or part 

thereof, for five (5) or more vehicles, shall be closer than ten (10) feet to any dwelling, 

school, hospital, or other institution for human care located on an adjoining lot, or five 

(5) feet from any lot line; 

 

3. Surfacing:  Any off-street parking, or off-street loading area, shall be surfaced with an 

impervious surface.  All areas shall be marked so as to provide for the orderly and safe 

loading, parking, and storage of self-propelled vehicles; 

 

4. Lighting:  Lighting used to illuminate any off-street parking or loading area, shall be so 

arranged as to reflect the light away from adjoining premises.  Off-street parking 

facilities for multiple-family dwellings shall be adequately lighted; 

 

5. Drainage:  Any off-street parking area and off-street loading area shall be graded and 

drained so as to dispose of all surface water without detriment to surrounding uses; and 

 

6. Repair and Service:  No storage of any kind, nor any repair, dismantling, or servicing 

of any vehicles, equipment, materials, or supplies, shall be permitted within any 

required off-street parking and/or loading space. 

 

 

D. ADDITIONAL REGULATIONS 

 

1. Submission of Plot Plan:  Any application for a Building Permit, or Certificate of 

Occupancy where no Building Permit is required, shall include therewith a plot plan, 

drawn to scale and fully dimensioned, showing all parking and loading facilities in 

compliance with this Ordinance. 

 

2. Control of Off-Site Parking Facilities:  In cases where parking facilities are permitted 

on a lot, other than the lot on which the building or use served is located, they shall be 

and remain in the same possession or ownership as the zoning lot occupied by the 

building or use to which the parking facilities are accessory.  No such off-street parking 

facilities shall be authorized, and no occupancy permit shall be issued, until and unless 

the Zoning Board of Appeals has reviewed the plans, heard the applicant, and made 
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findings that the common ownership or possession of the zoning lot and the site of the 

parking facilities are reasonably certain to continue, and that the off-site parking 

facilities are reasonably certain to continue, and that the off-site parking facilities will 

be maintained at all times during the life of the proposed building or use. 
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SECTION VIII 

 

 OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING  

 

 

A. OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 

 

In all Zoning Districts, off-street parking requirements for the storage of motor vehicles for 

the use of occupants, employees, and patrons of the buildings hereafter erected, altered, or 

extended after the effective date of this Comprehensive Amendment, shall be provided as 

hereinafter prescribed. 

 

1. Existing Parking Facilities:  Off-street parking existing at the effective date of this 

Ordinance, which serves an existing building or use, shall not be reduced below, or if 

already less than, shall not be further reduced below the requirements for a similar new 

structure or use of that required under the provisions of this Ordinance. 

 

2. Location:  All permitted and required accessory off-street parking spaces, open or 

enclosed, shall be located on the same lot as the use to which such spaces are accessory, 

except that spaces may be provided within a radius of three hundred (300) feet from the 

lot boundary on land which is in the same ownership as the use to which they are 

accessory, subject to deed restrictions binding the owner and his heirs, successors, and 

assigns to maintain the required number of spaces available throughout the life of such 

use. 

 

3. Joint Parking Facilities:  Two or more buildings or uses may collectively provide the 

required off-street parking; however, the number of parking spaces shall not be less than 

the sum of the requirements for the various individual uses computed separately. 

 

4. Computation:  When determination of the number of off-street parking spaces required 

by this Ordinance results in a requirement of a fractional space, any fraction of one-half 

(1/2) or less may be disregarded while a fraction in excess of one-half (1/2) shall be 

counted as one (1) parking space. 

 

5. Size:  Each off-street parking space shall have a width of at least nine (9) feet and a 

length of at least eighteen-and-one-half (18 1/2) feet, exclusive of access drives or aisles, 

ramps, columns, or work areas.  Such space shall have a vertical clearance of at least 

seven (7) feet. 

 

6. Access:  There shall be adequate provision for ingress and egress to all parking spaces.  

All off-street parking facilities shall be designed with appropriate means of vehicular 

access to a street or alley in a manner which will least interfere with traffic movements.  

No driveway across public property or curb cut shall exceed a width of thirty (30) feet. 
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7. In Yards:  No vehicle shall be parked in any front yard except upon a regularly 

constructed driveway.  Parking lots may be allowed in the front yard if authorized by the 

Zoning Board of Appeals and provided that the parking is in accord with all other 

Ordinance provisions.  Except in the R-4 District, a parking space that is open to the sky 

may be located in a required side or rear yard, but shall not be closer than five (5) feet to 

a lot line. 

 

8. Parking for Places of Worship:  The number of required off-street parking spaces may 

be eliminated or reduced if there exists, within five hundred (500) feet of the place of 

worship, public or private parking lots containing a sufficient number of off-street 

parking spaces to satisfy the requirements of the following table.  The place of worship 

must provide the difference if the number of parking spaces in the private or public lots is 

below the number required.  Any spaces provided in public or private lots must be shown 

to be available for worshipers on the day or days of greatest use.  

 

9. Uses Not Specifically Mentioned:  For those uses not specifically mentioned in the 

following table, the requirements for off-street parking facilities shall be in accordance 

with requirements designated by the Plan Commission, and in the case of Special Uses, 

as recommended by the Zoning Board of Appeals and required by the Village Board of 

Trustees. 

 

10. Number of Parking Spaces Required:  The amount of required off-street parking 

spaces for new uses or buildings, additions thereto, and additions to existing buildings, 

shall be determined in accordance with the following table: 

 

 

REQUIRED PARKING SPACES 

 

   Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

Auditorium, Assembly Halls, Theatres One (1) space for each four (4) seats. 

Automobile Service Stations 
One (1) space for each employee, plus three (3) spaces for each grease 
rack or service stall. 

Banks and Other Financial Institutions 
One (1) space for each two hundred (200) square feet of floor area, 
plus one (1) space for each two (2) employees.  Drive-in establishments 
shall provide six (6) stacking spaces per teller or customer service area. 

Banquet Facilities in B-1 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1.5 Spaces/100 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in B-4 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/100 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in ORI & M-1 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/200 sq.ft. * 

Banquet Facilities in B-2 & B-3 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/200 sq.ft. *if shared parking opportunities 

Banquet Facilities in B-2 & B-3 (Ord. No. 19-O-048) 1 space/100 sq.ft. *if no shared parking opportunities 

Barber Shops Three (3) spaces for each barber chair. 

Beauty Parlors One (1) space for each fifty (50) square feet of floor area. 

Bowling Area 
Five (5) spaces for each bowling lane, plus required parking space for 
any bar, restaurant, or affiliated use. 
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Churches and Places of Worship 
One (1) space for each four (4) seats, or for each ninety (90) lineal 
inches of seating space in the main place of assembly. 

Dwellings, Single-Family Three (3) spaces for each dwelling unit. 

Dwellings, Two-Family and Multiple-Family Two-and-one-half (2 1/2) spaces for each dwelling unit. 

Drive-In Eating Establishments 
One (1) space for each thirty (30) square feet of gross floor area, but 
not less than twenty (20) spaces. 

Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

Eating or Drinking Place, Bar, Cocktail Lounge, or 
Indoor Entertainment 

One (1) space for each three (3) seats, plus one (1) space for each 
employee. 

Fast Food, Carry-Out Minimum of five (5) spaces plus one (1) space for each employee. 

Funeral Homes 
Twenty (20) spaces for each chapel, plus one (1) space for each funeral 
vehicle kept on the premises. 

Furniture and Appliance Stores One (1) space for each six hundred (600) square feet of floor area. 

Hospitals 
One (1) space for each two (2) beds, plus one (1) space for each vehicle 
used in the conduct of the enterprise. 

Industrial Establishments, Including Manufacturing 
and Assembly Plants 

One (1) space for each two (2) employees, plus one (1) space for each 
vehicle used in the conduct of the enterprise. 

Medical or Dental Office 
Two (2) spaces for each office, examination room, or treatment room, 
plus one (1) space for each employee. 

Motels, Hotels, and Inns 
One (1) space for each unit, and one (1) space for each employee, plus 
required parking spaces for bar, restaurant, or affiliated use. 

Motor Vehicle and Machinery Sales 
One (1) space for each six hundred (600) square feet of floor area plus 
one (1) space for each employee. 

Senior Housing:  Independent Living Units 

One-and-one-half (1 1/2) spaces per unit.  For the purposes of this 
requirement, independent living units shall include, but not limited to, 
dwelling units defined under this Code as independent living units, 
congregate housing units, and senior apartments. 

Senior Housing:  Assisted Living Units 
One-half (1/2) space per dwelling unit.  For the purposes of this 
requirement, assisted living units shall include, but not limited to, 
dwelling units contained in nursing homes as defined under this Code. 

Senior Housing:  Mixed Housing Units 

Mixed housing units providing a mixture of independent living units and 
assisted living units, including, but not limited to, units contained in 
facilities defined under this Code as continuing car retirement 
communities and rest homes:  one-and-one-half (1 1/2) spaces per 
independent living dwelling it and one-half (1/2) space per assisted 
living dwelling unit. 

Office/Business and Professional 
One (1) space for each two hundred fifty (250) square feet of floor 
space. 

Private Clubs and Lodges 
One (1) space for each lodging room and one (1) space for each three 
(3) seats of designed seating capacity. 

Retail Store or Personal Service Establishments 

One (1) space for each one hundred fifty (150) square feet of gross 
leasable floor area, or when located within a planned shopping area, six 
and one-half (6 1/2) spaces per one thousand (1,000) square feet of 
gross leasable floor area. 

Warehouse and Storage Buildings 
One (1) space for each two (2) employees, plus one (1) space for each 
vehicle used in the conduct of the business. 

 

11. Accessible Parking: Parking spaces shall comply with the current edition of the Illinois 

Accessibility Code. Any parking lot being repaved, seal coated, or re-striped shall comply with 

the current edition of the Illinois Accessibility Code. 
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B. OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS 

 

There shall be provided and maintained adequate off-street loading and unloading facilities in 

connection with any structure or use which is to be erected or substantially altered and which 

requires the receipt or distribution of material or merchandise by truck or similar vehicle.  

Said off-street loading shall be provided in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

1. Size and Location:  Each loading space shall be not less than twelve (12) feet in width, 

thirty-five (35) feet in length, and have a minimum vertical clearance of fourteen (14) 

feet, and it shall be so located as to minimize traffic congestion.  Off-street loading space 

may occupy all or any part of any required yard; however, no portion of a vehicle shall 

project into a street, sidewalk, or alley while being loaded or unloaded; 

 

2. Utilization:  Space allocated to any off-street loading spaces shall not, while so allocated, 

be used to satisfy the space requirements for any off-street parking facilities or portions 

thereof.  An area adequate for maneuvering, ingress and egress, shall be provided in 

addition to the required loading space; and 

 

3. Required Number of Off-Street Loading Spaces:  The minimum amount of off-street 

loading space shall be provided, according to the following table: 

 

 

Square Feet of Gross Floor Area Required Number of Spaces 

                          Up to 20,000 1 

                   20,001 to 40,000 2 

                 40,0001 to 70,000 3 

                 70,001 to 120,000 4 

120,001 to 200,000 5 

     For each additional one hundred thousand (100,000) square feet, 
      one (1) additional loading space is required. 
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           Table 2. Parking Lot Dimension Guidelines ** 

 

Sw 

Basic Stall Width (feet) 

WP 

Stall Width Parallel 

to Aisle 

VPw 

Stall Depth to 

Wall (feet) 

VPi 

Stall Depth to 

Interlock (feet) 

AW 

Aisle Width (feet) 

Two-Way Aisle -- 90 Degrees 

9.00 9.00 18.5 18.5 26 

Two-Way Aisle -- 60 Degrees     

9.00 10.4 19.0 17.5 26 

One-Way Aisle -- 75 Degrees 

9.00 9.3 19.5 18.5 22 

One-Way Aisle -- 60 Degrees 

9.00 10.4 19.0 17.5 18 

One-Way Aisle -- 45 Degrees 

9.00 12.7 17.5 15.5 15 

 

** Note: See Table 1 for description of Elements 
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C. DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF PARKING AND LOADING AREAS 

 

Every parcel of land hereafter used as a public or private parking area for five (5) or more 

cars, or as a loading area, including a commercial parking lot, shall be developed and 

maintained in accordance with the following requirements: 

 

1. Screening and Landscaping:  Off-street parking areas for five (5) or more vehicles, 

and off-street loading areas, shall be effectively screened on each side adjoining or 

fronting on property situated in a residential district, or any institutional premises by a 

fence and/or densely planted compact hedge, not less than four (4) feet nor more than 

seven (7) feet in height; 

 

2. Minimum Distances and Setbacks:  No off-street loading area or parking area, or part 

thereof, for five (5) or more vehicles, shall be closer than ten (10) feet to any dwelling, 

school, hospital, or other institution for human care located on an adjoining lot, or five 

(5) feet from any lot line; 

 

3. Surfacing:  Any off-street parking, or off-street loading area, shall be surfaced with an 

impervious surface.  All areas shall be marked so as to provide for the orderly and safe 

loading, parking, and storage of self-propelled vehicles; 

 

4. Lighting:  Lighting used to illuminate any off-street parking or loading area, shall be so 

arranged as to reflect the light away from adjoining premises.  Off-street parking 

facilities for multiple-family dwellings shall be adequately lighted; 

 

5. Drainage:  Any off-street parking area and off-street loading area shall be graded and 

drained so as to dispose of all surface water without detriment to surrounding uses; and 

 

6. Repair and Service:  No storage of any kind, nor any repair, dismantling, or servicing 

of any vehicles, equipment, materials, or supplies, shall be permitted within any 

required off-street parking and/or loading space. 

 

 

D. ADDITIONAL REGULATIONS 

 

1. Submission of Plot Plan:  Any application for a Building Permit, or Certificate of 

Occupancy where no Building Permit is required, shall include therewith a plot plan, 

drawn to scale and fully dimensioned, showing all parking and loading facilities in 

compliance with this Ordinance. 

 

2. Control of Off-Site Parking Facilities:  In cases where parking facilities are permitted 

on a lot, other than the lot on which the building or use served is located, they shall be 

and remain in the same possession or ownership as the zoning lot occupied by the 

building or use to which the parking facilities are accessory.  No such off-street parking 

facilities shall be authorized, and no occupancy permit shall be issued, until and unless 

the Zoning Board of Appeals has reviewed the plans, heard the applicant, and made 
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findings that the common ownership or possession of the zoning lot and the site of the 

parking facilities are reasonably certain to continue, and that the off-site parking 

facilities are reasonably certain to continue, and that the off-site parking facilities will 

be maintained at all times during the life of the proposed building or use. 

 

3.  Approved Surfaces and No Loose Stone: All driveways, aprons, and parking areas in 

all zoning districts shall be paved with an  impervious surface such as concrete, asphalt 

paving, or with permeable pavers designed for acceptable vehicle usage when approved 

by the Village Engineer and Community Development Director.  Loose stone is a 

prohibited surface for parking or drive aisle areas. Any gravel or loose stone areas shall 

be appropriately paved per the approved plans or removed and restored with top soil 

and turf. 
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